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OUR VISION
WE PROVIDE A COMPLETE 
FINANCIAL MARKET 
INFRASTRUCTURE – UNIQUELY 
POSITIONED TO OPERATE 
EFFICIENT TRADING PLATFORMS, 
MANAGE SOUND SETTLEMENT 
HIGHWAYS AND RENDER 
ESSENTIAL SECURITIES SERVICES, 
CREATING VALUE FOR OUR 
STAKEHOLDERS AND ABIDING 
BY THE HIGHEST STANDARDS OF 
MARKET GOVERNANCE AND 
INTERNATIONAL BEST PRACTICE.
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OUR MISSION
We understand the challenges that come with our Vision but we remain steadfast in 

our conviction of success because:

• We empower investors with a holistic array of products and services that 

address varied needs, institutionalize price discovery, cultivate liquidity and 

create market depth.

• We create synergies across diff erent fi nancial industries so that issuers can 

raise capital best suited to their requirements under the most competitive and 

equitable terms.

• We stand for a regulatory environment that nurtures the creativity of 

intermediaries within a dynamic, fair and responsible framework for both risk 

management and market governance.

• We integrate our markets, both across the diff erent fi nancial sectors in the 

Philippines and with the regional and global markets, to provide investors, 

issuers and intermediaries the broadest possible platform to address their 

fi nancial objectives.

• We espouse learning programs that heighten awareness of the products and 

services available in the market as well as the issues that aff ect investment 

choices while harnessing the technical capabilities of market professionals who 

serve the public.

• We take our corporate social responsibilities seriously so that the general public 

may benefi t from the realization of our Vision.
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In the olden days of open land and unbridled opportunities, the early communities 
organized themselves within the security of a walled city. Prominent in these walled 
structures were the towers which both served to link the walls heading in diff erent 
directions and stood over the four corners of the community.

The PDS Group Tower refl ects the same qualities of the towers of the old. It denotes 
strength in foundation and is an anchor of our nascent organized capital market. It 
provides the venue not only for overseeing the activities in the organized market but 
also serves as the vantage point for the untapped opportunities that lie beyond.

Unlike the towers of old, however, the PDS Group Tower is neither attached to 
any absolute structure nor set up specifi cally for a particular interest. This refl ects 
the independence of our critical thinking and our ability to make decisive actions, 
serving no particular business group but the collective market at large. It reinforces 
the integrity of our initiatives as we protect the well-being of the investor fi rst and 
foremost while remaining fully cognizant of the interests of all other stakeholders.

Our desire to be transparent is also explicit in the design of the PDS Group Tower. 
This transparency, however, does not compromise the strength that we bring 
to the market as we continually create value for our stakeholders. Neither does 
this erode our creativity to structure solutions for our current markets and for the 
evolving opportunities that present themselves. These we do by maintaining our 
strategic focus and preserving the integrity of our position as the vanguard of market 
governance.

Strength in foundation, anchor organized markets, vantage point for untapped opportunities, independence in critical thinking, 
decisive action, integrity of initiatives, transparency.

All these traits are fully subsumed within the PDS Group Tower.

THE 
PDS GROUP TOWER

The PDS Group Tower reinforces 
the integrity of our initiatives as 

we protect the well-being 
of the investor fi rst and 
foremost while remaining fully 
cognizant of the interests of all 
other stakeholders.
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The Philippine Dealing System Group of Companies (PDS Group) is a private enterprise borne out of a developmental vision to 
reshape the Philippine fi nancial market architecture. The PDS Group hosts a fi xed income market that seamlessly links pre-trade 
to post-trade activities in the securities market to meet the needs of  investors, both institutional and retail, in an environment 
that seeks to align itself with international standards. It is composed of the Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp., the holding 
company, and three operating subsidiaries namely the Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. (PDEx), the Philippine Securities 
Settlement Corp. (PSSC), and the Philippine Depository & Trust Corp. (PDTC).
 
The Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. (PDEx), is the trading arm of the PDS Group, providing a centralized electronic 
infrastructure for  trading fi xed-income securities to deliver price discovery, transparency and investor protection. It acquired its 
exchange registration from the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) in April 2004 and was formally granted registration as 
a Self-Regulatory Organization (SRO) in the Inter-Dealer Market in July 2006.
 
In November 2007, the SEC expanded the SRO registration of PDEx to cover the Inter-Professional Market and in February 2008, 
its SRO authority was expanded to cover its members in all markets within the PDEx Trading Systems, including the public market. 
PDEx also provides program administration for both the Securities Lending Transaction Program (SLT) and the Inter-Professional 
Repurchase Agreement Program (IP Repo). Furthermore, PDEx provides the electronic platforms for the SLT program and IP Repo 
program, designed to boost market liquidity on the securities side and cash side for a deeper secondary market for fi xed-income 
securities. As a further support to the Philippine fi nancial system, PDEx also provides the trading system for foreign exchange 
transaction in the spot market.

The Philippine Depository & Trust Corp., (PDTC) provides post trade securities services through the operations of the central 
depository. The operations of the central depository make possible the paperless securities environment through its electronic 
book-entry system, incorporating greater effi  ciency and security in the settlement infrastructure for both the equities and debt 
markets. PDTC was likewise granted trust and quasi-banking licenses from the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) to perform 
its custody function, and registry license from the SEC. Aside from its core services, PDTC also off ers Collateral Management, 
Lending Agency, and Lending Pool services to support the submarkets developed and administrated by PDEx.
 
The Philippine Securities Settlement Corp. (PSSC) operates the settlement platform for interbank USD transfers and USD-PHP 
transactions. It also provides the technology expertise and operates the entire market infrastructure of the PDS Group.

The Philippine Dealing System 
Group of Companies (PDS 

Group) is a private enterprise 
borne out of a developmental 

vision to reshape the 
Philippine fi nancial market 

architecture. 

 
CORPORATE 
PROFILE
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MILESTONES

1ST SEMESTER 2002: United States Agency for International Development (USAID) off ers to enter into a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with Bankers’ Association of the Philippines (BAP) to develop the 
capital market through the creation of the Fixed Income Exchange. A MoU signing ceremony is held at the 
BAP offi  ce as witnessed by media, offi  cials from Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), USAID, BAP 
and affi  liated institutions. Incoming BAP President Cesar Virata signs on behalf of the BAP while USAID 

is represented by Mission Director Patricia Buckles. After a short BAP presentation on the issues & plans for the exchange, MD 
Buckles gives her remarks on why USAID is fi rmly behind the initiative.

March 2002: SEC granted the Philippine Central Depository (PCD) permanent license on equities depository and provisional 
license for debt securities.

April 2002: BAP Consulting, Inc. is incorporated and is eventually renamed Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. (PDS Group).

2002

June 2003: The Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corporation (PDEx) is incorporated.

September 2003: In order to attune the organization to the changing fi nancial market environment and to 
refl ect the innovations that are to be introduced to its services, the Philippine Central Depository (PCD) is 
“folded” into the PDS Holdings Corp. and is restructured into two corporations; the Philippine Depository & 

Trust Corp. (PDTC) which provides depository, custody and registry services and the Phlippine Securities Settlement Corp. (PSSC) 
which provides securities clearing & settlement services.

November 2003: Signing of Payment vs. Payment Memorandum of Agreement (MoA) amongst the Banko Sentral ng Pilipinas 
(BSP), BAP, Citibank and PCD (now as PSSC).

2003

April 2004: PDEx receives its license from the SEC to operate as an exchange.

September 2004: PDTC is granted a Permit to Operate for Registry; on the same month it signs-up the fi rst 
registry business for AC Bonds.

October 2004: PDTC is granted a Permit to Operate to perform trust and quasi-banking functions and accreditation as securities 
Custodian and securities Registrar.

2004
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JANUARY 2005: The eff ectivity date of Circular 392 is fi nally set by BSP requiring the use of a third party 
Custodian for securities.

March 2005: The Inter-Dealer Negotiated platform of PDEx is launched in simple ceremonies with 30 
Trading Participants in the fi nancial community in attendance. BSP Gov. Rafael B. Buenaventura and SEC 

Chairperson Fe B. Barin deliver their congratulatory remarks and support for the Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. (PDEx). 
National Treasurer Omar Cruz also extends BTr’s support in addition to reading the remarks of DOF (Department of Finance) 
Secretary Cesar Purisima. The symbolic fi rst 2 trades are executed on the Fixed Income Traders Workstation (FITW) -- the front 
end system of the X-Stream trading engine were between Banco De Oro Bank and Equitable PCI Bank, and Bank of the Philippine 
Islands and Equitable PCI Bank are witnessed by the market.

December 2005: Launch of Inter-Dealer Order Driven System and the signing of the MoA between PDS Group and the Bureau 
of the Treasury (BTr) to pave way for a connectivity to the Government Securities (GS) Registry, the Registry of Scriples Securities 
(RoSS).

2005

January 2006: A Memorandum of Agreement (MoA) is signed between the BTr and PDTC as Custodian 
paving the way for the opening of the PDTC Custody Account in RoSS. 

July 2006 
• A MoA is signed between the BTr, PSSC and PDEx for the settlement of PDEx trades via Straight Through Processing (STP) 

to the Registry of Scripless Securities (RoSS) PhilPaSS Delivery vs. Payment (DvP) System.
• The SEC approves PDEx’ application to act as a Self-Regulatory Organization (SRO) for the Inter-Dealer Market.
• First Equity issue and fi rst dematerialized issue in the equity market: Manulife Financial Inc.

September 2006: 
• Clearing authority of PDEx for its Inter-Dealer market is approved by the SEC
• PDEx and Reuters enter into an exclusive distribution Agreement of PDEx data.
• Straight Through Processing facility for PDEx Trades is launched.

November 2006: The PDEx Foreign Exchange Trading platform, together with 31 bank participants, is launched.

December 2006:
• Obtains endorsement from the PSE Market Integrity Board to the PSE-Member brokers of the Name-on-Central Depository 

(NoCD) structure for the equities market.
• Book-entry Holdings: End of year market value of holdings in the Depository amounts to Php990.38Bn, a 79.6% increase 

from 2005, Book-entry System Market Value (BES MV) hits Php1 Trillion
• PDEx Securities Lending Transactions Program (SLT): SEC grants approval of the PDEx SLT Program Rules

2006
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MILESTONES

March 2007: 
• PDEx interface to Reuters goes live on March 19, 2007 enabling real-

time global publication of PDEx trades over the Reuters network
• PDEx launches the Philippine Dealing System Treasury (PDST) Fixing 

and Reference Rates as the offi  cial Philippine interest rate benchmarks.
• PDTC obtains a Lending Agency License from the SEC for Securities 

Lending/Borrowing transactions.

April 2007: 
• PDTC is assigned as the Registrar for the fi rst asset backed security issued under R.A. 9267 (The 

Securitization Act of 2004) - The Php 1.6Bn Special Purpose Trust Land Transportation Offi  ce - Information 
Technology Bond (SPT LTO - IT ABS)

• Registry Direct Supplemental Agreement is signed between the BTr and the PDS Group, recognizing the 
RoSS Front-End-System developed by PDS called the Registry Direct Front End System.

May 2007: The BSP issues its no objection letter, allowing its regulated entities to participate in the Securities 
Lending Transactions (SLT) Program of PDEx.

July 2007: Launch of Registry Direct which is a secure web-based delivery solution that allows accountholders 
to access and manage their registry account with the Bureau of Treasury’s RoSS System.

August 2007:
• A Memorandum of Agreement amongst the BSP, PDS Group and BAP, on behalf of its member banks, is 

signed interconnecting PDS Settlement Highway and BAP PhilPaSS. The interconnection seeks to reduce 
systematic risks in the fi nancial market by making real-time payments and fund transfers accessible to non-
banks and the public.

• SEC approves the rules governing the PDEx Inter Professional Repurchase Agreement Program (Repo).

September 2007: Year to date trading of Government Securities in (GS) in PDEx reaches the PhP 1 Trillion mark.

October 2007: 
• Safekept assets under PDTC (depository, registry and custody) reach the PhP 1.5 Trillion level.
• The Philippine Stock Exchange’s (PSE) Php 70M additional investment to PDS Holdings Corp. is formalized 

with its commitment to maintain a 20% stake in PDS as a strategic shareholder.

November 2007: 
• The maiden enrolment of a corporate bond - the Ayala Corp. Fixed Rate Bonds Due 2012 - in the PDEx 

Trading System takes place.
• The SEC with the participation of PDEx, sponsors a series of symposia to orient traders and salesmen on the 

SEC OTC (Over-the-Counter) Rules and to serve as provisional salesman licensing. 

December 2007:
• Level of PDEx trading volume reaches Php 1.6 Trillion for the year.
• The Singapore Exchange Ltd. (SGX) signs an agreement for a 20% stake in PDS as a strategic shareholder.
• Securities managed under PDTC reaches the 1.5 Trillion level in end-2007.

2007
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January 2008 
•Metrobank signs up to be the fi rst cash settlement bank for all PDS 

Group products.
• The BSP offi  cially expresses that it interposes no objection to the 

participation of its regulated entities in the PDEx Inter-Professional 
Repurchase Agreement (Repo) Program.

• The SEC authorizes PDEx to act as Self-Regulatory Organization (SRO) 
for its members in all markets, including OTC, within the PDEx Trading 
System and for all transactions allowed under PDEx Rules. 

• The SEC approves PDEx as the OTC Operator.
• The SEC approves PDEx to operate the Central Trade Reporting 

System (CTRS) for the fi xed income market

February 2008 
• The PDEx Rules was expanded to govern the public market.
• The BSP confi rms that delivery of securities to PDTC, as Depository, is compliant with the requirements of 

securities delivery under the provisions of Circular No. 392.
• Launch of Expanded Delivery-versus-Payment (eDvP) and eClearSettle (eCS) for Fixed Income Settlement.
• Launch of the PSH link to PhilPaSS to settle PDEx public and inter-professional trade.
• Launch of the public market with the entry of 17 Broker Participants and 3 Voice Brokers. 
• PDS executes a MoA with PSE for the development of derivatives market.
 

 

2008

 Best accessible price, nationwide execution, 
market infrastructure, and governance and 

investor choice—these seal our eff orts as we move 

further  towards a holistic and effi  cient 
capital market, prepared and geared towards 

regional cooperation.
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The end of 2006 saw the Securities and Exchange 
Commission’s (SEC) adoption of landmark regulation that would 
redefi ne our markets and re-examine the structural norms 
underpinning our market environment.  In December 2006, 
the SEC’s Rules Governing the Over-the-Counter Market (OTC 
Rules) signaled what was to be the major eff ort for the year 
2007 – bringing our market into the environment envisioned 
under the OTC Rules by the end of 2007.  This eff ort, begun 
in the early years of our formation would entail the introduction 
of new roles and transaction processes, the roll out of new 
infrastructure, and ignition of supportive moves that would 
complement the smooth operation of the full machinery for the 
fi xed income market. 

As the year 2007 ended and 2008 opened, the full range of 
products, services, and market activities for the spot market 
were brought to full operation.  These included the widening of 
our market reach beyond the inter-dealer market and bringing 
the investor markets, both professional and retail markets, into 
the fold of our infrastructure.  Retail investors through their 
brokers now have unprecedented equal access to the best 
accessible price for each of the various Government Securities 
(GS) listed on the trading board or private corporate debt issues 
admitted to listing.  Diversifi cation of traded products brought 
public access to private issues through issuer programs at par 
with the equity market and with the market envisioned under 
the OTC Rules.  Settlement innovations brought about the 
operationalization of an infrastructure that enables all trades for 
GS to be settled on a Delivery-versus-Payment basis, utilizing 
the effi  ciencies of a Central Securities Depository, the Philippine 
Depository & Trust Corp. (PDTC), as the same is done in 
markets worldwide.  In parallel with these improvements in 
our market environment, the PDS Group worked hard to 
operationalize a market governance structure designed to 
achieve a balance of market relevance and public protection.  

MESSAGE OF THE 
PRESIDENT

Consolidating the Philippine Financial Market 
through Infrastructure, Governance and 
Information and Our First Steps towards 
Regional Integration
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for the local market and into a regional vision of cooperation.  
We look ahead with our strategic partners at the development 
of a derivatives market as our next frontier, recognizing the 
continuing need for eff ective management of specifi c risks 
through hedging instruments as essential for improved systemic 
control, generating in the process the essential by-product of 
valuation that would instill consistency between the spot and 
contingent claims submarkets.  These are our fi rst signifi cant 
eff orts into creating a regional presence, and bringing our 
domestic markets into alignment with its regional peers in terms 
of sophistication, product diversity, and market standards for 
infrastructure and professionalism.

We look towards the future with renewed institutional vigor 
and business confi dence.  In the end, however, our ultimate 
focus has always been and remains with the retail investor.  
Expanding the investor base has its clear merits but its real 
contribution lies in its ability to develop a self-sustaining and 
thriving investor-led market.  This is an issue most defi ned 
in an archipelago such as the Philippines that is physically 
disaggregated and naturally seeks an accessible centralized 
solution.  Investor education will be the continuing challenge 
and one which we are prepared to undertake in pursuit of an 
educated and informed investor base.

Best accessible price, nationwide execution, market 
infrastructure, and governance and investor choice – these seal 
our eff orts as we move further towards a holistic and effi  cient 
Philippine capital market, prepared and geared towards regional 
cooperation.

VICENTE B. CASTILLO
PDS Group President & Chief Executive Offi  cer

The commencement and operation of our SRO bodies gained 
considerable importance in the year 2007 as the PDS Group 
embraced its SRO mandate, and expanded the same to 
comprehend the full range of its market activities.  The Market 
Governance Board (MGB), principally focused on operating 
the rulemaking forum and maintaining the sustained dialogue 
between the market and ourselves, was constituted and fully 
operationalized in 2007.  The Market Compliance and Discipline 
Committee (MCDC), the enforcement body of PDEx primarily 
tasked to operate the compliance programs and processes 
that aff ord both substantial and procedural due process 
requirements to the disciplinary mandate of the SRO, formally 
commenced operations in the year 2007.  

Our 2007 was a year equally devoted to mobilizing the 
supportive infrastructure that would strengthen and solidify our 
market.  The submarkets for securities borrowing and lending 
(SBL) and repurchase agreements (repos) were brought to 
the market with a suite of complementary tri-party services 
that play a critical and enhancing role - collateral management 
under the SBL and Repo markets, operation of the securities 
lending pool in our SBL market and securities lending agency 
services which aff ords investors potential incremental income 
for securities under 3rd party custody. 

These initiatives are refl ected in our institutional business growth 
and are complemented with our own capital expansion.  Our 
increase in capital to Php750 Million and capital raising exercise 
brought forth renewed and new strategic tie-ups that widened 
our strategic thrusts beyond local borders.  The Philippine 
Stock Exchange (PSE) increased its shareholdings in PDS, with 
a commitment to maintain a 20% stake as it brings its strategic 
vision to the PDS Group, gearing ourselves towards parity 
and effi  ciencies in areas where we have common interests 
with the equities market – market governance, information 
technology, product development, and investor development.  
The PDS likewise struck a landmark deal with the investment 
of Singapore Exchange Ltd. (SGX) in PDS Holdings Corp., 
marking the fi rst ASEAN tie-up of its kind.  SGX signifi ed its 
strong alliance with the PDS Group by its commitment to 
maintain a 20% equity stake in the PDS Holdings Corp, looking 
towards collaborative eff orts in regional programs, developing 
cross markets and in eff ecting technology transfer.  

With this, the PDS Group consolidated its strategic plan for 
the medium term, led by its strategic shareholders – the BAP, 
the PSE and the SGX, towards a strengthened infrastructure 

(original signed)
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PERFORMANCE
HIGHLIGHTS
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The lower increase in trading tickets (57.4%) versus increase in 
trading volume (98.6%) resulted in a larger average volume per 
ticket of PhP93.3 Million in 2007 versus PhP73.9 in 2006. 

Volume Turnover of Government Securities in PDEx nearly 
doubled from PhP787.4 Billion in 2006 to PhP1.6 Trillion in 
2007. This increase in market activity was also evident on the 
average daily trading volume, which doubled from PhP3.2 
Billion to PhP6.4 Billion in 2007. 

The rise in trading volume was accompanied by a 57.4% 
increase in the number of trade tickets from 10,652 in 2006 to 
16,767 in 2007.

Trade Volume No. of Trades

Quarterly GS Trading Statistics

The falling local and global interest rates in the last four months of 2007 fueled demand for Philippine Treasury Bonds. This is 
refl ected by the trading volume turnover which nearly doubled from PhP326.7 Billion (3rd Quarter 2007) to PhP599.4 Billion (4th 
Quarter 2007). The number of tickets also rose by 60.3% from 3,666 (3rd Quarter 2007) to 5,876 (4th Quarter 2007). 
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Q1 to Q4: 2005

Average Daily Volume and Average No. of Trades
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The surge in demand for Philippine Treasury Bonds is also evident in the average daily volume nearly which doubled from PhP5.2 
Billion per day to PhP10.3 Billion per day during the last quarter of 2007. The average daily number of trades also jumped from 58 
trades per day to 101 trades per day.
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Equity Depository Holdings

Equities held under the Depository amounted to Php1,440.8 
billion, which translates to a 46% growth from Php990.4 billion 
during the end of 2006.
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Fixed Income Securities Under Registry

For Registry, there were 5 new issues with an aggregate 
amount of Php26.3 billion for 2007, bringing the outstanding 
volume to Php41.2 billion. 

PDTC was appointed as the registrar for the following: Php1.6-
billion SPT LTO-IT ABS issued in April; Php0.15-billion FMIC 
bonds issued in July; Php8.5-billion Metrobank Tier 2 Capital 
Notes issued in October; Php10-billion Banco De Oro Tier 
2 Capital Notes issued in November; and Php6-billion Ayala 
Corporation corporate bonds issued in November. 

403
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PDDTS PVP

Transaction Value

2006 2007

The total value of US Dollars transacted through the Philippine Domestic Dollar Transfer System (PDDTS) in 2007 amounted to 
USD137.1 billion, 36% higher than the USD101-billion transaction value for the entire 2006. 

For the settlement of Foreign Exchange trades, the total value of transactions for PSSC’s Payment versus Payment (PvP) facility 
amounted to USD592.6 Billion, 55% higher than 2006’s transaction value of USD383.1 Billion. Strong foreign exchange trade at 
PDEx complements the increase in the value transacted through the facility. 

PDDTS PVP

Transaction Count

PDDTS transactions for 2007 totaled 221,493, 6% higher than the 2006’s 209,249.

PVP transactions for 2007 totaled 156,075, 3% higher than 2006’s 151,730.
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GOVERNANCE 
PHILOSOPHY

The PDS Group operates under a comprehensive governance 
structure that is designed to separate the market governance 
function from its corporate governance structure. Underlying 
this structure is our belief that impartial market governance can 
only be achieved by distancing the corporate interests of our 
enterprise from the interests of our markets.

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

Return Oriented
Corporate Interest

Trading 
Services

Settlement 
Services

Securities
Services

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE

9 Members:
3 Independents
5 Shareholder Reps
1 Management Rep

5 Members:
3 Independents
1 Shareholder Rep
1 Management Rep

Business Units

CEO

INTERNAL AUDIT RISK

Membership
Services

MARKET 
GOVERNANCE

MARKET 
GOVERNANCE 

BOARD

MARKET 
COMPLIANCE 
& DISCIPLINE 
COMMITTEE

Market Oriented
Public Interest

9 Members:
4 Independents
4 Industry Reps
1 Market Operator

5 Members:
4 Independents
1 Market Operator

Regulatory Units

Regulation Compliance Surveillance Examination
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MARKET
GOVERNANCE
PDEx as a Self Regulatory Organization (SRO) 
Continuing the implementation of the Inter-Professional Market 
and the Public Market of the Philippine Dealing & Exchange 
Corp. (PDEx), the Securities & Exchange Commission (SEC), 
in 2007, granted the application of PDEx to expand its Self 
Regulatory Organization (SRO) registration from Inter-Dealer to 
cover the Inter-Professional Market. In February 2008, the SEC 
expanded such registration to cover the Public Market as well. 

Under the Securities Regulation Code (Republic Act No. 
8799), an SRO is registered as such under the Code to 
enforce compliance with provisions of the Code and its rules 
and regulations, and mandated to make and enforce its own 
rules. It should enforce fair, ethical and effi  cient practices in the 
securities industry.

With this mandate, PDEx has created a comprehensive 
governance structure that is designed to insulate the market 
governance function of PDEx from its corporate governance 
structure that sees to the business needs of PDEx as a 
commercial enterprise.  This governance structure hopes to 
achieve an SRO that is both a partner with the industry and an 
enforcer of market rules to participants that have agreed to be 
bound thereby.
 
Rulemaking and the Market Governance Board 
The Market Governance Board (MGB), a separate and 
independent body that is created for the primary purpose 
of crafting regulation, is composed of 9 governors, with 4 
governors representing the diff erent market sectors impacted 
by the regulations: issuers, dealers, salesmen, and investors; 
4 governors that are independent and whose main focus is 
to ensure that all regulation achieves the appropriate levels of 
investor protection, and a representative of PDEx as market 
operator in consideration of its overriding interest in the integrity 
of the rulemaking process. The membership was designed to 
achieve a balance of market interests and independence, to 
ensure that rule measures are not only in accord with market 
practice and consistent with market interest but also are aligned 
with the relevant regulatory principles in applicable global 
practice and standards and the responsibilities of PDEx as an 
SRO.

Commencing its formal operations in 2007, the Market 
Governance Board (MGB) saw to the adoption of the full set 

of rules that were to govern the markets envisioned to be 
operated within the year, conscious that relevant regulation 
prescribed market standards for trading, settlement and 
professionalization to be in place by the end of 2007.  Hence, 
its fi rst step towards expanding the PDEx market brought the 
professional markets to the PDS infrastructure, by adoption 
of the PDEx Rules for the Inter-Professional Fixed Income 
Securities market, as amended, which were approved by the 
SEC in the 3rd quarter of 2007. This set of rules paved the 
way for widening the trading community on PDEx and the 
augmentation of traded instruments on the PDEx platforms 
by providing for the recognition of the qualifi ed investor 
trading participant and the enrollment of securities other than 
government securities. 

The MGB rounded out the year with its approval of the Rules 
for the Public Market which added the role of the broker to 
represent the investing public and added listing as a way of 
admitting new issues in the PDEx Trading Systems.  These 
Rules were approved by the SEC in the early part of 2008.

To aid its rulemaking activities, the MGB, contemplated to 
conduct its activities through standing Committees with 
assigned focus areas, began the constitution of these 
Committees, populating the same with the relevant sectors 
impacted by each focus area.  These Standing Committees 
include: (a) the Trading Committee; (b) the Settlement 
Committee; (c) the Listing and Admissions Committee; and (d) 
the Investor Protection Committee.  

Enforcement and the Market Compliance and 
Discipline Committee 
A parallel entity within the governance structure is the Market 
Compliance and Discipline Committee (MCDC). The MCDC 
was created for the purpose of seeing to the proper adherence 
to market rules and laws and appropriate observance of the 
dictates of procedural and substantial due process that must 
accompany any disciplinary process. It is composed of fi ve 
governors of the MGB, four (4) of whom are the Independent 
Governors and the other is the Governor representing the 
market operator, PDEx.  This composition is designed to ensure 
focus on the delivery of impartial adjudicative processes.

The MCDC likewise commenced its operations in 2007 and 
has established monitoring programs for the performance of its 
mandate.  

Compliance and Surveillance and the Market 
Regulatory Services Group 
The year 2007 was marked by a strengthening of the structures 
that support delivery of the SRO functions.  The constitution 
of the MGB and the MCDC were created outside of the 
internal operational structure of PDEx, but required an internal 
adjustment, both to meet the expectations of regulation, and to 
conform to our own philosophy that all SRO-related activities 
must be insulated from the business concerns of our enterprise.

Internally, PDEx underwent a structural reorganization, by a 
spin-off  of its Market Regulatory Services Group to strengthen 
its independence.  The MRSG is the operating division within 
PDEx supporting both rulemaking and enforcement activities of 
the SRO.  Its activities are comprised of regulation, compliance, 
surveillance, and examination.

Regulation Compliance Surveillance

MARKET GOVERNANCE Market Oriented 
Public Interest

MARKET GOVERNANCE BOARD

9 Members:
4 Independents
4 Industry Reps
1 Market Operator

MARKET COMPLIANCE & 
DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE

5 Members:
4 Independents
1 Market Operator

Examination

Regulatory Units
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MANAGEMENT 
STRUCTURE
The senior offi  cers of the PDS Holdings Corp. (the Holdings Company) are the President, four Business Heads, the Chief Risk 
Offi  cer and the Head of the Internal Audit and Information Security Unit.

The President is the Chief Executive Offi  cer (CEO) of the Holdings Company and the CEO of the three Operating Companies. 
As the highest-ranking corporate offi  cer, he is responsible for the overall management of the company, its strategic direction and 
adoption and implementation of plans designed for the attainment of the business goals of the corporation. He is a member of the 
Board of Directors of the Holdings Company as well as Chairman of the Board of the Operating Companies. In addition, he is a 
member of the various Standing Committees of the Holdings Company and its Operating Companies.

There are four Business Heads that handle (a) Trading Services, (b) Securities Services, (c) Settlement Services and (d) Membership 
Services. The Business Heads of trading, securities and settlements services are the Presidents and Chief Operating Offi  cers 
(COOs) of the PDEx, PDTC and PSSC respectively.

The Chief Risk Offi  cer (CRO) monitors risk exposures of the Holdings Company and the Operating Companies, arising from the 
products and services off ered, platforms and other systems being operated as well as all operational and residuals risks to which 
the capital of the Holdings Company and the Operating Companies is exposed. The position is independent of business units 
of the PDS Group and the CRO is a member of the Risk Management Committee. Risks that are material to the overall capital 
position of the PDS Group are addressed directly at the Board of Directors level. The CRO also provides a periodic review of price 
data quoted by trading participants and report to the Market Governance Board possible indications of aberrant behavior.

The Head of the Internal Audit is responsible for evaluating and improving the eff ectiveness of internal controls. This is not delimited 
to the process and procedures that are relevant to the organization’s operations but also includes compliance with all applicable 
regulations issued by the SEC, BSP and other fi nancial supervisory institutions. As the Chief Internal Audit Executive, the Head 
of the Internal Audit reports to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. In this capacity, the Head reports to the Board of 
Directors the performance of the Internal Audit offi  ce relative to plans, particularly with respect to issues that pertain to controls and 
governance. 

Board of Directors

CEO

Trading 
Services

Securities 
Services

Settlements 
Services

Membership 
Services

EXCOM

RiskInternal 
Audit
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Cesar E. A. Virata
Chairman Emeritus

Ramon Y. Sy
Chairman

BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

Vicente B. Castillo
President and CEO
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Jose L. Cuisia, Jr.
Member Ricardo L. Fernandez

Member

Renato C. Valencia
MemberRoberto L. Panlilio

Member

Edwin B. Villanueva
Member

Teodoro B. Montecillo
Member

Atty. Francisco Ed. Lim
Member

Atty. Jose Salvador Y. Mirasol
Corporate Secretary
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Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp.
Board of Directors

Directors listed in this enumeration are those that served 
for the majority of the term commencing April 30, 2007.

Name Position Representation
Cesar E.A. Virata Chairman Emeritus
Ramon Y. Sy Chairman BAP
Vicente B. Castillo President & CEO
Jose L. Cuisa, Jr. Member Philamlife
Ricardo L. Fernandez Member IHAP
Atty. Francisco Ed. Lim Member PSE
Teodoro B. Montecillo Member Independent
Roberto L. Panlilio Member BAP
Renato C. Valencia Member Independent
Edwin B. Villanueva Member Independent
Atty. Jose Salvador Y. Mirasol Corporate Secretary

Name Committee
Teodoro B. Montecillo Corporate Governance (Nominations and Remunerations) 
Edwin B. Villanueva Audit Committee
Deogracias N. Vistan Risk Management Committee

Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp.
Committee Chairmen
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Market Governance Board 
Board of Governors

Directors listed in this enumeration are those that served 
for the majority of the term commencing April 30, 2007.

Name Position Sectoral
Representation

Atty. Eduardo D. de los Angeles Chairman Independent
Ernest C. Leung Vice-Chairman Independent
William L. Ang Member Salesmen
Vicente B. Castillo Member Market Operator
Ma. Lourdes T. de Vera Member Investors
Atty. Monico V. Jacob Member Independent
Ramon G. Opulencia Member Issuers
Roberto L. Panlilio Member Dealers
Atty. Antonio A. Picazo Member Independent
Atty. Eleanor B. Rivera Secretary of the Board and

Head of Market Regulatory Services 
Group

Name Committee
Atty. Eduardo D. Delos Angeles Investor Protection
Atty. Monico V. Jacob Admissions, Listing and Enrollment
Ernest C. Leung Trading
Atty. Antonio A. Picazo Settlement

Market Governance Board 
Committee Chairmen
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William L. Ang
Governor - Salesmen

Vicente B. Castillo
Governor - Market Operator

BOARD OF 
GOVERNORS

Atty. Eduardo D. delos Angeles
Chairman

Ernest C. Leung
Vice-Chairman
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Ma. Lourdes T. de Vera
Governor - Investors

Atty. Monico V. Jacob
Governor - Independent

Ramon G. Opulencia
Governor - Issuers

Roberto L. Panlilio
Governor - Dealers

Atty. Antonio A. Picazo
Governor - Independent

Atty. Eleanor B. Rivera
Secretary of the Board and 

Head of Market Regulatory Services Group
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Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp.
Board of Directors

Directors listed in this enumeration are those that served for the majority of the term commencing April 30, 2007.

Name Position Representation

Vicente B. Castillo Chairman & CEO

Cesar B. Crisol President & COO

Rene J. Buenaventura Member Independent

Leonilo G. Coronel Member BAP

Ricardo L. Fernandez Member IHAP

Antonio C. Moncupa Member BAP

Teodoro B. Montecillo Member Independent

Ramon Y. Sy Member BAP

Edwin B. Villanueva Member Independent

Atty. Jose Salvador Y. Mirasol Corporate Secretary

Philippine Depository & Trust Corp.
Board of Directors

Directors listed in this enumeration are those that served for the majority of the term commencing April 30, 2007.

Name Position Representation

Vicente B. Castillo Chairman & CEO

Roy B. Lacsamana President & COO

William L. Ang Member PSE

Leonilo G. Coronel Member BAP

Jesus A. Jacinto, Jr. Member BAP

Teodoro B. Montecillo Member Independent

Ramon Y. Sy Member BAP

Edwin B. Villanueva Member Independent

Deogracias N. Vistan Member Independent

Atty. Jose Salvador Y. Mirasol Corporate Secretary

Philippine Securities Settlement Corp.
Board of Directors

Directors listed in this enumeration are those that served for the majority of the term commencing April 30, 2007.

Name Position Representation

Vicente B. Castillo Chairman & CEO

Cornelia C. Dagdag President & COO

Ricardo A. Balbido, Jr. Member BAP

Filemon T. Berba, Jr. Member Independent

Leonilo G. Coronel Member BAP

Ricardo L. Fernandez Member IHAP

Ramon Y. Sy Member BAP

Edwin B. Villanueva Member Independent

Atty. Jose Salvador Y. Mirasol Corporate Secretary



    Empowering The Investor     23

SUBSIDIARIES 
DIRECTORS

Left to Right:
Cesar B. Crisol

Cornelia C. Dagdag
Roy B. Lacsamana

Left to Right:
William L. Ang
Antonio C. Moncupa
Ricardo A. Balbido, Jr.

Left to Right:
Filemon T. Berba

Rene J. Buenaventura
Leonilo G. Coronel

Left to Right:
Jesus A. Jacinto, Jr.
Deogracias N. Vistan

NOTE: Directors who are concurrent directors of the holding company are not shown here.



24     PDS Group 2007 Annual Report

As a fusion market expertise, we are supported by the capital investment of premiere organizations who share a common vision. 
Our goal to develop a vibrant and price-effi  cient Philippine fi nancial market has always been anchored on a clear business 
proposition of commercial viability and institutional value-creation.

Our authorized capital is PhP 750 Million of which PhP 625 Million is subscribed. Our shareholders represent interests 
in commercial and investment banking, credit information services, the equities market, contractual saving institutions, 
manufacturing, computer technology as well as professional fi nancial executives. The roster of shareholders is as follows:

BAP Members & 
Institutions

24.1%

Singapore Exchange 
Limited
16.7%

Uncommitted
16.7%

Philippine Stock 
Exchange, Inc.

17.5%
Tata Consultancy 

Services Asia-Pacifi c 
Pte. Ltd.

6.7%

Computershare Technology 
Services Philippines, Inc

6.7%

The Philippine American Life and 
General Insurance Co. 

3.3%

San Miguel Corporation
3.3%

Financial Executives Institute of 
the Philippines

2.6%

Social Security System
1.3%

Investment House 
Association of the Philippines 

(IHAP) Members
0.9%

Golden Astra Capital
0.3%

NOTE: The presentation of share ownership is based 
on authorized capital of PhP 750 million.

SHAREHOLDER 
STRUCTURE
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Bankers Association of the Philippines Member Banks 
and Institutions (and their successors-in-interest)
ABN-Amro Bank
Allied Banking Corporation
ANZ Bank
Asia United Bank
Banco de Oro Universal Bank
Bangkok Bank
Bank of America NT & SA
Bank of China (Manila Branch)
Bank of Commerce
Bank of Tokyo
China Banking Corporation
Chinatrust (Phils) Commercial Bank Corporation
Citicorp Securities International (RP), Inc.
Deutsche Bank AG
Development Bank of the Philippines
East-West Banking Corporation
Equitable-PCI Bank
Export and Industry Bank
Hongkong Shanghai Banking Corporation
International Commercial Bank of China, Co. Ltd.
Internationale Nederlanden Bank (ING)
International Exchange Bank
JPMorgan Chase Bank
Korea Exchange Bank

Land Bank of the Philippines
Maybank Philippines Inc.
Metropolitan Bank & Trust Company 
Mizuho Bank
Philippine Bank of Communications
Philippine National Bank
Philippine Trust Company
Philippine Veterans Bank
Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation
Security Bank Corporation
Standard Chartered Bank
Union Bank
United Coconut Planters Bank
BAP Credit Bureau Inc.

Singapore Exchange Limited Ltd.
The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc.
Tata Consultancy Services Asia-Pacifi c Pte. Ltd.
Computershare Technology Services Philippines, Inc.
San Miguel Corporation
The Philippine American Life and General Insurance Co.
Financial Executives Institute of the Philippines
Social Security System
Investment House Association of the Philippines (IHAP) 
Members with IHAP as Trustee
Golden Astra Capital

Our goal to develop a vibrant and 
price-effi  cient Philippine fi nancial 

market has always been 
anchored on a clear business proposition 

of commercial viability and institutional 
value-creation.
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The Board of Directors 
Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. and Subsidiaries (the 
Group), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2007, and the consolidated statement of income, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory notes.  The consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended December 31, 2006, 
which are presented for comparative purposes, are audited by other auditors whose report dated April 24, 2007 expressed an unqualified 
opinion on those statements.  The opinion of the other auditors, however, does not cover the restatements of those statements as discussed in 
Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards.  This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Philippine Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Philippine Dealing System 
Holdings Corp. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007, and their financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards. 

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO. 

Josephine Adrienne A. Abarca 
Partner 
CPA Certificate No. 92126 
SEC Accreditation No. 0466-A 
Tax Identification No. 163-257-145 
PTR No. 0014603, January 3, 2008, Makati City 

April 22, 2008 

PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.

Independent Auditors’ Report
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December 31 

2007 

2006 
(As restated – 

 Note 27)
ASSETS 
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) P=44,737,027 P=40,818,734 
Short-term investments (Note 5) 2,435,042 10,207,963 
Trade and other receivables - net (Note 6) 29,091,247 20,152,421 
Other current assets (Note 7) 30,165,291 26,283,867 

Total Current Assets 106,428,607 97,462,985 
Non-current Assets 
Property and equipment - net (Note 8) 75,856,314 90,879,572 
Software and system development costs (Note 9) 287,987,550 310,622,214 
Retirement benefit assets (Note 19) 9,602,196 9,640,665 
Other non-current assets (Note 10) 11,211,419 10,420,318 
  Total Non-current Assets 384,657,479  421,562,769 

P=491,086,086 P=519,025,754 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
LIABILITIES 
Current Liabilities 
Accrued expenses and other payables (Note 11) P=48,482,720 P=55,407,725 
Current portion of deferred income (Note 12) 28,584,956 25,814,268 
  Total Current Liabilities 77,067,676 81,221,993 
Non-current Liabilities
Non-current portion of deferred income (Note 12) 19,000,342 43,119,506 
Retirement benefit obligation (Note 19) 12,418,729 9,180,882 

Total Non-current Liabilities 31,419,071 52,300,388 
108,486,747 133,522,381 

EQUITY
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the  

Parent Company 
Capital stock (Note 13) 465,650,000 427,746,400 
Additional paid-in capital  26,317,786 26,317,786 
Deficit (117,694,811) (76,666,925)

374,272,975 377,397,261 
Minority interest 8,326,364 8,106,112 

382,599,339 385,503,373 
P=491,086,086 P=519,025,754 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheet
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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Years Ended December 31 

2007 

2006
(As restated – 

Note 27)
SERVICE INCOME (Note 14) P=277,295,162 P=178,701,939 
OTHER INCOME (Note 15) 5,452,806 2,577,770 

282,747,968 181,279,709 
COSTS AND OPERATING EXPENSES   
Cost of services (Note 16) 261,987,620 187,212,362 
Salaries and employee benefits (Notes 17 and 19) 19,722,369 31,452,514 
Professional fees 8,108,640 1,043,575 
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 8 and 9) 4,312,842 3,917,652 
Provision for impairment (Notes 6 and 7) 2,853,136 –
Taxes and licenses  2,837,410 1,646,368 
Outside services 2,307,215 800,126 
Rent (Note 25) 1,967,019 2,007,672 
Utilities 1,721,661 1,755,132 
Supplies 862,126 759,349 
Printing and reproduction 671,595 72,053 
Interest 579,427 626,589 
Insurance  363,025 409,273 
Other operating expenses (Note 18) 3,531,046 2,900,884 

311,825,131 234,603,549 

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX (29,077,164) (53,323,840)
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 20) 11,730,471 3,374,552 
NET LOSS (P=40,807,634) (P=56,698,392)

Attributable to: 
Equity holders of the Parent Company (P=41,027,886) (P=56,871,741)
Minority interest 220,352 173,349 

(P=40,807,634) (P=56,698,392)

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBIDIARIES

Consolidated Statement of Income
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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 Equity holders of the Parent Company   

Common 
Stock 

Additional
Paid-in
Capital Deficit Total

Minority 
Interest Total Equity

Balance at January 1, 2007, 
 as previously reported P=427,746,400 P=26,317,786 (P=73,287,294) P=380,776,892 P=8,205,150 P=388,982,042
Prior period adjustments (Note 27) – – (3,379,631) (3,379,631) (99,038) (3,478,669)
Balance at January 1, 2007, 
 as restated 427,746,400 26,317,786 (76,666,925) 377,397,261 8,106,112 385,503,373
Stock issuance 37,903,600 – – 37,903,600 – 37,903,600
Net loss for the year – – (41,027,986) (41,027,886) 220,252 (40,807,634)
Balance at December 31, 2007 P=465,650,000 P=26,317,786 (P=117,694,811) P=374,272,975 P=8,326,364 P=382,599,339

Balance at January 1, 2006, 
 as previously reported P=427,746,400 P=26,317,786 (P=18,083,241) P=435,980,945 P=7,974,906 P=443,955,851
Prior period adjustments (Note 27) – – (1,711,943) (1,711,943) (42,143) (1,754,086)
Balance at January 1, 2006, 
 as restated 427,746,400 26,317,786 (19,795,184) 434,269,002 7,932,763 442,201,765
Net loss for the year – – (56,871,741) (56,871,741) 173,349 (56,698,392)
Balance at December 31, 2006,  

as restated P=427,746,400 P=26,317,786 (P=76,666,925) P=377,397,261 P=8,106,112 P=385,503,373

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBIDIARIES

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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Years Ended December 31 

2007
2006 

(As restated) 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
Loss before income tax (P=29,077,164) (P=53,323,840)
Adjustments for: 
 Depreciation and amortization (Notes 8 and 9) 58,073,772 49,655,506 
 Provision for impairment 2,853,136 –
 Interest income (Note 15) (1,115,524) (2,789,048)
 Unrealized foreign currency exchange rates (2,616,534) (1,440,101)
Operating loss before working capital changes 28,117,686 (7,897,483)
 Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
  Decrease (increase) in:     
   Short-term investments 7,772,921 (10,207,963)
   Trade and other receivables - net (9,557,854) (4,821,686)
   Other current assets 571,904 862,254 
   Retirement benefit assets 38,469 (171,743)
   Other non-current assets (14,792,832) (198,291)
  Increase (decrease) in: 
   Accrued expenses and other payables (4,308,471) 6,836,194 
   Deferred income (21,348,476) 66,030,373 
   Retirement benefit obligation 3,237,847 2,822,304 
Cash generated from (used in) operations (10,268,806) 53,253,959 
Income taxes paid (4,453,328) (2,726,364)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (14,722,134) 50,527,595 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 1,152,677 2,245,575 
Acquisitions of property and equipment (Note 8) (8,562,357) (9,554,440)
Additions to software and system development costs (Note 9) (12,308,038) (51,749,542)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 454,545 673,136 
Net cash used in investing activities (19,263,173) (58,385,271)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of capital stock 37,903,600 –
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS P=3,918,293 (P=7,857,676)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 40,818,734 48,676,410 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR (Note 4) P=44,737,027 P=40,818,734 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements. 

PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBIDIARIES

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)



    Empowering The Investor 31

1. Corporate Information

Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. (the Parent Company) is a 
domestic corporation incorporated in the Philippines on April 24, 2001.  It 
holds ownership interests in the following entities: 

Subsidiary 
Effective 

% of Ownership 
Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. (PDEx) 100.00 
Philippine Securities Settlement Corp. (PSSC) 100.00 
Philippine Depository & Trust Corp. (PDTC) 97.72 
PCD Nominee Corporation (PCNC) 97.72 

The primary purpose of the Parent Company is to invest in, purchase, 
or otherwise hold, use, sell, assign, transfer, mortgage, pledge, 
exchange, or otherwise dispose of shares of stock in exchanges as 
defined in the Securities Regulations Code or other laws as well as in 
one or more corporations which will provide depository, registry, 
clearing, settlement, custody, securities borrowing and lending, 
information technology, and other support services for the Exchanges 
or for the other exchanges or securities or monetary transactions or 
platforms. 

PDEx was incorporated in the Philippines on June 17, 2003.  It 
started commercial operations in April 2005.  It is organized to 
primarily engage in the business of providing and maintaining an 
automated platform and infrastructure for the issuance, trading, 
dealing, brokering and exchange of fixed-income securities, monetary 
instruments and their derivatives including but not limited to bonds, 
notes, debentures, bills, commercial papers, participations, trusts, 
asset-backed securities, and quasi-debt securities, as well as 
currencies, forwards, or other derivatives. 

PSSC was incorporated in the Philippines on February 18, 2004.  It 
started commercial operations in January 2005.  It operates as a 
central clearing and settlement institution that provides and performs 
clearance, settlement and related services for trades and other 
transactions in or involving securities, monetary or financial 
instruments and their derivatives, whether certificated or scripless, 
immobilized or dematerialized, including but not limited to those 
traded in or through any existing duly licensed and/or organized 
exchanges or markets and other similar exchanges or market; and in 
pursuance of the foregoing purposes, develops, manages, and 
executes rules, principles, standards, technologies, systems and 
market conventions according to global best practices and regulates 
its participants through its power to impose fees and penalties.   

PDTC was incorporated in the Philippines on March 31, 1995.  It is 
authorized to primarily act as depository, registry, custodian, trustee 
and/or intermediary of its participants of any and all kinds of 
securities, monetary or financial instruments and their derivatives; to 
borrow instruments for relending; to provide a system to immobilize or 
dematerialize instruments and act as quasi-bank, trust company, 
securities depository and clearing agency. 

PCNC was incorporated in the Philippines on January 23, 1996.  It is 
engaged to hold legal title to all immobilized or dematerialized 
securities listed and/or traded in the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) 
or any other registered stock exchange, and/or traded in any over-
the-counter market or markets for and on behalf of participants of the 
PDTC.  

The registered office of the Group, which is also the principal place of 
business, is located at the 37th Floor, The Enterprise Center, 6766 
Ayala Avenue, Makati City. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group were authorized 
for issue by the Parent Company’s Audit Committee on April 22, 
2008. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for available-for-sale (AFS) 
investments that have been measured at fair value.  The Group’s 
consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, 
which is the Parent Company’s functional currency. 

Statement of Compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been 
prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 
(PFRS).  PFRS includes statements named PFRS and Philippine 
Accounting Standards (PAS), including interpretations issued by the 
Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC). 

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial 
statements of the Parent Company and its wholly owned and majority 
owned subsidiaries that are all incorporated in the Philippines (see 
Note 1). 

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the 
same consolidated balance sheet date as the Parent Company using 
consistent accounting policies.  All significant intra-group balances, 
transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting 
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in the 
consolidation. 

 Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group.  Control is achieved where the Group has 
the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity 
so as to obtain benefits from its activities.  Consolidation of 
subsidiaries ceases when control is transferred out of the Group or 
Parent Company.  The result of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated statements of income 
from the date of acquisition or up to the date of disposal, as 
appropriate.  

Minority Interests
Minority interests represent the portion of income or loss and the net 
assets not held by the Group and are presented separately in the 
consolidated statement of income and within equity in the 
consolidated balance sheet, separately from equity attributable to the 
Parent Company.  Acquisitions of minority interests are accounted for 
using the entity concept method, whereby the difference between the 
consideration and the book value of the share of the net assets 
acquired is recognized as an equity transaction. 

Changes in Accounting Policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the 
previous financial year, except for adoption of the following amended 
PAS and new PFRS starting January 1, 2007: 

 PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, requires 
disclosures that enable users of the financial statements to 
evaluate the significance of the Group’s financial instruments 
and the nature and extent of risks arising from those financial 
instruments.  It requires the disclosure of qualitative and 
quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from 
financial instruments, including specified minimum disclosures 
about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, as well as 
sensitivity analysis to market risk.  It replaces PAS 30, 
Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar 
Financial Institutions, and the disclosure requirements in PAS 
32, Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation.  It is 
applicable to all entities that report under PFRS.  The adoption 
of this standard resulted in the inclusion of additional 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements such as 
market risk sensitivity analysis, maturity profile of financial 
liabilities and credit quality of financial assets that are neither 
past due nor impaired (see Note 24). 

The FRSC has approved an amendment to the transition 
provisions of PFRS 7 that gives transitional relief with respect to 
the presentation of comparative information for the new risks 
disclosures about the nature and extent of risks arising from 
financial instruments in paragraphs 31 to 42 of PFRS 7.  
Accordingly, an entity that applies PFRS 7 for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2007 need not present 
comparative information unless previously required by PAS 30 
or PAS 32. 

 Amendment to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements,
requires the Group to make new disclosures to enable users of 
the consolidated financial statements to evaluate the Group’s 
objectives, policies and processes for managing capital.  These 
new disclosures are shown in Note 24. 

The following Philippine Interpretations from the International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) are effective 

PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP. AND SUBIDIARIES

Notes to Financial Statements
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for annual periods beginning January 1, 2007 but did not have any 
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group:  

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 8, Scope of PFRS 2, requires 
PFRS 2, Share-based Payment, to be applied to any 
arrangements in which the entity cannot identify specifically 
some or all of the goods received, in particular where equity 
instruments are issued for consideration which appears to be 
less than fair value.   

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded 
Derivatives, states that the date to assess the existence of an 
embedded derivative is the date an entity first becomes a party 
to the contract, with reassessment only if there is a change to 
the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows.   

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 10, Interim Financial Reporting 
and Impairment, requires that an entity must not reverse an 
impairment loss recognized in the previous interim period in 
respect of goodwill or an investment in either an equity 
instrument or a financial asset carried at cost. 

Future Changes in Accounting Policies
The Group did not early adopt the following standards, Philippine 
Interpretations and amendments that have been approved by the 
FRSC but are not yet effective: 

 PFRS 8, Operating Segments, becomes effective for financial 
years beginning on or after January 1, 2009, and will replace 
PAS 14, Segment Reporting.  It adopts a management 
approach to reporting segment information.  PFRS 8 is required 
for adoption only by entities where debt or equity instruments 
are publicly traded, or are in the process of filing with the SEC 
for purposes of issuing any class of instrument in a public 
market. The Group is not required and will not adopt PFRS 8. 

 Amendment to PAS 23, Borrowing Costs, becomes effective for 
financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2009.  The 
standard has been revised to require capitalization of borrowing 
costs when such costs relate to a qualifying asset.  A qualifying 
asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of 
time to get ready for its intended use or sale.  The Group is 
currently assessing the impact of the interpretation on the 
consolidated financial statements. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 11, PFRS 2 - Group and 
Treasury Share Transactions, becomes effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after March 1, 2007.  This requires 
arrangements whereby an employee is granted rights to an 
entity’s equity instruments to be accounted for as an equity-
settled scheme by the entity even if (a) the entity chooses or is 
required to buy those equity instruments (e.g., treasury shares) 
from another party, or (b) the shareholders of the entity provide 
the equity instruments needed.  It also provides guidance on 
how subsidiaries, in their separate financial statements, account 
for such schemes when their employees receive rights to the 
equity instruments of the parent.  The Group currently does not 
have any stock option plan and therefore, does not expect this 
interpretation to have significant impact on its consolidated 
financial statements. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 12, Service Concession 
Arrangements, becomes effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2008.  This interpretation, which covers 
contractual arrangements arising from entities providing public-
to-private service concession arrangements, is not relevant to 
the Group. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty 
Programmes, becomes effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after July 1, 2008.  This interpretation requires customer 
loyalty award credits to be accounted for as a separate 
component of the sales transactions in which they are granted 
and therefore part of the fair value of the consideration received 
is allocated to the award credits and deferred over the period 
that the award credits are fulfilled.  The Group expects that this 
interpretation will have no impact on the consolidated financial 
statements as no such schemes exist. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 14, PAS 19 - The Limit on a 
Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and 
their Interaction, becomes effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2008.  This interpretation 
provides guidance on how to assess the limit on the amount of 
surplus in a defined benefit scheme that can be recognized as 
an asset under PAS 19, Employee Benefits.  The Group will 
assess if this interpretation will have no impact on the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents
 For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 

include cash on hand and in banks and other cash items with original 
maturities of three months or less from dates of placements and are 
subject to insignificant risk of change in value. 

Financial Instruments
Date of recognition 
The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the 
consolidated balance sheet when it becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.  In the case of a regular way 
purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition and derecognition, as 
applicable, is done using trade date accounting. 

Initial recognition of financial instruments 
Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, which is the 
fair value of the consideration given (in case of an asset) or received 
(in case of a liability).  The initial measurement of financial 
instruments, except for those designated at fair value through profit 
and loss (FVPL), includes transaction cost. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group classifies its financial 
instruments in the following categories: financial assets and financial 
liabilities at FVPL, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity (HTM) 
investments, AFS investments and other financial liabilities.  The 
classification depends on the purpose for which the instruments are 
acquired and whether they are quoted in an active market.  
Management determines the classification at initial recognition and, 
where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this classification at 
every consolidated balance sheet date. 

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Group does not have 
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL. 

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  After 
initial measurement, loans and receivables are carried at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method, less any allowance for 
impairment.  Gains and losses are recognized in the Group’s 
consolidated statement of income when the loans and receivables are 
derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization 
process.  Loans and receivables are classified as current assets 
when the Group expects to realize or collect the asset within twelve 
months from the consolidated balance sheet date.  Otherwise, these 
are classified as non-current assets. 

Classified under this category are the Group’s Trade and other 
receivables.     

HTM investments 
HTM investments are quoted nonderivative financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments and fixed maturities for which the Group’s 
management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.  
Where the Group sells other than an insignificant amount of HTM 
investments, the entire category would be tainted and reclassified as 
AFS investments.  After initial measurement, these investments are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less 
impairment in value.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into 
account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an 
integral part of the effective interest rate.  Gains and losses are 
recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the HTM 
investments are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the 
amortization process.  Assets under this category are classified as 
current assets if maturity is within 12 months from the consolidated 
balance sheet date and as non-current assets if maturity is more than 
a year from the consolidated balance sheet date. 

This category includes the Group’s Short-term investments. 

AFS investments 
AFS investments are nonderivative financial assets that are 
designated in this category or are not classified in any of the other 
categories.  The Group designates assets as AFS investments when 
they have the intention to sell those assets when the need arises.  
Subsequent to initial recognition, AFS investments are carried at fair 
value in the consolidated balance sheet.  Changes in the fair value of 
such assets are reported as revaluation reserve for AFS investments 
in the equity section of the consolidated balance sheet until the 
investment is derecognized or the investment is determined to be 
impaired.  On derecognition or impairment, the cumulative gain or 
loss previously reported in equity is transferred to the consolidated 
statement of income.  Interest earned on holding AFS investments 
are recognized in the consolidated statement of income using the 
effective interest rate.  Assets under this category are classified as 
current assets if the expected realization of the investment is within 
12 months from consolidated balance sheet date and as non-current 
assets if maturity is more than a year from the consolidated balance 
sheet date. 
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This category includes the Group’s investment in listed shares of 
stock shown under Other non-current assets in the consolidated 
balance sheet. 

Other financial liabilities 
This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held for 
trading or not designated as at FVPL at the inception of the liability.  
These include liabilities arising from operations or borrowings. 
The financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and are 
subsequently carried at amortized cost, taking into account the impact 
of applying the effective interest method of amortization (or accretion) 
for any related premium, discount and any directly attributable 
transaction costs. 

This category includes Accrued expenses and other payables.   

Determination of fair value
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets at 
consolidated balance sheet date is based on their quoted market 
prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask 
price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.  
When current bid and asking prices are not available, the price of the 
most recent transaction is used since it provides evidence of the 
current fair value as long as there has not been a significant change 
in economic circumstances since the time of the transaction. 

For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the 
fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation techniques.  
Valuation techniques include net present value techniques, 
comparison to similar instruments for which market observable prices 
exist, options pricing models, and other relevant valuation models. 

‘Day 1’ profit 
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from 
the fair value of other observable current market transactions in the 
same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables 
include only data from observable market, the Group recognizes the 
difference between the transaction price and fair value (a ‘Day 1’ 
profit) in the consolidated statement of income, unless it qualifies for 
recognition as some other type of asset.  In cases where use is made 
of data which is not observable, the difference between the 
transaction price and model value is only recognized in the 
consolidated statement of income when the inputs become 
observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  For each 
transaction, the Group determines the appropriate method of 
recognizing the ‘Day 1’ profit amount. 

Embedded derivative 
An embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and 
accounted for as a derivative if all of the following conditions are met: 
a) the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative 
are not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the 
host contract; b) a separate instrument with the same terms as the 
embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and c) 
the hybrid or combined instrument is not recognized at fair value 
through profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is a change 
in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows 
that would otherwise be required. 

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial asset 
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or 
part of a group of financial assets) is derecognized where: 

1. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 
2. the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, 

but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without 
material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 
arrangement; or 

3. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from 
the asset and either 
(a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained the risk and 
rewards of the asset but has transferred the control of the asset.  

 Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from 
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has 
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards 
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is 
recognized to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the 
asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee 
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of original 
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration that the Group could be required to repay. 

Financial liability 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the 
liability is discharged or cancelled or expired.  Where an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 

substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as 
a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new 
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 

Impairment of Financial Assets 
The Group assesses at each consolidated balance sheet date 
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss 
event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets 
that can be reliably estimated.  Evidence of impairment may include 
indications that a customer or a group of customers is experiencing 
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or 
principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or 
other financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that 
there is measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, 
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with 
defaults. 

HTM investments 
For HTM investments, the Group assesses whether there is objective 
evidence of impairment.  If there is objective evidence that an 
impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future 
expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred).  The carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced through use of an allowance account 
and the amount of loss is charged to the consolidated statement of 
income.  Interest income continues to be recognized based on the 
original effective interest rate of the asset. 

If subsequently, the amount of the estimated impairment loss 
decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognized, any amount formerly charged is credited to the 
consolidated statement of income and the allowance account 
reduced.  The HTM investments, together with the associated 
allowance accounts, are written off when there is no realistic prospect 
of future recovery and all collateral has been realized. 

Loans and receivables 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have 
not been incurred). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
through use of an allowance account and the amount of loss is 
charged to the consolidated statement of income. Interest income 
continues to be recognized based on the original effective interest 
rate of the asset.  Receivables, together with the associated 
allowance accounts, are written off when there is no realistic prospect 
of future recovery and all collateral has been realized.  If, in a 
subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss 
decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reduced by 
adjusting the allowance account.  If a future write-off is later 
recovered, any amounts formerly charged are credited to Provision 
for impairment losses in the consolidated statement of income. 

AFS investments 
For AFS investments, the Group assesses at each consolidated 
balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. 

In case of equity investments classified as AFS investments, this 
would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the 
investments below its cost.  Where there is evidence of impairment, 
the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the 
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss 
on that financial asset previously recognized in the consolidated 
statement of income - is removed from equity and recognized in the 
consolidated statement of income.  Impairment losses on equity 
investments are not reversed through the consolidated statement of 
income.  Increases in fair value after impairment are recognized 
directly in equity. 

Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount 
reported in the consolidated balance sheet if, and only if, there is a 
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously.  This is not generally the case 
with master netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities 
are presented gross in the consolidated balance sheet. 
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Property and Equipment
Depreciable properties such as furniture and fixtures, office 
equipment, transportation equipment, leasehold improvements, 
registry, depository, custody equipment and exchange system are 
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization and 
any impairment in value.  

The initial cost of property and equipment consists of its purchase 
price, including import duties, taxes and any directly attributable costs 
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its 
intended use. Expenditures incurred after items of property and 
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and 
maintenance are normally charged against operations in the period in 
which the costs are incurred. In situations where it can be clearly 
demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in 
the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of 
an item of property and equipment beyond its originally assessed 
standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as an 
additional cost of property and equipment. 

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives of the respective assets.  Leasehold 
improvements are amortized over the shorter of the terms of the 
covering leases and the estimated useful life of the improvements. 

The estimated useful lives follow: 

 Useful Lives 
(in Years)

Office equipment 3-5
Leasehold improvements  5
Furniture and fixtures 3-5
Transportation equipment 5
Registry, depository and custody equipment 3
Exchange system 7

The useful lives and the depreciation and amortization method are 
reviewed periodically to ensure that the period and the method of 
depreciation and amortization are consistent with the expected 
pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment. 

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or 
when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated 
statement of income in the year the asset is derecognized. 

Software and System Development Costs
 Software and system development costs include cost of computer 

software, product and system development costs which are 
accounted for under the cost model.  The cost of the asset is the 
amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other 
considerations given up to acquire an asset at the time of its 
acquisition or production.  

 Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of 
the costs incurred to acquire and install the specific software.  Costs 
associated with maintaining computer software are expensed as 
incurred. 

Costs associated with research activities are expensed in the 
consolidated statement of income as they occur.  Costs that are 
directly attributable to the development phase of the new customized 
software for information technology and telecommunications systems 
as well as the exchange system are recognized as intangibles 
provided they meet the following recognition requirements:  

a. demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective product 
for internal use or sale;  

b. the software and system development costs will generate 
probable economic benefits through internal use or sale; 

c. sufficient technical, financial and other resources are available 
for completion; and, 

d. the software and system development costs can be reliably 
measured. 

Directly attributable costs include employee costs incurred on 
software and system development along with an appropriate portion 
of relevant overheads.  The costs of internally generated software 
developments are recognized as intangible assets; they are subject to 
the same subsequent measurement method as externally acquired 
software licenses. However, until completion of the development 
project, the assets are subject to impairment testing.  Amortization 
commences upon completion of asset. 

 Capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of 5 to 7 years.  In addition, software and 
system development costs are subject to impairment testing. 
Goodwill
Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the 
identifiable net assets acquired is recognized as goodwill.  Goodwill 
represents the excess of the acquisition cost of PDTC over the fair 
value of its identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition.  Following 
initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses.  Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually (see 
accounting policy on Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets). 

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any 
indication that its nonfinancial assets may be impaired. When an 
indicator of impairment exists or when an annual impairment testing 
for an asset is required, the Group makes a formal estimate of 
recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
(or cash-generating unit’s) fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does 
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from 
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable 
amount is assessed as part of the cash generating unit to which it 
belongs. Where the carrying amount of an asset (or cash generating 
unit) exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset (or cash generating 
unit) is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable 
amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset (or cash generating unit).   

An impairment loss is charged to operations in the period in which it 
arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which 
case the impairment loss is charged to the revaluation increment of 
the said asset. 

A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized.  If 
that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its 
recoverable amount.  That increased amount cannot exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in 
prior years.  Such reversal is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of income unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, 
in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.  After 
such a reversal, the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods 
to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual 
value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

Goodwill 
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value 
may be impaired. 

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable 
amount of the cash generating unit to which the goodwill relates. 
Where the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less 
than the carrying amount of the cash generating unit to which 
goodwill has been allocated, an impairment loss is recognized 
immediately in the consolidated statement of income.  Impairment 
losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed for subsequent 
increases in its recoverable amount in future periods.  The Group 
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill. 

 Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be 
reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must 
also be met before revenue is recognized:   

Service income 
Service income is recognized when the services are rendered. 

Interest 
Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis computed on 
the outstanding principal balance using the applicable effective 
interest rate.  

Dividend  
Dividend income on AFS investments is recognized when the right to 
receive payment is established.  

Functional Currency and Foreign Currency Transactions
For financial reporting purposes, the monetary assets and liabilities of 
the Group are translated in Philippine pesos based on the Philippine 
Dealing System (PDS) closing rate prevailing at end of the year and 
foreign currency-denominated income and expenses, at the PDS 
weighted average rate (PDSWAR) for the year.  Foreign exchange 
differences arising from restatement of foreign currency-denominated 
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monetary assets and liabilities are credited to or charged against 
operations in the year in which the rates change.  Non-monetary items 
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial 
translations.  Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the 
fair value was determined. 

Leases
 The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease 

is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an 
assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is 
dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.  A reassessment is 
made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies: 

a. There is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or 
extension of the arrangement; 

b. A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that 
term of the renewal or extension was initially included in the 
lease term; 

c. There is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is 
dependent on a specified asset; or 

d. There is a substantial change to the asset. 

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or 
cease from the date when the change in circumstances gave rise to 
the reassessment for scenarios a, c or d above, and at the date of 
renewal or extension period for scenario b. 

Operating lease
Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the 
consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. 

Retirement Benefits
The Group has noncontributory defined benefit retirement plans. 

The retirement cost of the Group is determined using the projected 
unit credit method.  Under this method, the current service cost is the 
present value of retirement benefits payable in the future with respect 
to services rendered in the current period.  The liability recognized in 
the consolidated balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension 
plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the 
consolidated balance sheet date less the fair value of the plan assets, 
if any, together with adjustments for unrecognized actuarial gains or 
losses and past service costs. The defined benefit obligation is 
calculated annually by an independent actuary using the projected 
unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation 
is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using 
interest rate on government bonds that have terms to maturity 
approximating the terms of the related retirement liability. Actuarial 
gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in 
actuarial assumptions are credited to or charged against income 
when the net cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses at 
the end of the previous period exceed 10% of the higher of the 
defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets at that 
date.  These excess gains or losses are recognized over the 
expected average remaining working lives of the employees 
participating in the plan. 

Past-service costs, if any, are recognized immediately in income, 
unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the 
employees remaining in service for a specified period of time (the 
vesting period). In this case, the past-service costs are amortized on 
a straight-line basis over the vesting period. 

The defined benefit asset or liability comprises the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation less past service costs not yet 
recognized and less the fair value of plan assets out of which the 
obligations are to be settled directly.  The value of any asset is 
restricted to the sum of any past service cost not yet recognized and 
the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of 
refunds from the plan or reductions in the future contributions to the 
plan. 

 Income Taxes
Current tax 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are 
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 
taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the 
amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the 
consolidated balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided using the consolidated balance sheet liability 
method on temporary differences at the consolidated balance sheet 
date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes.  

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary 
differences, including asset revaluations. Deferred tax assets are 
recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of 
unused tax credits from the excess of minimum corporate income tax 
(MCIT) over the regular corporate income tax (RCIT), and unused net 
operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences and carry forward of unused tax 
credits from MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each 
consolidated balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  Unrecognized 
deferred tax assets are reassessed at each consolidated balance 
sheet date and are recognized to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to 
be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realized or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the consolidated balance sheet 
date. 

Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognized directly in 
equity is also recognized in equity and not in the consolidated 
statement of income.   

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally 
enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and 
the same taxation authority. 

Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when an obligation (legal or constructive) 
is incurred as a result of a past event and where it is probable that an 
outflow of assets embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.   

 Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized but are disclosed in the 
consolidated financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.  Contingent 
assets are not recognized but are disclosed in the consolidated 
financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

Subsequent Events
Any post year-end events that provide additional information about 
the Group’s position at consolidated balance sheet date (adjusting 
event) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements.  Post 
year-end events that are not adjusting events, if any, are disclosed 
when material to the consolidated financial statements 

3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with PFRS requires the Group to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of resources, liabilities, 
income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and 
contingent liabilities.  Future events may occur which will cause the 
assumptions used in arriving at the estimates to change.  The effects 
of any change in estimates are reflected in the consolidated financial 
statements as they become reasonably determinable. 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on 
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

The following are the critical judgments and key assumptions that 
have a significant risk of material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year: 

 Judgments
(a) Recognition of deferred taxes 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the losses can be utilized.  Significant 
management judgment is required to determine the amount of 
deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the 
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with 
future tax planning strategies. 

The Group’s estimates of future taxable income indicate that 
certain temporary differences will be realized in the future.  
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Recognized net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2007 
and 2006 amounted to P=3,911,092 and P=3,611,839, 
respectively (see Note 10). 

(b) Operating lease - Group as the lessee 
 The Group leases the premises occupied.  The Group has 

determined that it does not retain all the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the premises. 

Estimates
(a) Impairment of Trade and other receivables 

The Group reviews its trade and other receivables at each 
consolidated balance sheet date to assess whether provision 
for credit losses should be recorded in the consolidated 
statement of income.  In particular, judgment by management is 
required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future 
cash flows when determining the level of allowance required.   

Such estimates are based on assumptions about a number of 
factors such as length of the Group’s relationship with 
customers, current credit status of customers based on third 
party credit reports and known market forces, average age of 
accounts, collection and historical loss experience.  The actual 
results may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance.   

Trade and other receivables, net of allowance for impairment 
losses, amounted to P=29,091,247 and P=20,152,421 as of 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively (see Note 6). 

(b) Impairment of nonfinancial assets 
  The Group assesses impairment on assets whenever events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of 
an asset may not be recoverable. The factors that the Group 
considers important which could trigger an impairment review 
include the following: 

 significant underperformance relative to expected historical 
or projected future operating results; 

 significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired 
assets or the strategy for overall business; and 

 significant negative industry or economic trends. 

The Group recognizes an impairment loss whenever the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is computed using the value in use 
approach. Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual 
assets. 

As of December 31, 2007, the carrying value of the property 
and equipment and system software and system development 
costs of the Group amounted to P=75,856,314 and P=287,987,550, 
respectively. As of December 31, 2006, the carrying value of 
the property and equipment and system software and system 
development costs of the Group amounted to P=90,879,572 and 
P=310,622,214, respectively (see Notes 8 and 9). 

  No impairment loss was recognized in 2007 and 2006. 

(c) Estimated useful lives of property and equipment  
The Group estimates the useful lives of its property and 
equipment.  This estimate is reviewed periodically to ensure 
that the period of depreciation and amortization are consistent 
with the expected pattern of economic benefits from the items of 
property and equipment. 

(d) Estimated useful lives of software and system development 
costs 
The Group estimates the useful life of software and system 
development costs based on the period over which the assets 
are expected to be available for use.  The estimated useful lives 
of software and system development costs are reviewed 
periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous 
estimates due to technical or commercial obsolescence and 
legal or other limits on the use of the assets.  In addition, 
estimation of the useful lives of software and system 
development costs is based on collective assessment of 
industry practice, internal technical evaluation and experience 
with similar assets.  It is possible, however that future results of 
operations could be materially affected by changes in estimates 
brought about by changes in factors mentioned above.  The 
amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would 
be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances.  A 
reduction in the estimated useful lives of the software and 
system development costs would increase recorded operating 
expenses and decrease non-current assets. 

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the carrying value of the 
software and system development costs amounted to  
P=287,987,550 and P=310,622,214, respectively, for the Group 
(see Note 9).

(e) Impairment of AFS equity investments 
The Group treats AFS equity investments as impaired when 
there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value below its cost or where other objective evidence of 
impairment exists.  The determination of what is ‘significant’ or 
‘prolonged’ requires judgment.  The Group treats ‘significant’ 
generally as 20% or more and ‘prolonged’ greater than 6 
months.  In addition, the Group evaluates other factors, 
including normal volatility in share price for quoted equities and 
the future cash flows and the discount factors for unquoted 
equities. 

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the carrying value of the 
AFS investments amounted to P=606,900 (see Note 10).   

(f) Present value of retirement obligation 
The cost of defined benefit pension plan and other post 
employment benefits is determined using actuarial valuations.  
The actuarial valuation involves making assumptions about 
discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary 
increases, mortality rates and future pension increases.  Due to 
the long term nature of these plans, such estimates are subject 
to significant uncertainty. 

The assumed discount rates were determined using the market 
yields on Philippine government bonds with terms consistent 
with the expected employee benefit payout as of balance sheet 
dates. Refer to Note 19 for the details of assumption used in the 
calculation. 

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation of the Group amounted to  
P=19,628,988 and P=19,508,179, as of December 31, 2007 and 
2006, respectively (see Note 19). 

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents

This account consists of: 

2007 
2006 

(As restated) 
Cash on hand and in banks P=35,924,526 P=21,805,952 
Short-term placements 8,812,501 19,012,782 

P=44,737,027 P=40,818,734 

 Cash in banks include regular current and savings deposits with annual interest rates of 0.15% to 0.88% in 2007 and 2006.  

 Short-term placements are denominated in Philippine pesos and US dollars with tenors ranging from 1 to 7 days for both peso and dollar placements.  Peso 
investments earned annual effective interest rates ranging from 1.00% to 4.50% in 2007 and from 2.50% to 7.25% in 2006.  Dollar placements earned annual 
effective interest rates ranging from 1.00% to 1.15% in 2007 and from 1.00% to 1.50% in 2006.  

 Interest earned on cash and cash equivalents amounted to P=1,045,840 and P=2,739,302 in 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

5. Short-Term Investments 

This account consists of investments in Philippine peso treasury bills that earned effective interest rate per annum of 4.24% in 2007 and from 3.45% to 5.51% 
in 2006.    
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6. Trade and Other Receivables 

This account consists of: 

2007 
2006  

(As restated) 
Trade receivables P=28,361,927 P= 18,642,450 
Advances to officers and employees 1,310,361 1,411,250 
Others 834 98,721 

29,673,122 20,152,421 
Allowance for impairment losses (581,875) –

P=29,091,247 P=20,152,421 

Trade receivables are usually due by the 25th day of the following month and do not bear any interest.  All trade receivables are subject to credit risk 
exposure.  However, the Group does not identify specific concentrations of credit risk with regards to trade receivables as the amounts recognized consist of 
large number of receivables from various customers. 

Advances to officers and employees have maturities of three months to one year and bear interest of 1.00% per month. 

In 2007, the Group recognized provision for impairment losses on trade receivables amounting to P=581,875. 

7. Other Current Assets 

This account consists of: 

2007 
2006 

(As restated) 
Input VAT P=13,495,827 P=10,824,827 
Creditable taxes 10,257,408 12,926,742 
Prepayments 7,602,862 1,837,451 
Supplies inventory 919,595 629,851 
Creditable VAT 160,860 64,996 

32,436,552 26,283,867 
Allowance for impairment losses (2,271,261) –

P=30,165,291 P=26,283,867 

8. Property and Equipment 

The composition of and changes in property and equipment at cost follow: 

2007 

Office 
Equipment 

Leasehold
Improvements

Furniture
and

Fixtures
Transportation

Equipment

Registry, 
Depository and 

Custody 
Equipment Total

Cost   
Balance at beginning of year,  
 as previously reported P=219,049,865 P=25,709,646 P=6,655,739 P=19,475,586 P=43,804,026 P=314,694,862
Prior period adjustment  (919,715) (212,368) – – – (1,132,083)
Reclassifications (5,110,980) – – – 5,110,980 –
Balance at beginning  of year, 
 as restated 213,019,170 25,497,278 6,655,739 19,475,586 48,915,006 313,562,779
Additions 8,020,131 61,800 480,426 – – 8,562,357
Disposals – – – (1,423,635) – (1,423,635)
Reclassification (Note 9) 321,116 – – – – 321,116
Balance at end of year 221,360,417 25,559,078 7,136,165 18,051,951 48,915,006 321,022,617
Accumulated 

depreciation and 
amortization   

Balance at beginning of year, 
 as previously reported P=197,612,966 P=9,669,934 P=4,522,204 P=7,300,692 P=2,129,245 P=221,235,041
Prior period adjustments  

(Note 27) 1,098,601 336,839 (5,961) 18,687 – 1,448,166
Balance at beginning of year,  
 as restated 198,711,567 10,006,773 4,516,243 7,319,379 2,129,245 222,683,207
Depreciation and  
    Amortization 12,326,584 5,209,271 934,684 3,764,935 1,216,712 23,452,186
Disposals – – – (969,090) – (969,090)
Reclassification (82,860) 82,860 – – – –
Balance at end of year 210,955,291 15,298,904 5,450,927 10,115,224 3,345,957 245,166,303
Net book value P=10,405,126 P=10,260,173 P=1,685,238 P=7,936,728 P=45,569,049 P=75,856,314
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2006 

Office 
Equipment 

Leasehold
Improvements

Furniture
and

Fixtures
Transportation

Equipment

Registry,
Depository,

Custody and 
Exchange

Equipment Total 
Cost  
Balance at beginning of year, 
 as previously reported P=214,734,385 P=25,203,899 P=6,590,888 P=18,236,818 P=43,804,026 P=308,570,016 
Prior period adjustment  (919,715) (212,369) – – – (1,132,083) 
Reclassifications (5,110,980) – – – 5,110,980 –
Balance at beginning of year, 
 as restated 208,703,690 24,991,531 6,590,888 18,236,818 48,915,006 307,437,933 
Additions 5,040,480 505,747 64,851 3,943,362 – 9,554,440 
Adjustments (725,000) – – – – (725,000) 
Disposals – – – (2,704,594) – (2,704,594) 
Balance at end of year 213,019,170 25,497,278 6,655,739 19,475,586 48,915,006 313,562,779 
Accumulated 

depreciation and 
amortization  

Balance at beginning of year, 
as previously reported 186,735,128 4,491,429 3,698,084 5,258,018 912,533 201,095,192 

Prior period adjustment 
  (Note 27) 504,948 588,220 (4,955) 125,682 – 1,213,895 
Balance at beginning  of year, 
 as restated 187,240,076 5,079,649 3,693,129 5,383,700 912,533 202,309,087 
Depreciation and  
    Amortization 11,471,492 4,927,124 823,114 3,421,424 1,216,712 21,859,866 
Disposals – – – (1,485,746) – (1,485,746) 
Balance at end of year 198,711,568 10,006,773 4,516,243 7,319,378 2,129,245 222,683,207 
Net book value P=14,307,602 P=15,490,504 P=2,139,496 P=12,156,208 P=46,785,762 P=90,879,572 

The prior period adjustment to the cost of property and equipment pertains to the reversal of double recording of certain acquisitions made on credit. The 
corresponding liability booked was also reversed. 

Total depreciation and amortization are allocated as follows:  

2007 2006
Cost of services P=20,862,850 P=19,329,213
Operating expense 2,589,336 2,530,653

P=23,452,186 P=21,859,866

9. Software and System Development Costs 

The composition of and changes in the software and system development costs follow: 

2007 

Computer 
Software 

System
Development 

Costs Total
Cost    
Balance at beginning of year, as previously reported P=307,831,238 P=50,957,713 P=358,788,951   
Prior period adjustment (Note 27) (878,059) (30,000) (908,059) 
Balance at beginning of year, as restated 306,953,179 50,927,713 357,880,892 
Additions 8,413,044 3,894,994 12,308,038 
Reclassification (Note 8) (2,421,288) 2,100,172 (321,116) 
Balance at end of year 312,944,935 56,922,879 369,867,814 
Accumulated Amortization    
Balance at beginning of year 29,423,479 17,835,199 47,258,678 
Amortization 25,271,197 9,350,389 34,621,586 
Balance at end of year 54,694,676 27,185,588 81,880,264 
Net book value P=258,250,259  P=29,737,291 P=287,987,550 

 2006 

Computer 
Software 

System 
Development 

Costs Total 
Cost    
Balance at beginning of year P=258,265,521 P=48,773,888 P=307,039,409 
Additions 49,565,717 2,183,825 51,749,542 
Prior period adjustment (Note 27) (878,059) (30,000) (908,059) 
Balance at end of year 306,953,179 50,927,713 357,880,892 
Accumulated Amortization    
Balance at beginning of year 12,146,955 7,316,083 19,463,038 
Amortization 17,276,524 10,519,116 27,795,640 
Balance at end of year 29,423,479 17,835,199 47,258,678 
Net book value P=277,529,700 P=33,092,514 P=310,622,214 

On September 2, 2004, the Parent Company and PDTC entered into a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with a system provider whereby the latter shall 
supply, customize and maintain PDTC’s integrated registry, depository, and custody system.  PDTC is still in the process of developing and setting up the 
system to ultimately place it in working condition for its intended use.  The capitalized costs include the cost of the integrated software and the costs incurred 
for the development and customization of a new process and software to be used in PDTC’s operations.  This also includes professional fees of consultants 
involved in the undertaking.  PDTC expects the system to be operational in 2008. 
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In 2004, PDEx entered into a License and Development Agreement (LDA) with a provider for the purchase of a software license and the related 
customization and development of PDEx’s trading system. The cost of the license was capitalized and shown as part of computer software while the costs of 
the ongoing customization and development of the trading system are shown as system development costs.  

At the start of 2007, PDEx revised the original estimated useful life of its software and system development costs from five years to seven years. The charge 
was accounted for prospectively and reduced amortization expense in 2007 by P=1.90 million. 

Total amortization expense is allocated as follows:  

2007 2006 
Cost of services P=32,898,080 P=26,408,641 
Operating expense 1,723,506 1,386,999 

P=34,621,586 P=27,795,640 

10. Other Non-Current Assets

This account consists of: 

2007 
2006 

(As restated) 
Goodwill P=4,084,521 P=4,084,521 
Deferred tax assets - net (Note 20) 3,911,092 3,611,839 
Security deposits (Note 25) 2,608,906 2,081,003 
AFS investments 606,900 606,900 
Others – 36,055 

P=11,211,419 P=10,420,318 

 AFS investments pertain to investments in quoted equity security.  Impairment loss recognized in 2006 as a prior period adjustment amounted to P=321,100 
(see Note 27).  There was no change in the fair value of the investments in 2007. 

11. Accrued Expenses and Other Payables

This account consists of: 

2007 
2006 

(As restated) 
Accruals for: 
 Maintenance fees P=11,143,381 P=15,864,994 
 Professional fees 8,586,600 5,604,026 
 Leave benefits 6,112,371 4,247,855 
 Rent 1,905,530 787,338 
 Software development 1,601,177 11,054,811 
 Others 8,082,543 3,407,450 
Output VAT 4,849,367 4,843,614 
Withholding taxes payable 2,193,667 6,153,143 
Retention payable 1,354,142 1,354,142 
Taxes and licenses payable  1,339,546 729,817 
Other payables 1,314,396 1,360,535 

P=48,482,720 P=55,407,725 

12. Deferred Income

This account pertains to the three-year advance payment of maintenance fees from customers, which will be amortized and recognized as income over three 
years. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the current portion of deferred income amounted to P=28,584,956 and P=25,814,268, respectively. 

13. Capital Stock

This account consists of:  
 2007 2006 

Common Shares - P=100 par value
 Authorized - 5,000,000 shares  
 Issued and outstanding 

 Balance at beginning of the year - 4,277,464  shares in 2007 
and 2006 P=427,746,400 P=427,746,400 

  Issuance of shares - 379,036 shares in 2007 37,903,600 –
 Subscribed common stock - 343,500 shares 34,350,000 34,350,000 
 Subscription receivable - 343,500 shares (34,350,000) (34,350,000) 

Balance at the end of the year - 4,656,500 shares in 2007 and 
4,277,464 shares in 2006 P=465,650,000 P=427,746,400 

The Parent Company has raised capital over the past year.  In November 2007, the Parent Company obtained an additional investment commitment of  
P=70.00 million from the Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. (PSE), an existing shareholder with 12.20% ownership interest, and a commitment to maintain a 
20.00% stakeholding in the Parent Company.  The first tranche of the investment commitment was by way of a Subscription Agreement for 356,500 common 
shares at par for a total cash investment of P=35,650,000. Golden Astra Capital, Inc., a new investor, also subscribed to 22,536 shares of the Parent 
Company’s common stock at par, for a total cash investment of  P=2,253,600. The said subscriptions were paid on November 13, 2007 and  
December 5, 2007, respectively. 
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14. Service Income 

This account consists of service income of: 

2007
2006 

(As restated) 
PDTC P=159,534,443 P=95,828,878 
PDEx 65,387,571 32,960,499 
PSSC 52,373,148 49,912,562 

P=277,295,162 P=178,701,939 

15. Other Income

This account consists of: 

2007
2006 

(As restated) 
Foreign exchange gain (loss) P=3,190,037  (P=717,967)
Interest (Notes 4, 5 and 6) 1,115,524 2,789,048 
Gain on sale of assets  118,971 –
Dividends  39,450 39,450 
Others  988,824 467,239 

P=5,452,806 P=2,577,770 

Others include revenue from printing stock certificates and statements of account. 

16. Cost of Services

This account consists of: 

2007
2006 

(As restated) 
Salaries and employee benefits (Note 17) P=88,406,924 P=61,497,434 
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 8 and 9) 53,760,930 45,737,854 
Repairs and maintenance (Note 25) 49,844,499 33,916,923 
Professional fees 19,211,121 17,561,534 
Utilities 15,361,463 2,249,984 
Certificate handling fee 11,252,041 7,281,038 
Rent (Note 25) 7,642,790 6,637,300 
Outside services 3,407,484 2,710,339 
Insurance 3,053,857 3,236,371 
Transportation and travel 2,606,762 1,261,570 
Advertising  1,558,658 1,603,542 
Bank charges 909,701 714,204 
Postage  835,196 285,519 
Supplies 736,705 66,367 
Taxes and licenses 479,835 481,519 
Meetings and conferences 164,175 50,881 
Others  2,755,479 1,919,983 

P=261,987,620 P=187,212,362 

17. Salaries and Employee Benefits

This account consists of: 

2007 2006 
Salaries and wages  P=95,264,020 P=86,127,471 
Leave benefits 2,475,124 351,356 
Retirement benefits (Note 19) 4,845,483 2,758,727 
Social security cost  1,413,697 991,841 
Others 4,130,969 2,720,553 

P=108,129,293 P=92,949,948 

Total salaries and employee benefits are allocated as follows:  

2007 2006 
Cost of services P=88,406,924 P=61,497,434 
Operating expense 19,722,369 31,452,514 

P=108,129,293 P=92,949,948 

18. Other Operating Expenses

This account consists of travel, advertising, minor repairs and maintenance, office and computer supplies, transportation and travel, insurance and other 
general and administrative expenses. 

19. Retirement Plan

The Group has separate noncontributory defined benefit retirement plans covering substantially all its officers and regular employees.  Under these 
retirement plans, all covered officers and employees are entitled to cash benefits after satisfying certain age and service requirements.  The funded 
retirement obligation pertains to PDTC only. 
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PDTC’s annual contribution to the retirement plan consists of a payment covering the current service cost, amortization of the unfunded actuarial accrued 
liability and interest on such unfunded actuarial liability.   

The following table shows the actuarial assumptions as of January 1, 2007 and 2006 used in determining the retirement benefit obligation of the Group: 

  Actuarial Assumptions 

Date of Actuarial 
Valuation Report 

Average 
Remaining 

Working Life 

Expected 
Return on 

Assets 
Salary Rate 

Increase Discount Rate 
Parent Company January 1, 2007 7 – 5.00% 6.28% 
PDEx January 1, 2007 19 – 5.00% 8.03% 
PSSC January 1, 2007 18 – 5.00% 8.13% 
PDTC January 1, 2007 21 7.00% 5.00% 7.86% 

  Actuarial Assumptions 

Date of Actuarial 
Valuation Report 

Average 
Remaining 

Working Life 

Expected 
Return on 

Assets 
Salary Rate 

Increase Discount Rate 
Parent Company January 1, 2006 9 – 6.00% 10.60% 
PDEx January 1, 2006 20 – 6.00% 11.90% 
PSSC January 1, 2006 22 – 6.00% 11.90% 
PDTC January 1, 2006 19 10.00% 6.00% 11.90% 

Discount rates used to arrive at the present value of the defined benefit obligation of the Group as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows: 

2007 2006 
Parent Company 5.93% 6.28%
PDEx 8.06% 8.03%
PSSC 7.87% 8.13%
PDTC 8.27% 7.86%

The overall expected rate of return on plan assets is determined based on the market prices prevailing on that date applicable to the period over which the 
obligation is to be settled. 

The amount of defined retirement assets of PDTC recognized in the consolidated balance sheets is determined as follows: 

2007 2006
Fair value of plan assets P=17,392,726 P=15,328,599
Present value of defined benefit obligation (8,743,878) (8,932,638)

8,648,848 6,395,961
Unrecognized actuarial losses 953,348 3,244,704
Retirement benefit assets P=9,602,196 P=9,640,665

The actual return on plan assets of PDTC for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 amounted to P=1,950,541 and P=3,122,243, respectively. 

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation of PDTC are as follows: 

2007 2006
Defined benefit obligation at beginning of year P=8,932,638 P=4,668,979
Interest cost 702,105 555,609
Current service cost 1,888,436 762,026
Benefits paid (1,455,581) (1,713,921)
Actuarial loss (gain) (1,323,720) 4,659,945
Defined benefit obligation at end of year P=8,743,878 P=8,932,638

Changes in the fair value of the plan assets of PDTC are as follows: 

2007 2006 
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year P=15,328,599 P=13,812,111 
Contributions paid into the plan 1,569,167 108,167 
Expected return 1,073,002 1,381,211 
Benefits paid (1,455,581) (1,713,921)
Actuarial gain 877,539 1,741,031 
Fair value of plan assets at end of year P=17,392,726 P=15,328,599 

 The major categories of plan assets of PDTC are as follows: 

2007 2006
Government & equity securities P=16,175,402 P=13,487,204
Deposit in banks 717,488 724,294
Accrued interest receivable 164,844 138,216
Trust fees payable (48,285) (21,115)
Other investments in bonds 383,277 1,000,000

P=17,392,726 P=15,328,599

 PDTC expects to contribute P=2,921,992 to the plan in 2008. 
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Information on the pension plan of PDTC as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 follow: 

2007 2006 
Fair value of plan assets P=17,392,726 P=15,328,599 
Present value of the defined benefit obligation (8,743,878) (8,932,638)
Surplus in plan assets 8,648,848 6,395,961 
Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities (666,506) 4,009,965 
Experience adjustments arising on plan assets 877,539 1,741,031 

The amounts of retirement benefit obligation of the Parent Company, PDEx and PSSC recognized in the consolidated balance sheets are as follows: 

2007 2006 
Present value of the defined benefit obligation P=10,885,110 P=10,575,541 
Unrecognized actuarial losses (gain) 1,533,619 (1,394,659)
Balance at end of year P=12,418,729 P=9,180,882 

The movements of the present value of the defined benefit obligation of the Parent Company, PDEx and PSSC are as follows: 

2007 2006 
Balance at beginning of the year P=10,575,541 P=7,578,983 
Retirement expense 3,239,460 2,802,962 
Benefits paid – (311,195)
Actuarial loss (gain) (2,929,891) 504,791 
Balance at end of year P=10,885,110 P=10,575,541 

 Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities of the Parent Company, PDEx and PSSC amounted to (P=2,466,355) and (P=1,177,707) for 2007 and 2006 
respectively. 

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation of the Group are as follows: 

2007 2006 
Defined benefit obligation at beginning of the year P=19,508,179 P=12,247,962 
Interest cost 1,515,993 1,428,093 
Current service cost 4,314,008 2,692,504 
Benefits paid (1,455,581) (2,025,116)
Actuarial loss (gain) (4,253,611) 5,164,736 
Defined benefit obligation at end of year P=19,628,988 P=19,508,179 

 The amounts included in Salaries and employee benefits in the consolidated statements of income for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as 
follows: 

2007 2006 
Current service cost P=4,314,008 P=2,692,504 
Interest cost 1,515,993 1,428,093 
Expected return on plan assets (1,073,002) (1,381,212)
Net actuarial gains recognized during the year 88,484 19,342 

P=4,845,483 P=2,758,727 

20. Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes include corporate income tax, as 
discussed below, and final taxes paid at the rate of 20% on gross 
interest income from cash deposits and short-term investments. 

Republic Act No. 9337, An Act Amending National Internal Revenue 
Code, provides that the RCIT rate shall be 35% until  
January 1, 2009. Starting January 1, 2009, the RCIT rate shall be 
30%.

The regulations also impose the MCIT of 2% on modified gross 
income and allow a NOLCO.  The NOLCO and the excess of the 
MCIT over the RCIT may be applied against taxable income and the 
income tax liability, respectively, over a three-year period from the 
year of inception. 

Provision for income tax consists of: 

2007
2006

(As restated)
Current: 
 RCIT P=11,835,811 P=3,262,024
 Final 193,913 651,772
Deferred (299,253) (539,244)

P=11,730,471 P=3,374,552

Components of the net deferred tax assets follow: 

2007
2006

(As restated)
Deferred tax asset on: 
 Retirement benefit assets P=1,932,716 P=1,764,475
 Pre-operating expenses 845,802 1,268,703
 Accrued vacation leave benefits 981,644 458,624
 Allowance for impairment losses 199,309 112,385
 NOLCO – 7,652
Deferred tax liability on: 
 Unrealized foreign exchange gain (48,379) –

P=3,911,092 P=3,611,839

The Parent Company and PDEx did not recognize deferred tax assets 
as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 since management does not 
expect to have taxable profit that will be available against which the 
deferred tax assets can be utilized. The breakdown of unrecognized 
deferred tax assets is shown below: 

2007 2006
NOLCO P= 61,137,145 P=43,842,599
Accrued retirement benefits 2,876,107 1,978,091
Unamortized pre-operating expenses 1,048,623 4,494,099
Accrued leave benefits 907,230 1,079,328
MCIT – 101,155

P=65,969,105 P=51,495,272
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Details of the Group’s NOLCO are as follows: 

Inception Year Amount Expired Balance Expiry Year 
2007 P=54,002,725 P=– P=54,002,725 2010 
2006 67,379,758 – 67,379,758 2009 
2005 53,295,076 – 53,295,076 2008 
2004 4,589,735 4,589,735 – 2007
 P=179,267,294 P=4,859,735 P=174,677,559  

A reconciliation of the statutory income tax to the effective income tax follows: 

2007 2006
Statutory income tax (P=10,177,007) (P=18,663,344)
Tax effects of: 
 Unrecognized deferred tax assets 17,486,696 22,481,174
 Income subjected to final tax (133,599) (462,426)
 Nondeductible expenses  4,536,006 19,148
 Deferred income 18,375 –
Effective income tax P=11,730,471 P=3,374,552

21. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other 
party in making financial and operating decisions.  Parties are also considered to be related if they are subjected to common control or common significant 
influence.  Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities.   

The Group had no transactions with related parties in 2007 and 2006. 

Key Management Personnel Compensation
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:  

2007 2006
Salaries and wages  P=30,081,349 P=33,880,000 
Retirement benefits 1,032,971 1,741,382 
Other long-term benefits 700,662 592,436 

P=31,814,982 P=36,213,818 

22. Securities Under Custody

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the market value of securities under the custody of PDTC amounted to P=2,610,228,633 and P=9,775,696,582, 
respectively. 

23. Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurement

Shown below are the Group’s assets and liabilities as they appear on the consolidated balance sheets, which are divided into financial and nonfinancial 
items, with the financial items being mapped to the categories of financial instruments under PAS 39. 

2007

 Cash  
Loans and 

Receivables 
HTM 

investments 
Available 

for Sale 

Other 
Financial 
Liabilities 

Other 
Non

financial 
Items Total

ASSETS       
Cash and cash equivalents P=25,000 P=44,712,027 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=44,737,027
Short-term investments – – 2,435,042 – – – 2,435,042
Trade and other receivables – 29,091,247 – – – – 29,091,247
Other current assets – – – – – 30,165,291 30,165,291
Property and equipment – – – – – 75,856,314 75,856,314
Software and system 
 development costs – – – – – 287,987,550 287,987,550
Retirement benefit assets – – – – – 9,602,196 9,602,196
Other non-current assets – 2,608,906 – 606,900 – 7,995,613 11,211,419

Total Assets P=25,000 P=76,412,180 P=2,435,042 P=606,900 P=– P=411,606,964 P=491,086,086
       

LIABILITIES       
Accrued expenses and other 
 payables P=– P=– P=– P=– P=34,390,274 P=14,092,446 P=48,482,720
Deferred income – – – – – 47,585,298 47,585,298
Retirement benefit obligation – – – – – 12,418,729 12,418,729

Total Liabilities P=– P=– P=– P=– P=34,390,274 P=74,096,473 P=108,486,747
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2006 

 Cash 
Loans and

Receivables HTM investments
Available
For Sale

Other
Financial
Liabilities

Other 
Non

financial 
Items Total

ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents P= 26,000 P=40,792,734 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=40,818,734
Short-term investments – – 10,207,963 – – – 10,207,963
Trade and other  receivables – 20,152,421 – – – – 20,152,421
Other current assets – – – – – 26,283,867 26,283,867
Property and equipment – – – – – 90,879,572 90,879,572
Software and system  
 development costs 

– – – – –
310,622,214 310,622,214

Retirement benefit assets – – – – – 9,640,665 9,640,665
Other non-current assets – 2,081,003 – 606,900 7,732,415 10,420,318

Total Assets P=26,000 P=63,026,158 P=10,207,963 P=606,900 P=– P=445,158,733 P=519,025,754

LIABILITIES 
Accrued expenses and other 
 payables P=– P=– P=– P=– P=42,387,770 P=13,019,954 P=55,407,724
Deferred income – – – – – 68,933,774 68,933,774
Retirement benefit obligation – – – – – 9,180,882 9,180,882

Total Liabilities P=– P=– P=– P=– P=42,387,770 P=91,134,610 P=133,522,380

Fair Values
The carrying values and fair values of financial instruments are as follows: 

2007 2006 
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

Financial assets:    
 Loans and receivables:   
  Cash and cash equivalents P=44,737,027 P=44,737,027 P=40,818,734 P=40,818,734
  Trade and other receivables: 
   Trade  27,780,052 27,780,052 18,642,475 18,642,475
   Advances to officers and Employees 1,310,361 1,310,361 1,321,479 1,321,479
   Deposits (shown under Other  
        non-current assets) 2,608,906 2,608,906 2,081,003 2,081,003
   Others 834 834 188,467 188,467
 76,437,180 76,437,180 63,052,158 63,052,158

 Short-term investments (classified  
  as HTM investments) 2,435,042 2,422,885 10,207,963 10,421,429

 AFS investments (shown under Other  
non-current assets) 606,900 606,900 606,900 606,900

P=79,479,122 P=79,466,965 P=73,867,021 P=74,080,487

Financial liabilities:    
Other financial liabilities:   

  Accrued expenses and other  
   payables (excluding taxes  
   payable) 34,390,274 34,390,274 42,387,770 42,387,770

P=34,390,274 P=34,390,274 P=42,387,770 P=42,387,770

The methods and assumptions used by the Group in estimating the fair value of the financial instruments are: 

Cash and cash equivalents, Trade and other receivables and Accrued expenses and other payables Carrying amounts approximate fair values due to the 
relatively short-term maturity of these instruments. 

Short-term investments and AFS investments - Fair values are based on quoted prices published in markets. 

24. Financial Risk Management Policies and Objectives 

The Group does not engage in trading activities or take positions in equity, foreign exchange and securities other than investment in government securities in 
the course of managing its cash and liquidity position and purchase of foreign exchange to service some of its foreign-currency denominated obligations.  
The Group’s market, liquidity and credit risks arising from the use of financial instruments are thus limited to the above activities.

The following provides the overall risk management principles and process that governs the risk management of the Group. 

 Risk Management Structure
The Group’s risk management process hinges on the following principles: 

 The Board of Directors (BOD) establishes the Group’s risk philosophy and culture, approves the risk policies and sets the risk appetite for the Group. 
 The Executive Committee (Excom) is accountable to the BOD for the risk taken by the business. 
 The risk takers of each business initially identify and evaluate market, product or service opportunities, subject to further evaluation of the Risk 

Management group and other specific risk function groups, e.g., Product Committee, Legal and Compliance, for the attendant risks.
 Management of risks is done in a coordinated manner within the Group. 
 Risk management is an independent function reporting to the Risk Management Committee (RMC) where the Chief Operating Officer (COO) of every 

company is a member. 
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Risk Management Organization
The Group’s risk management organization consists of the following: 

1. The BOD is the risk policy maker and approving authority of the Group.  The BOD has created and appointed Standing Committees with at least one 
Independent Director to assist in performing its functions. These include the RMC, Audit Committee and Trust Committee. 

The RMC sets the policy standards and guidelines for the management and assessment of group-wide risk, with the ultimate objective of ascertaining 
that risk exposures of the Group fall within the capital collectively available and allocated to the juridical entities.  The chairman of the RMC is an 
Independent Director.  The Chief Risk Officer is a member of the Committee. 

The Audit Committee is the oversight of the financial reporting process, the internal control process as well as the hiring and performance of external 
auditors.  The Chairman of the Audit Committee is an Independent Director. 

The Trust Committee formulates the general policies and guidelines on the management of trust and other fiduciary accounts.  It reviews and approves 
the acceptance and closing of trust and other fiduciary accounts and adopts measures to ensure the independence of the Group’s trust function. 

2. The risk functions of identifying, evaluating and measuring risks and exposures attendant to the products and services provided by each Company in 
the Group, as well as recommending limits is performed by the Risk Management Unit (RMU).  It also establishes standards to monitor and report 
compliance with limits. 

Complementing the RMU is the Product Committee.  The Product Committee reviews existing and proposed products to ensure that all risk-taking 
personnel have properly identified and analyzed the relevant risks.  It recommends to the Excom the approval of the proposed product. 

3. The Operations Support, Legal and Compliance, Financial Control, and Audit groups support the Group’s risk management function in risk control.  
They operate independently of the business units and the risk management functions.  The Operations Support group performs risk reporting, through 
generation of risk reports, and the control process of risk management.  The Legal and Compliance group ensures that all laws and regulations are 
complied with and contracts entered into by the Company are enforceable.  The Financial Control group ensures that expenses and revenues are 
within budget and properly approved and monitored. The Audit group shall ensure compliance of financial accounting and internal control processes 
with internal and regulatory standards. 

4. The risk takers are the officers of respective business units handling the products.  These are the units that identify market or product opportunities and 
sponsor product or service developments or proposals. 

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a loss because its counterparties fail to discharge their contractual obligations.  The Group’s counterparties 
include its banks, the Bureau of Treasury (BTr) of the Philippines as issuer of government securities, trading participants and depository clients.   

The Group manages and controls its credit exposure to its clients by actively monitoring the size and age of its receivables.  

In addition, the Group’s clients are availing of the auto-debit facility.  The auto debit facility is an arrangement whereby the participants authorize the 
respective companies of the Group to debit their designated cash account for the payment of fees based on invoices sent by the respective companies on the 
5th day of the following month.   

Credit risk exposures 
The table below shows the gross maximum exposure to on- and off-balance sheet credit risk exposures of the Group, without considering the effects of 
collateral, credit enhancements and other credit risk mitigation techniques:  

2007 2006 
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on hand) P=44,712,027 P=40,792,734 
Short-term investments 2,435,042 10,207,963 
Trade and other receivables – net 29,091,247 20,152,421 
Deposits (shown under Other non-current assets) 2,608,906 2,081,003 
AFS investments (shown under Other  
 non-current assets) 606,900 606,900 
Total credit risk exposure P=79,454,122 P=73,841,021 

The credit quality of the Group’s financial assets is as follows: 

Past due or  
 Neither past due nor impaired individually  
 High grade Standard grade impaired Total 
Cash and cash equivalents  
 (excluding cash on hand) P=44,712,027 P= P= P=44,712,027 
Short-term investments 2,435,042 2,435,042 
Trade and other receivables - net 29,673,122 581,875 29,091,247 
Deposits (shown under Other non- 
 current assets) 2,608,906 2,608,906 
AFS investments (shown under  
 Other non-current assets) 606,900 606,900 
Total P=80,035,997 P= P=581,875 P=79,454,122 

The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Group by limiting its counterparties to top-tier corporate institutions including financial institutions 
which are regulated entities under BSP or SEC.   

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments are considered as high grade credit as these are placements and deposits with top-tier Philippine 
banks and investments in government securities issued by the Bureau of Treasury (BTr) of the Republic of the Philippines.  Trade and other receivables are 
considered as high grade credit as these are receivables from corporate clients that are subject to the Group’s rules that provide adequate remedies to the 
Group’s credit exposures.  AFS investments are investments in Philippine Long Distance Telephone Co. (PLDT) shares. 
Receivables or investments in institutions that are not top-tier corporations are considered standard grade. 
As of December 31, 2007, the Group has no past due but not impaired financial assets. 

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its payment obligations as they fall due.  To mitigate this risk, management prepares a forecast 
of the business cash flows for the year.  Constant monitoring and a well-defined billing and collection policy facilitate management of projected inflows. 
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To minimize market risks that could adversely affect management of liquidity position and because the Group is not in the business of trading securities, it is 
the management’s policy to invest excess cash and cash equivalents in liquid and non-speculative financial instruments, such as term deposits and 
government securities, with tenors that match its funding schedule.   

All financial liabilities of the Group as of December 31, 2007 are payable on demand.   

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market variables such as interest rates, 
foreign exchange rates and equity prices. Market risk includes interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. The Group has no significant concentration of 
market risk. 

Interest Rate Risk  
Interest rate risk arises on interest-bearing financial instruments recognized in the consolidated balance sheet.  As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the 
Group has no interest bearing borrowings; hence, the Group is not sensitive to interest rate changes. 

Foreign Currency Risk 
Foreign currency risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from changes in foreign exchange rates.  The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk arising 
from its foreign-currency denominated cash and accrued expenses.   

The risk is manageable to the extent that the fees are pre-determined both in terms of amount and flows. To manage the adverse impact of changes in the 
foreign currency rates on the fees, the Group may also enter into foreign exchange forward contracts. The Group currently has no outstanding foreign 
exchange forward contracts. 

The Group's monetary assets and liabilities, which are denominated in US dollars amounted to $69,206 and $307,326 as of December 31, 2007 and $34,978 
and $697,853 as of December 31, 2006, respectively. 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the US dollar (USD)/Philippine Peso (PhP) exchange rate, with all other 
variables held constant, of the Group’s income before income tax due to revaluation of monetary assets and liabilities. There is no impact on equity other 
than those already affecting income before income tax.  

Increase (Decrease) in 
USD/PhP exchange rate 

Effect on Income
Before Income Tax

2007 P=1.00 
(1.00) 

(P=238,120)
238,120 

The decrease in USD/PhP exchange rate means stronger PhP against the USD while an increase in USD/PhP rate means weaker PhP against the USD.  

Equity Price Risk 
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities decrease as the result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the value of individual stocks. 

The Group’s investment in listed shares of stock showed no significant movement in 2006 and 2007.  The Group assessed that changes in the fair value in 
the next reporting period will have an immaterial effect on the Group’s equity. 

Capital Management 
Decisions on the allocation of capital resources are performed as part of the strategic planning review.  The Group also manages its capital structure and 
makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. 

The Group’s objectives are to maintain sufficient capital resources to support the Group’s risk appetite and capital requirements, to maintain sufficient capital 
resources to meet the minimum regulatory capital requirements and to ensure that there are no known events that may trigger direct or contingent financial 
obligation that is material to the Group. 

The Group monitors capital using debt-to-equity ratio, which is total liabilities divided by total equity.  The Group’s total liabilities include current and non-
current liabilities.  Equity comprises all components of equity. 

The debt-to-equity ratios as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows: 

2007 2006
Total liabilities P=108,486,747 P=133,522,381
Total equity 382,599,339 385,503,375
Debt-to-equity ratio 0.28 0.35

Regulatory Capital
The Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP), under BSP Circular 400 dated July 31, 2003, has prescribed guidelines in the adoption of the risk-based capital 
adequacy framework for quasi-banks taking into consideration Section 34 of the General Banking Law of 2000. 

PDTC’s regulatory capital consists of Tier 1 (core) capital, which comprises share capital and retained earnings including current year profit less required 
deductions such as deferred income tax and unsecured credit accommodations to DOSRI.  The other component of regulatory capital is Tier 2 
(supplementary) capital, which includes, among others, general loan loss provision.  The risk-based capital ratio of the Company is expressed as a 
percentage of qualifying capital to risk-weighted assets, which are computed based on BSP regulations.   

Regulatory Qualifying Capital
Shown below are PDTC’s minimum capital-to-risk assets ratio as reported to the BSP as of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006.   

2007 2006
Tier 1 Capital P=363,515,383 P=353,990,509
Tier 2 Capital – –
Gross Qualifying Capital 363,515,383 353,990,509
Less: Required deductions 500,000 500,000
Total qualifying capital P=363,015,383 353,490,509

Risk weighted assets P=379,074,038 P=338,273,025
Risk-based capital adequacy ratio 95.76% 104.50%

PDTC is required to maintain capital amounting to P=300.0 million.
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25. Commitments and Contingencies

The following are the significant commitments and contingencies involving the Group: 

Operating Lease Commitments – Group as Lessee
The Group is a lessee under non-cancellable operating leases covering its office and parking space for a period of five years.  Monthly rentals are 
apportioned to the Parent Company and the respective subsidiaries based on the size of the area occupied. 

The future minimum rentals payable under these operating leases as of December 31 are as follows:  

2007 2006
Within a year P=8,345,386 P=8,156,875
After one year but not more than five years 5,728,415 15,955,828

P=14,073,801 P=24,112,703

Total rentals from these operating leases amounted to P=9,609,809 in 2007 and P=8,644,973 in 2006, of which P=7,642,790 and P=6,637,301 was charged to 
Cost of Services in 2007 and 2006, respectively.  

Security Deposits 
In connection with the above lease agreements, the Group paid rental deposits amounting to P=2,608,906 and P=2,081,003 as of December 31, 2007 and 
2006, respectively, and are presented under Other non-current assets in the consolidated balance sheet  
(see Note 10). 

Maintenance of the Integrated System 
In accordance with the Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) entered by PDTC on September 2, 2004 with a service provider, PDTC is committed to pay 
$320,000 annually for the maintenance of the its integrated system. 

In accordance with the LDA entered by the PDEx with a service provider, PDEx is committed to pay $335,000 annually for the maintenance of its fixed-
income trading system. 

Others 
In the normal course of business, the Group makes various commitments and has certain contingent liabilities that are not given recognition in the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements.  Management believes that losses, if any, that may arise from these commitments and contingencies will 
not have any material effect on the consolidated financial statements. 

26. Subsequent Events 

On January 30, 2008, the SEC approved the Parent Company’s application for increase in capital stock from P=500.00 million to P=750.00 million with a par 
value of P=100.00 per share.  

With the approved increase in authorized capital stock, Singapore Exchange Limited (SGX) committed to invest  P=150.00 million, which is 20% of the Parent 
Company’s authorized capital stock. On January 30, 2008, SGX remitted its initial investment of P=125.00 million (1.25 million shares). 

The Parent Company completed the second tranche of its planned P=50.00 million additional investment in PDEx. The investment amounting to P=23.00 million 
was paid by the Parent Company in February 2008. 

27. Prior Period Adjustments 

The Group’s reported net loss in 2006 was restated to reflect correction of prior year’s accounting entries as follows: 

Net loss, as previously reported  (P=54,973,809)
Adjustments: 
 To adjust recorded service income (P=981,592)  
 To reverse non-capitalizable software and  
  system development costs (908,059)  
 To adjust recorded expenses (601,153)    
 To reverse interest income of PCNC (515,094)  
 To record permanent decline in the value of  
  investment in quoted equity security  (321,100)  
 To adjust recorded depreciation expense (234,271)  
 To adjust rent expense using straight-line  
  method 723,512  
 To reverse amortization of intangibles 478,516  
 To reverse accrual of expenses 300,934  
 To recognize tax impact of adjustments  456,275  
 Others (122,551) (1,724,583)
Net loss, as restated  (P=56,698,392)

The Group’s reported equity as of December 31, 2005 was restated to reflect correction of prior year’s accounting entries as follows: 

Equity at January 1, 2006, as previously reported  P=443,955,851 
Adjustments: 
 To adjust recorded depreciation expense (P=1,213,895)  
 To reverse income recognized from PCNC 
  in 2004 and 2005 (788,502)  
 To record expenses of PCNC in 2004 and 2005 (102,977)  
 To adjust rent expense using straight-line  
  method 457,731  
 Others (106,443) (1,754,086)
Equity at January 1, 2006, as restated  P=442,201,765 
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The Board of Directors 
Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. (the Company) 
which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2007, and the statement of income, statement of changes in equity 
and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes.  The financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended December 31, 2006, which are 
presented for comparative purposes, were audited by other auditors whose report dated April 24, 2007 expressed an 
unqualified opinion on those statements.  The opinion of the other auditors, however, does not cover the restatements of 
those statements as discussed in Note 20 to the financial statements.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.  This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal 
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that 
are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Philippine Dealing
System Holdings Corp. as of December 31, 2007, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards. 

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO. 

Josephine Adrienne A. Abarca 
Partner 
CPA Certificate No. 92126 
SEC Accreditation No. 0466-A 
Tax Identification No. 163-257-145 
PTR No. 0014603, January 3, 2008, Makati City 

April 22, 2008 
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December 31

2007 

2006
(As restated -

Note 20)
ASSETS 
Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) P=8,007,091 P=74,105
Due from subsidiaries (Note 15) 7,168,311 13,559,284
Other current assets (Note 5)   3,875,434 4,376,270

Total Current Assets 19,050,836 18,009,659
Non-current Assets 
Investments in subsidiaries - net (Note 6) 324,028,795 324,028,795 
Deposit for future stock subscription (Note 7) 27,000,000 –
Property and equipment - net (Note 8) 2,588,472 4,232,680
Other non-current asset (Note 18) 175,666 175,666

Total Non-current Assets 353,792,933 328,437,141
P=372,843,769 P=346,446,800

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  
LIABILITIES 
Current Liabilities 
Accrued expenses and other payables (Note 9) P=4,390,550 P=8,451,416
Due to subsidiaries (Note 15) 22,571,693 24,483,914
Total Current Liabilities 26,962,243 32,935,330
Non-current Liability 
Retirement benefit obligation (Note 13) 4,049,460 3,304,869

31,011,703 36,240,199
EQUITY
Capital stock (Note 10) 465,650,000 427,746,400
Additional paid-in capital  26,317,786 26,317,786
Deficit (150,135,720) (143,857,585)

341,832,066 310,206,601
P=372,843,769 P=346,446,800

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.

Balance Sheet
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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Years Ended December 31

2007 

2006
(As restated –

Note 20)
REVENUES 
Management fees (Note 11)  P=– P=21,857,691
Interest income (Notes 4 and 5) 82,084 1,628

82,084 21,859,319
COSTS AND EXPENSES 
Salaries and employee benefits (Notes 12, 13 and 15) 2,887,772 19,184,900
Depreciation (Note 8) 1,522,162 1,536,502
Taxes and licenses 742,414 9,503
Professional fees 515,379 226,238
Rent (Note 18) 93,144 705,908
Impairment loss on investment in a subsidiary (Note 6) – 64,889,586
Miscellaneous 583,240 526,558

6,344,111 87,079,195
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 6,262,027 65,219,876
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 14) 16,108 101,426
NET LOSS P=6,278,135 P=65,321,302

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP. 

Statement of Income
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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Common 
Stock 

(Note 10)

Additional 
Paid in 
Capital Deficit  

Total
Equity

Balance at January 1, 2007,  
  as previously reported P=427,746,400 P=26,317,786 (P=144,262,037) P=309,802,149
Prior period adjustments (Note 22) – – 404,722 404,722
Balance at January 1, 2007, as restated P=427,746,400 P=26,317,786 (P=143,857,585) P=310,206,601
Common stock issued 37,903,600 – – 37,903,600
Net loss for the year – – (6,278,135) (6,278,135)
Balance at December 31, 2007 P=465,650,000 P=26,317,786 (150,135,720) P=341,832,066

Balance at January 1, 2006, as  
previously reported P=427,746,400 P=26,317,786 (P=78,806,453) P=375,257,733

Prior period adjustment (Note 20) – –   270,170 270,170
Balance at January 1, 2006 as restated 427,746,400 26,317,786 (78,536,283) 375,527,903
Net loss for the year – – (65,321,302) (65,321,302)
Balance at December 31, 2006, as restated P=427,746,400 P=26,317,786 (P=143,857,585) P=310,206,601

   
See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP. 

Statement of Changes in Equity
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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Years Ended December 31

2007 

2006
(As restated -

Note 20)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
Loss before income tax (P=6,262,027) (P=65,219,876)
Adjustments for: 
 Depreciation (Note 8) 1,522,162 1,536,502
 Interest income (82,084) (1,628)
 Impairment loss on investment in a subsidiary (Note 6) – 64,889,586
 Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
  Decrease (increase) in: 
   Other current assets  503,290 (3,068,345)
   Other non-current assets – (3,200)

Due from subsidiaries 6,390,973 22,170,569
  Increase (decrease) in: 
   Accrued expenses and other payables (Note 9) (4,060,866) 1,773,676
   Due to subsidiaries (1,912,221) (23,498,148)
   Retirement benefit obligation   744,591 1,323,939
Cash used in operations (3,156,182) (96,925)
Income taxes paid  (16,108) (101,426)
Net cash used in operating activities (3,172,290) (198,351)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 79,630 1,302
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 209,091 –
Acquisitions of property and equipment (Note 8) (87,045) (75,588)
Deposit for future stock subscription (Note 7) (27,000,000) –
Net cash used in investing activities (26,798,324) (74,286)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of capital stock (Note 10) 37,903,600 –
Net cash provided by financing activities 37,903,600 –
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 7,932,986 (272,637)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 74,105 346,742

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR P=8,007,091 P=74,105

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements. 

PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP. 

Statement of Cash Flows
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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1. Corporate Information

The Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. (the 
Company), is a domestic corporation incorporated in the 
Philippines on April 24, 2001.  The Company holds 100% 
interests in Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. (PDEx) 
and Philippine Securities Settlement Corp. (PSSC) and 
97.72% in Philippine Depository & Trust Corp. (PDTC). 

The primary purpose of the Company is to invest in, 
purchase, or otherwise hold, use, sell, assign, transfer, 
mortgage, pledge, exchange, or otherwise dispose of 
shares of stock in exchanges as defined in the Securities 
Regulation Code or other laws as well as in one or more 
corporations which will provide depository, registry, 
clearing, settlement, custody, securities borrowing and 
lending, information technology, and other support 
services for the Exchange or for the other exchanges of 
securities or monetary transactions or platforms. 

The registered office of the Company, which is also its 
principal place of business, is located at 37th Floor, The 
Enterprise Center, 6766 Ayala Avenue, Makati City. 

The accompanying financial statements were authorized 
for issue by the Company’s Audit Committee on  
April 22, 2008. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
The accompanying financial statements have been 
prepared on a historical cost basis.  The Company’s 
financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, 
which is the Company’s functional and presentation 
currency. 

Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of the Company have been 
prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards (PFRS).  PFRS includes statements named 
PFRS and Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS), 
including interpretations, issued by the Financial Reporting 
Standards Council (FRSC). 

Changes in Accounting Policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those 
of the previous financial year, except for adoption of the 
following amended PAS, and new PFRS starting  
January 1, 2007: 

 PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, requires 
disclosures that enable users of the financial 
statements to evaluate the significance of the 
Company’s financial statements and the nature and 
extent of risks arising from those financial 
instruments.  It requires the disclosure of qualitative 
and quantitative information about exposure to risks 
arising from financial instruments, including specified 
minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk 
and market risk, as well as sensitivity analysis to 
market risk.  It replaces PAS 30, Disclosures in the 
Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial 
Institutions, and the disclosure requirements in  
PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Disclosure and 
Presentation.  It is applicable to all entities that report 
under PFRS.  The adoption of this standard resulted 
in the inclusion of additional disclosures in the 
financial statements such as market risk sensitivity 
analysis, maturity profile of financial liabilities and 
credit quality of financial assets that are neither past 
due nor impaired (see Note 17). 

The FRSC has approved an amendment to the 
transition provisions of PFRS 7 that gives transitional 
relief with respect to the presentation of comparative 
information for the new risks disclosures about the 
nature and extent of risks arising from financial 
instruments in paragraphs 31 to 42 of PFRS 7.  

Accordingly, an entity that applies PFRS 7 for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2007 need 
not present comparative information unless 
previously required by PAS 30 or PAS 32. 

 Amendment to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial 
Statements, requires the Company to make new 
disclosures to enable users of the financial 
statements to evaluate the Company’s objectives, 
policies and processes for managing capital.  These 
new disclosures are shown in Note 17. 

The following Philippine Interpretations from the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC) are effective for annual periods 
beginning January 1, 2007 but did not have any impact on 
the financial statements of the Company:  

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 8, Scope of PFRS 2,
requires PFRS 2, Share-based Payment, to be 
applied to any arrangements in which the entity 
cannot identify specifically some or all of the goods 
received, in particular where equity instruments are 
issued for consideration which appears to be less 
than fair value.   

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 9, Reassessment of 
Embedded Derivatives, states that the date to 
assess the existence of an embedded derivative is 
the date an entity first becomes a party to the 
contract, with reassessment only if there is a change 
to the contract that significantly modifies the cash 
flows.   

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 10, Interim Financial 
Reporting and Impairment, requires that an entity 
must not reverse an impairment loss recognized in 
the previous interim period in respect of goodwill or 
an investment in either an equity instrument or a 
financial asset carried at cost. 

Future Changes in Accounting Policies
The Company did not early adopt the following standards, 
Philippine Interpretations and amendments that have been 
approved by the FRSC but are not yet effective: 

 PFRS 8, Operating Segments, becomes effective for 
financial years beginning on or after January 1, 
2009, and will replace PAS 14, Segment Reporting.
It adopts a management approach to reporting 
segment information.  PFRS 8 is required for 
adoption only by entities where debt or equity 
instruments are publicly traded, or are in the process 
of filing with the SEC for purposes of issuing any 
class of instrument in a public market. The Company 
is not required and will not adopt PFRS 8. 

 Amendment to PAS 23, Borrowing Costs, becomes 
effective for financial years beginning on or after 
January 1, 2009.  The standard has been revised to 
require capitalization of borrowing costs when such 
costs relate to a qualifying asset.  A qualifying asset 
is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial 
period of time to get ready for its intended use or 
sale.  The Company is currently assessing the 
impact of the interpretation on the financial 
statements. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 11, PFRS 2 - Group 
and Treasury Share Transactions, becomes effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after March 1, 
2007.  This requires arrangements whereby an 
employee is granted rights to an entity’s equity 
instruments to be accounted for as an equity-settled 
scheme by the entity even if (a) the entity chooses or 
is required to buy those equity instruments (e.g., 
treasury shares) from another party, or (b) the 
shareholders of the entity provide the equity 
instruments needed.  It also provides guidance on 
how subsidiaries, in their separate financial 
statements, account for such schemes when their 
employees receive rights to the equity instruments of 
the parent.  The Company currently does not have 
any stock option plan and therefore, does not expect 

PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP. 

Notes to Financial Statements
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this interpretation to have significant impact on its 
financial statements. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 12, Service 
Concession Arrangements, becomes effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008.  
This interpretation, which covers contractual 
arrangements arising from entities providing public-
to-private service concession arrangements, is not 
relevant to the Company. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty 
Programmes, becomes effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after July 1, 2008.  This 
interpretation requires customer loyalty award credits 
to be accounted for as a separate component of the 
sales transactions in which they are granted and 
therefore part of the fair value of the consideration 
received is allocated to the award credits and 
deferred over the period that the award credits are 
fulfilled.  The Company expects that this 
interpretation will have no impact on its financial 
statements as no such schemes currently exist. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 14, PAS 19 - The
Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding 
Requirements and their Interaction, becomes 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2008.  This interpretation provides 
guidance on how to assess the limit on the amount 
of surplus in a defined benefit scheme that can be 
recognized as an asset under PAS 19, Employee 
Benefits.  The Company will assess if this 
interpretation will have an impact on the financial 
statements. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents
 For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash 

equivalents include cash and other cash items with original 
maturities of three months or less from dates of 
placements that are subject to insignificant risk of change 
in value. 

Financial Instruments
Date of recognition 
The Company recognizes a financial instruments in the 
balance sheet when it becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. In the case of a regular way 
purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition and 
derecognition, as applicable, is done using trade date 
accounting.  

Initial recognition of financial instruments 
Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, 
which is the fair value of the consideration given (in case 
of an asset) or received (in case of a liability).  The initial 
measurement of financial instruments, except for those 
designated at fair value through profit and loss (FVPL), 
includes transaction cost. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Company classifies 
its financial instruments in the following categories: 
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL, loans and 
receivables, held-to-maturity (HTM) investments, 
available-for-sale (AFS) investments and other financial 
liabilities.  The classification depends on the purpose for 
which the instruments are acquired and whether they are 
quoted in an active market.  Management determines the 
classification at initial recognition and, where allowed and 
appropriate, re-evaluates this classification at every 
reporting date. 

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company has no 
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL, HTM 
investments and AFS investments.   

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market.  After initial measurement, loans and 
receivables are carried at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method, less any allowance for 
impairment.  Gains and losses are recognized in the 
Company’s statement of income when the loans and 
receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as 
through the amortization process.  Loans and receivables 
are classified as current assets when the Company 

expects to realize or collect the asset within twelve months 
from balance sheet date.  Otherwise, these are classified 
as non-current assets. 

Classified under this category are the Company’s due from 
subsidiaries and receivables.

Other financial liabilities 
This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not 
held for trading or not designated as at FVPL at the 
inception of the liability.  These include liabilities arising 
from operations or borrowings. 

The financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value 
and are subsequently carried at amortized cost, taking into 
account the impact of applying the effective interest 
method of amortization (or accretion) for any related 
premium, discount and any directly attributable transaction 
costs. 

This category includes accrued expenses and other 
payables and due to subsidiaries.

Determination of fair value
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active 
markets at balance sheet date is based on their quoted 
market price or dealer price quotations (bid price for long 
positions and ask price for short positions), without any 
deduction for transaction costs.  When current bid and 
asking prices are not available, the price of the most 
recent transaction provides evidence of the current fair 
value as long as there has not been a significant change in 
economic circumstances since the time of the transaction. 

For all other financial instruments not listed in an active 
market, the fair value is determined by using appropriate 
valuation techniques.  Valuation techniques include net 
present value techniques, comparison to similar 
instruments for which market observable prices exist, 
options pricing models, and other relevant valuation 
models. 

‘Day 1’ profit 
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is 
different from the fair value of other observable current 
market transactions in the same instrument or based on a 
valuation technique whose variables include only data 
from observable market, the Company recognizes the 
difference between the transaction price and fair value (a 
Day 1 profit) in the statement of income, unless it qualifies 
for recognition as some other type of asset.  In cases 
where use is made of data which is not observable, the 
difference between the transaction price and model value 
is only recognized in the statement of income when the 
inputs become observable or when the instrument is 
derecognized.  For each transaction, the Company 
determines the appropriate method of recognizing ‘Day 1’ 
profit amount. 

Embedded derivative 
An embedded derivative is separated from the host 
contract and accounted for as a derivative if all of the 
following conditions are met: a) the economic 
characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are 
not closely related to the economic characteristics and 
risks of the host contract; b) a separate instrument with the 
same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the 
definition of a derivative; and c) the hybrid or combined 
instrument is not recognized at FVPL.  Reassessment only 
occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that 
significantly modifies the cashflows that would otherwise 
be required. 

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial asset 
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial 
asset or part of a group of financial assets) is 
derecognized where: 

1. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired; or 

2. the Company retains the right to receive cash flows 
from the asset, but has assumed as obligation to pay 
them in full without material delay to a third party 
under a “pass-through” arrangement; or 

3. the Company has transferred its rights to receive 
cash flows from the asset and either 
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(a) has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred 
nor retained the risk and rewards of the asset but 
has transferred the control of the asset.  

 Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive 
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset 
nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is 
recognized to the extent of the Company’s continuing 
involvement in the asset.  Continuing involvement that 
takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is 
measured at the lower of original carrying amount of the 
asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the 
Company could be required to repay. 

Financial liability 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation 
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expired.  
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another 
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or 
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, 
such an exchange or modification is treated as a 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of 
a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying 
amounts is recognized in the statement of income. 

Impairment of Financial Assets 
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date 
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and 
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result 
of one or more events that has occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that 
loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of 
financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Evidence of 
impairment may include indications that a customer or a 
group of customers or a group of borrowers is experiencing 
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in 
interest or principal payments, the probability that they will 
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and 
where observable data indicate that there is measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as 
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate 
with defaults. 

Assets carried at amortized cost 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on 
loans and receivables carried at amortized cost has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding 
future credit losses that have not been incurred) 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest 
rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial 
recognition).  The amount of the loss shall be recognized in 
the statements of income.

The Company first assesses whether objective evidence of 
impairment exists individually for financial assets that are 
individually significant, and individually or collectively for 
financial assets that are not individually significant.  If it is 
determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists 
for an individually assessed financial asset, whether 
significant or not, the asset is included in a group of 
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and 
that the group of financial assets is collectively assessed 
for impairment.  Assets that are individually assessed for 
impairment and for which an impairment loss is or 
continues to be recognized are not included in a collective 
assessment of impairment. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to 
an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, 
the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed.  
Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognized in the statements of income, to the extent that 
the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its 
amortized cost at the reversal date. 

Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the 
net amount reported in the balance sheet if, and only if, 

there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the 
recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a 
net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.  This is not generally the case with master 
netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities 
are presented gross in the balance sheet. 

Investments in Subsidiaries
These financial statements are prepared as the 
Company’s separate financial statements.   

The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are accounted 
for in these separate financial statements at cost, less any 
impairment loss.  Impairment loss is provided when there 
is objective evidence that the investment in subsidiary will 
not be recovered.  Such impairment loss is measured as 
the difference between the carrying amount of the 
investment and the present value of the estimated cash 
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for 
similar financial asset.  Impairment loss is not reversed. 

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Company has the 
power to govern the financial reporting policies generally 
accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the 
voting rights.  The Company obtains and exercises control 
through voting rights.  The existence and effect of potential 
voting rights that are currently exercisable and convertible 
are considered when assessing whether the Company 
controls another entity. The Company recognizes income 
from the investment only to the extent that it receives 
distributions from accumulated income of the subsidiary 
arising after the date of acquisition.  Distributions received 
in excess of the accumulated income are regarded as a 
recovery of investment. 

Property and Equipment
Depreciable properties such as transportation equipment, 
furniture and fixtures and office equipment, are stated at 
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in 
value. 

The initial cost of property and equipment consists of its 
purchase price, including import duties, taxes and any 
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its 
working condition and location for its intended use. 
Expenditures incurred after items of property and 
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs 
and maintenance are normally charged against operations 
in the period in which the costs are incurred. In situations 
where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures 
have resulted in an increase in the future economic 
benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of 
property and equipment beyond its originally assessed 
standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized 
as an additional cost of property and equipment. 

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method 
over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets.   

The estimated useful lives follow: 

 Useful Lives 
(in Years)

Transportation equipment 5
Furniture and fixtures 3-5
Office equipment 3-5

The useful life and the depreciation method are reviewed 
periodically to ensure that the period and the method of 
depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of 
economic benefits from items of property and equipment. 

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising 
on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset) is included in the statement of 
income in the year the asset is derecognized. 

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets 
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date 
whether there is an indication that the Company’s 
investment in a subsidiary and property, plant and 
equipment may be impaired.  When an indicator of 
impairment exists or when an annual impairment testing 
for an asset is required, the Company makes an estimate 
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of recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher 
of an asset’s (or cash-generating unit’s) fair value less 
costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an 
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash 
inflows that are largely independent of those from other 
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable 
amount is assessed as part of the cash generating unit to 
which it belongs. Where the carrying amount of an asset 
(or cash generating unit) exceeds its recoverable amount, 
the asset (or cash generating unit) is considered impaired 
and is written down to its recoverable amount. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset 
(or cash generating unit).   

An impairment loss is charged to operations in the period 
in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case the impairment loss is charged to 
the revaluation increment of the said asset. 

A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if 
there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognized.  If that is the case, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to its 
recoverable amount.  That increased amount cannot 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss 
been recognized for the asset in prior years.  Such 
reversal is recognized in the statement of income unless 
the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case 
the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.  After 
such a reversal, the depreciation charge is adjusted in 
future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying 
amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis 
over its remaining useful life. 

 Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that 
the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the 
revenue can be reliably measured.   

Management fee   
Management fee is recognized when the services are 
rendered. 

Interest 
Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis 
computed using the applicable effective interest rate.  

Leases
 The determination of whether an arrangement is, or 

contains a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the 
fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a 
specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a 
right to use the asset.  A reassessment is made after 
inception of the lease only if one of the following applies: 

a. There is a change in contractual terms, other than a 
renewal or extension of the arrangement; 

b. A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, 
unless that term of the renewal or extension was 
initially included in the lease term; 

c. There is a change in the determination of whether 
fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset; or 

d. There is a substantial change to the asset. 

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall 
commence or cease from the date when the change in 
circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios 
a, c or d above, and at the date of renewal or extension 
period for scenario b. 

Operating lease
Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense 
in the statement of income on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. 

Retirement Benefits
The Company has a noncontributory defined benefit 
retirement plan. 

The retirement cost of the Company is determined using 
the projected unit credit method.  Under this method, the 

current service cost is the present value of retirement 
benefits payable in the future with respect to services 
rendered in the current period.  The liability recognized in 
the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension 
plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
at the balance sheet date with adjustments for 
unrecognized actuarial gains or losses and past service 
costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually 
by an independent actuary using the projected unit credit 
method. The present value of the defined benefit 
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated 
future cash outflows using interest rate on government 
bonds that have terms to maturity approximating the terms 
of the related retirement liability. Actuarial gains and 
losses arising from experience adjustments and changes 
in actuarial assumptions are credited to or charged against 
income when the net cumulative unrecognized actuarial 
gains and losses at the end of the previous period 
exceeded 10% of the higher of the defined benefit 
obligation and the fair value of plan assets at that date.  
These excess gains or losses are recognized over the 
expected average remaining working lives of the 
employees participating in the plan. 

Past-service costs, if any, are recognized immediately in 
income, unless the changes to the pension plan are 
conditional on the employees remaining in service for a 
specified period of time (the vesting period). In this case, 
the past-service costs are amortized on a straight-line 
basis over the vesting period. 

The defined benefit asset or liability comprises the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation less past service 
costs not yet recognized and less the fair value of plan 
assets out of which the obligations are to be settled 
directly.  The value of any asset is restricted to the sum of 
any past service cost not yet recognized and the present 
value of any economic benefits available in the form of 
refunds from the plan or reductions in the future 
contributions to the plan. 

 Income Taxes
Current tax 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior 
periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax 
rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those 
that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance 
sheet date. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability 
method on temporary differences at the balance sheet 
date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.  
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable 
temporary differences, including asset revaluations. 
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible 
temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits 
from the excess of minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) 
over the regular corporate income tax (RCIT), and unused 
net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it 
is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences and 
carry forward of unused tax credits from MCIT and unused 
NOLCO can be utilized. 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at 
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 
utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed 
at each balance sheet date and are recognized to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset 
is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and 
tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
at the balance sheet date. 

 Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognized 
directly in equity is also recognized directly in equity and 
not in the statement of income. 

 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if 
a legally enforceable right exists to offset current tax 
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assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation 
authority. 

Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when an obligation (legal or 
constructive) is incurred as a result of a past event and 
where it is probable that an outflow of assets embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.   

 Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized but are disclosed 
in the financial statements unless the possibility of an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is 
remote.  Contingent assets are not recognized but are 
disclosed in the financial statements when an inflow of 
economic benefits is probable. 

Subsequent Events
 Any post-year-end events that provide additional 

information about the Company’s position at balance sheet 
date (adjusting event) are reflected in the financial 
statements.  Post year-end events that are not adjusting 
events, if any, are disclosed when material to the financial 
statements. 

3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance 
with PFRS requires the Company to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses and disclosure of 
contingent assets and contingent liabilities.  Future events 
may occur which will cause the assumptions used in 
arriving at the estimates to change.  The effects of any 
change in estimates are reflected in the financial 
statements as they become reasonably determinable. 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and 
are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The following are the critical judgments and key 
assumptions that have a significant risk of material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year: 

Judgments
(a)  Operating lease - Company as the lessee 
 The Company leases the premises it occupies.  The 

Company has determined that it does not retain all 
the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the 
premises. 

(b) Recognition of deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax 
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the losses can 
be utilized.  Significant management judgment is 
required to determine the amount of deferred tax 
assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely 
timing and level of future taxable profits together with 
future tax planning strategies. 

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company 
did not recognize deferred tax asset for all its 
temporary differences. 

 Estimates
(a) Impairment of nonfinancial assets 

The Company assesses impairment on assets 
whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may 
not be recoverable. The factors that the Company 
considers important which could trigger an 
impairment review include the following: 

 significant underperformance relative to 
expected historical or projected future 
operating results; 

 significant changes in the manner of use 
of the acquired assets or the strategy for 
overall business; and 

 significant negative industry or economic 
trends. 

The Company recognizes an impairment loss 
whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is 
computed using the value in use approach. 
Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual 
assets. 

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the carrying 
value of the investments in subsidiaries of the 
Company amounted to P=324,028,795.  Allowance for 
impairment losses amounted to P=115,101,791 as of 
December 31, 2007 and 2006.  No additional 
impairment is recognized in 2007 (see Note 6).  

(b) Estimated useful lives of property and equipment  
The Company estimates the useful lives of its 
property and equipment. This estimate is reviewed 
periodically to ensure that the period of depreciation 
and amortization are consistent with the expected 
pattern of economic benefits from the items of 
property and equipment. 

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the carrying 
value of the property and equipment of the Company 
amounted to P=2,588,472 million and P=4,232,680 
respectively (see Note 8).   

(c) Present value of retirement obligation 
The cost of defined benefit pension plan and other 
post-employment benefits is determined using 
actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation involves 
making assumptions about discount rates, expected 
rates of return on assets, future salary increases, 
mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to 
the long term nature of these plans, such estimates 
are subject to significant uncertainty.  The assumed 
discount rates were determined using the market 
yields on Philippine government bonds with terms 
consistent with the expected employee benefit 
payout as of statements of financial condition dates.  

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the present 
value of the retirement obligation of the Company 
amounted to P=276,650 and P=2,228,358 respectively 
(see Note 13). 

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents

This account consists of: 

2007 2006
Cash on hand and in bank P=1,696,812 P=74,105
Short-term placement 6,310,279 –

P=8,007,091 P=74,105

Cash in bank consists of regular current and savings 
deposits with annual interest rate of 0.50% in 2007 and 
2006. Short-term placement earned interest rates of 
3.50% to 3.75% in 2007. 

Interest earned on cash and equivalents amounted to 
P=80,542 and P=1,509 in 2007 and 2006 respectively. 
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5. Other Current Assets 

This account consists of: 

2007
2006

(As restated)
Creditable taxes P=3,177,499 P=3,177,499
Input value-added tax 426,902 1,110,145
Prepayments 204,314 21,355
Other receivables 66,719 67,271

P=3,875,434 P=4,376,270

Other receivables include advances to officers and employees with maturities of three months to one year and earn interest of 1.00% 
per month. 

6. Investments in Subsidiaries

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the components of the carrying values of investments in subsidiaries accounted for under the cost
method are as follows: 

% of ownership Amount
PDTC 97.72% P=286,005,586
PDEx 100.00% 150,000,000
PSSC 100.00% 3,125,000

439,130,586
Allowance for impairment losses (115,101,791)

P=324,028,795

The Company’s subsidiaries are all incorporated in the Philippines. 

In 2006, the Company invested an additional P=50.00 million in PDEx through the conversion of a portion of its advances to PDEx. 

The Company’s management made an assessment of its investment in PDEx and recognized an additional impairment loss of  
P=64.89 million in 2006.  No additional provision for impairment was recognized in 2007. 

7. Deposit for Future Stock Subscription 

The deposit for future stock subscription represents the first tranche of the planned P=50.00 million additional investment in PDEx.  The 
second tranche of  P=23.00 million was completed in February 2008. PDEx is in the process of completing the application requirement 
for SEC approval of its increase in authorized capital stock. 

8. Property and Equipment 

The composition of and changes in property and equipment at cost follow: 

2007 

Office Equipment 
Transportation

Equipment 
Furniture 

and Fixtures Total
Cost    
Balance at beginning of year P=322,847 P=7,145,455 P=84,205 P7,552,507
Additions 80,357 – 6,688 87,045
Disposals – (545,455) – (545,455)
Balance at end of year 403,204 6,600,000 90,893 7,094,097
Accumulated depreciation 
Balance at beginning of year 185,744 3,086,364 47,719 3,319,827
Depreciation 79,372 1,420,000 22,790 1,522,162
Disposals – (336,364) – (336,364)
Balance at end of year 265,116 4,170,000 70,509 4,505,625
Net book value P=138,088 P=2,430,000 P=20,384 P=2,588,472

2006 

Office Equipment 
Transportation

Equipment 
Furniture 

and Fixtures Total
Cost    
Balance at beginning of year P=247,259 P=7,145,455 P=84,205 P=7,476,919
Additions 75,588 – – 75,588
Balance at end of year 322,847 7,145,455 84,205 7,552,507
Accumulated depreciation 
Balance at beginning of year 100,454 1,657,273 25,598 1,783,325
Depreciation 85,290 1,429,091 22,121 1,536,502
Balance at end of year 185,744 3,086,364 47,719 3,319,827
Net book value P=137,103 P=4,059,091 P=36,486 P=4,232,680
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9. Accrued Expenses and Other Payables

This account consists of: 

2007
2006

(As Restated)
Accruals for: 
 Vacation leave benefits P=1,978,463 P=1,978,463
 Professional fees 338,098 3,524,414
Output VAT 1,748,614 2,622,922
Withholding tax payable 183,152 197,841
Others 142,223 127,776

P=4,390,550 P=8,451,416

10. Capital Stock

2007
2006

(As restated)
Common shares - P=100 par value 
 Authorized - 5,000,000 shares 
 Issued and outstanding 

Balance at beginning of the year - 4,277,464  
shares in 2007 and 2006 P=427,746,400 P=427,746,400

Issuance of shares - 379,036 shares in 2007 37,903,600 –
 Subscribed common stock – 343,500 shares 34,350,000 34,350,000
 Subscription receivable – 343,500 shares (34,350,000) (34,350,000)
Balance at the end of the year - 4,656,500  

shares in 2007 and 4,277,464 shares in 2006 465,650,000 P=427,746,400

The Company has raised capital over the past year.  In November 2007, the Company obtained an additional investment commitment 
of P=70.00 million from the Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. (PSE), an existing shareholder with 12.20% ownership interest, and a 
commitment to maintain a 20.00% stakeholding in the Company.  The first tranche of the investment commitment was by way of a 
Subscription Agreement for 356,500 common shares at par for a total cash investment of P=35,650,000. Golden Astra Capital, Inc., a 
new investor also subscribed to 22,536 shares of the Company’s common stock at par, for a total cash investment of P=2,253,600. The 
said subscriptions were paid on November 13, 2007 and December 5, 2007, respectively. 

11. Management Fees

In 2006, the Company charged management fees to its subsidiaries for supervision of their respective overall operations. 

The breakdown of management fee charged to the subsidiaries is shown below (see Note 15): 

PDEx P=7,285,897
PDTC 7,285,897
PSSC 7,285,897

P=21,857,691

In preparation for the development and launching of the new products of each subsidiary, the management team of each subsidiary
was reinforced.  Thus, in 2007, each subsidiary had its own management team with requisite skills and experience according to the 
requirements of the individual business function. Consequently no management fee was charged in 2007. 

12. Salaries and Employee Benefits

This account consists of: 

2007 2006
Salaries and wages  P=1,826,354 P=17,576,071
Retirement expense (Note 13) 744,592 1,323,939
Leave benefits 72,137 
Social security cost 34,430 53,300
Others 210,259 231,590

P=2,887,772 P=19,184,900

Others consist of employee benefits such as meals and transportation, insurance and recreation.  
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13. Retirement Plan

The Company has an unfunded noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan covering substantially all its officers and regular
employees.  Under this retirement plan, all covered officers and employees are entitled to cash benefits after satisfying certain age and 
service requirements. 

The following table shows the actuarial assumptions as of January 1, 2007 and 2006 used in determining the retirement benefit 
obligation of the Company: 

Actuarial Assumptions 

Date of Actuarial Valuation Report 

Average 
Remaining 

Working Life 

Expected 
Rate of 

Return on 
Assets 

Salary Rate 
Increase 

Discount 
Rate 

January 1, 2007 7 7.00% 4.00% 6.28%
January 1, 2006 19 10.00% 5.00% 10.59%

Discount rates used to arrive at the present value of the obligation as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 are 5.93% and 6.28% 
respectively. 

The amount of retirement benefit obligation recognized in the balance sheets is determined as follows: 

2007 2006
Present value of the obligation P=276,650 P= 2,228,358
Unrecognized actuarial gains 3,772,810 1,076,510
Retirement benefit obligation P=4,049,460 P=3,304,868

 The movements in retirement benefit obligation recognized in the books are as follows: 

2007 2006
Balance at beginning of the year P=3,304,868 P=1,980,930
Retirement expense 744,592 1,323,938
Balance at end of the year P=4,049,460 P=3,304,868

 The amounts of retirement benefits expense recognized in the statement of income (see Note 12) are as follows: 

2007 2006
Current service cost P=699,504 P= 1,079,830
Interest costs 139,941 239,842
Net actuarial losses (gains) recognized  

during the year (94,853) 4,266
Retirement benefits expense P=744,592 P= 1,323,938

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows: 

2007 2006
Defined benefit obligation at beginning of the year P=2,228,358 P=2,262,664
Interest cost 139,941 239,842
Current service cost 699,504 1,079,830
Actuarial gains (2,791,153) (1,353,978)
Defined benefit obligation at end of the year P=276,650 P=2,228,358

14. Income Taxes

Income taxes final taxes paid at the rate of 20% on gross interest income from cash deposits and short-term placements. 

Republic Act No. 9337, An Act Amending National Internal Revenue Code, provides that the RCIT rate shall be 35% until  
January 1, 2009. Starting January 1, 2009, the RCIT rate shall be 30.00%. 

The regulations also impose the MCIT of 2% on modified gross income and allow a NOLCO.  The NOLCO and the excess of the MCIT 
over the RCIT may be applied against taxable income and the income tax liability, respectively, over a three year period from the year 
of inception. 

A reconciliation of the statutory income tax to the effective income tax follows: 

2007 2006
Statutory income tax (P=2,191,709) (P=22,826,956)
Tax effects of: 
 Income subjected to final tax (12,082) (257)
 Unrecognized deferred tax assets 2,219,899 22,928,639
Effective income tax P=16,108 P=101,426
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The Company did not recognize the deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 since management does not expect the 
Company to have taxable profit that will be available against which the deferred tax assets can be utilized. The breakdown of 
unrecognized deferred tax assets is shown below: 

2007 2006
NOLCO P=9,631,386 P=9,278,502
Accrued retirement benefits 1,417,311 1,156,704
Accrued leave benefits 692,462 692,462
MCIT – 101,155

P=11,741,159 P=11,228,823

The Company’s NOLCO can be claimed as deduction from future taxable income within three years and is broken down as follows: 

Year Incurred Amount Expired Balance Expiry Year
2004 P=4,589,735 P=4,589,375 P=– 2007
2005 21,920,270 – 21,920,270 2008
2007 5,597,977 – 5,597,977 2010
 P=32,107,982 P=4,589,375 P=27,518,247 

15. Related Party Transactions

 In the ordinary course of business, the Company transacts with its related parties principally consisting of reimbursement of expenses 
and advances for working capital purposes.  The advances are non-interest bearing and are payable on demand.  In 2006, the 
Company also charged its subsidiaries management fees (see Note 11). The transactions and balances of accounts with related 
parties follow: 

   Elements of Transactions 
  Nature of Balance Sheet Amount Statement of Income Amount 
Related Party Relationship Transaction 2007 2006 2007 2006

PDTC Subsidiary Due to subsidiaries P=18,595,031 P=24,483,914 P=– P=– 
  Management fee – – – 7,285,897 

PDEx Subsidiary Due to subsidiaries 3,976,662 – – – 
  Due from subsidiaries – 6,271,123 – – 
  Management fee – – – 7,285,897 
PSSC  

Subsidiary Due from subsidiaries 7,168,311 7,288,161 – – 
  Management fee – – – 7,285,897 

Key Management Personnel Compensation
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 
are as follows:   

2007 2006
Salaries and wages P=1,261,780 P=17,331,980
Retirement benefits – 302,503
Other long-term benefits – 931,234

P=1,261,780 P=18,565,717

16. Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurement

The following table summarizes the carrying amounts and fair values by category of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities as of 
December 31, 2007 and 2006. 

2007 2006 
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

Loans and Receivables   
 Cash and cash equivalents P=8,007,091 P=8,007,091 P=74,105 P=74,105
 Due from subsidiaries 7,168,311 7,168,311 13,559,284 13,559,284
 Receivables included in other 
  current assets 66,719 66,719 67,271 67,271
Total 15,242,121 15,242,121 13,700,660 13,700,660

Other Financial Liabilities   
 Due to subsidiaries P=22,571,693 P=22,571,693 P=24,483,914 P=24,483,914
 Accrued expenses and other  
  payables (excluding taxes 
  payable)  2,958,784 2,958,784 5,630,653 5,630,653
Total P=25,530,477 P=25,530,477 P=30,114,567 P=30,114,567

The carrying amounts of the above financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of the 
financial instruments. 
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17. Financial Risk and Capital Management Policies and 
Objectives

The main risks arising from the Company’s financial 
instruments are credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company 
has no interest bearing borrowings and foreign currency 
denominated assets and liabilities, hence, it is not 
sensitive to interest rate and foreign exchange rate 
changes.     

The following provides the overall risk management 
principles and process that governs the risk management 
of the Company and its subsidiaries (the Group).  

Risk Management Principles/Process
The Company’s risk management process hinges on the 
following principles: 

 The Board of Directors (BOD) establishes the 
Company’s risk philosophy and culture, approves the 
risk policies and sets the risk appetite for the group. 

 The Executive Committee (Excom) is accountable to 
the BOD for the risk taken by the businesses. 

 The risk takers / each business initially identifies and 
evaluates market and products or services 
opportunities, subject to further evaluation of the 
Risk Management group and other specific risk 
function group, e.g., Compliance and Legal, for the 
attendant risks. 

 Management of risks is done in a coordinated 
manner within the group. 

 Risk management is an independent function 
reporting to the Risk Management Committee (RMC) 
where the Company’s Chief Operating Officer (COO) 
is a member. 

Risk Management Organization
The Company’s risk management organization consists of 
the following: 

1. The BOD is the risk policy maker and approving 
authority of the Company.  The BOD has created 
and appointed Standing Committees with at least 
one Independent Director, to assist in performing its 
functions. These include the RMC and Audit 
Committee. 

The RMC sets the policy standards and guidelines 
for the management and assessment of group-wide 
risk, with the ultimate objective of ascertaining that 
risk exposures of the Company fall within the capital 
collectively available and allocated to the juridical 
entities.  The chairman of the RMC is an 
Independent Director.  The Chief Risk Officer is a 
member of the Committee. 

The Audit Committee is the oversight of the financial 
reporting process, the internal control process as 
well as the hiring and performance of external 
auditors.  The Chairman of the Audit Committee is 
an Independent Director. 

2. The risk functions of identifying, evaluating and 
measuring risks and exposures attendant to the 
products and services provided by the Company, as 
well as recommending limits is performed by the 
Risk Management Unit (RMU).  It also establishes 
standards to monitor and report compliance with 
limits. 

Complementing the RMU is the Product Committee.  
The Product Committee reviews existing and 
propose products to ensure that all risk taking 
personnel have properly identified and analyzed the 
relevant risks.  It recommends to the Excom the 
approval of the proposed product. 

3. The Company’s Operations Support, Compliance, 
Legal, Financial Control, and Audit groups support 
our risk management function in risk control.  They 
operate independently from the business units and 
the risk management functions.  The Operations 
Support performs risk reporting, through generation 
of risk reports, and the control process of risk 
management.  The Company’s Legal and 
Compliance ensure that all laws and regulations are 
complied with and contracts entered into by the 
Company are enforceable.  The Company’s 
Financial Control ensures that expenses and 
revenues are within budget and are properly 
approved and monitored. The Audit group shall 
ensure compliance of our financial accounting and 
internal control processes with internal and 
regulatory standards. 

4. The risk takers are the officers of respective 
business units handling the products.  These are the 
units that identify market/product opportunities and 
sponsors product or service development or 
proposals. 

Credit Risk
As the Company trades only with related parties, there is no 
requirement for collateral.  Receivable balances are 
monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the 
Company’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.   

Credit risk exposures 
The table below shows the Company’s gross maximum 
exposure to credit risk.   

2007 2006
Cash and cash equivalents 

(excluding cash on hand) P=8,007,091 P=74,105
Due from subsidiaries 7,168,311 13,559,284
Receivables included in other 

current assets 3,875,435 4,376,270
P=19,050,837 P=18,009,659

Cash and cash equivalents are considered high grade as 
management trades only with top banks in the Philippines.   

The Company has no past due financial assets as of 
December 31, 2007. 

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to 
meet its payment obligations when they fall due.  To 
mitigate this risk management prepares a forecast of the 
business cash flows for the year.    

To minimize market risks that could adversely affect 
management of liquidity position and because the Company 
is not in the business of trading securities it is the 
management’s policy to invest excess cash and cash 
equivalents in liquid and non-speculative financial 
instruments, such as term deposits and government 
securities, with tenors that match its funding schedule. 

All financial liabilities of the Company as of  
December 31, 2007 are payable on demand. 

Capital Management
The Company’s capital management activities seek to 
ensure that it maintains a healthy capital ratio in order to 
support its businesses and maximize shareholders value by 
optimizing the level and mix of its capital resources.  
Decisions on the allocation of capital resources are 
performed as part of the strategic planning review.  The 
Company also manages its capital structure and makes 
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.
The Company’s objective is to ensure that there are no 
known events that may trigger direct or contingent financial 
obligation that is material to the Company, including default 
or acceleration of an obligation.   
The Company monitors capital using the debt to equity 
ratio, which is total liabilities divided by total equity.  The 
Company’s total liabilities include current and non-current 
liabilities.  Equity comprises all components of equity. 
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The debt to equity ratios as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows: 

2007 2006
Total liabilities P=31,011,703 P=36,240,199
Total equity 341,832,066 310,206,601
Debt to equity ratio 0.09 0.12

18. Commitments and Contingencies

The following are the significant commitments and contingencies involving the Company: 

Operating Lease Commitments – Company as Lessee
The Company is a lessee under a non-cancellable operating lease agreement covering its office and parking spaces for a period of five 
years.  Monthly rentals are apportioned to the Company and other related parties based on the size of the area occupied. 

Total rent expense recognized on this operating lease amounted to P=93,144 in 2007 and P=705,908 in 2006.  

In connection with this operating lease, the Company paid security deposits which amounted to P=175,666 in 2007 and 2006 and is 
presented under Other Non-current Asset account in the balance sheet. 

The future minimum rentals payable for the operating lease as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:  

2007 2006
Within a year P=112,229 P=90,772
After one year but not more than five years 87,498 163,965

P=199,727 P=254,737

19. Subsequent Events 

On January 30, 2008, the SEC approved the Company’s application for increase in capital stock from P=500.00 million to  
P=750.00 million with a par value of P=100.00 per share.  

With the approved increase in authorized capital stock, Singapore Exchange Limited (SGX) committed to invest  
P=150.00 million, which is 20% of the Company’s authorized capital stock.  On January 30, 2008, SGX remitted its initial investment of  
P=125.00 million (1.25 million shares). 

The Company completed the second tranche of its planned P=50.00 million additional investment in PDEx.  The investment amounting 
to P=23.00 million was paid by the Company in February 2008.  

20. Prior Period Adjustments 

The deficit balance as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 were restated to properly account for rent expense using the straight line
method. Deficit as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 was reduced by P=134,282 and P=270,170, respectively.  

Certain amounts in the 2006 financial statements were reclassified to other accounts to conform to the 2007 financial statement
presentation. 
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The Board of Directors 
Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. (the Company), a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp., which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2007, and the statement of income,
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory notes.  The financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended December 31, 2006, which are presented for 
comparative purposes, were audited by other auditors whose report dated April 24, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on those
statements.  The opinion of the other auditors, however, does not cover the restatements of those statements as discussed in Note 22 to the 
financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards.  This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Philippine Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. as 
of December 31, 2007, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards. 

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO. 

Josephine Adrienne A. Abarca 
Partner 
CPA Certificate No. 92126 
SEC Accreditation No. 0466-A 
Tax Identification No. 163-257-145 
PTR No. 0014603, January 3, 2008, Makati City 

April 22, 2008 

PHILIPPINE DEALING & EXCHANGE CORP.

Independent Auditors’ Report
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                      December 31 

2007 

2006
(As restated -

Note 22)
ASSETS 
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) P=2,647,657 P=17,772,580
Trade and other receivables (Note 5) 8,566,921 6,386,283
Due from related parties (Note 18) 3,976,662 869,557
Other current assets (Note 6) 14,679,621 5,986,183
  Total Current Assets 29,870,861 31,014,603
Non-current Assets 
Property and equipment - net (Note 7) 12,493,704 11,682,648 
Software and system development costs (Note 8) 119,361,678 141,895,244 
Other non-current assets (Note 21) 923,530 521,718

Total Non-current Assets 132,778,912 154,099,610 
P=162,649,773 P=185,114,213 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
LIABILITIES 
Current Liabilities 
Accrued expenses and other payables (Note 9) P=18,425,886 P=27,536,386
Current portion of deferred income (Note 10) 28,532,456 25,814,268
Due to related parties (Note 18) 78,314,491 51,854,463
  Total Current Liabilities 125,272,833 105,205,117
Non-current Liabilities
Non-current portion of deferred income 19,000,342 43,119,506
Retirement benefit obligation (Note 16) 4,167,988 2,346,822
  Total Non-current Liabilities 23,168,330 45,466,328

148,441,163 150,671,445

EQUITY
Capital stock (Note 11) 150,000,000 150,000,000
Deposit for future stock subscription (Note 11) 27,000,000 –
Deficit (162,791,390)  (115,557,232)
  Total Equity 14,208,610 34,442,768

P=162,649,773 P=185,114,213

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

PHILIPPINE DEALING & EXCHANGE CORP.
(A WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.)

Balance Sheet
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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                            Years Ended December 31 

2007 

2006
(As restated -

Note 22)

SERVICE INCOME (Note 12) P=65,387,571 P=32,960,499

OTHER INCOME (Note 13) 2,483,812 1,621,407
67,871,383 34,581,906

COSTS AND OPERATING EXPENSES  
Cost of services (Note 14) 102,270,527 82,980,483
Salaries and employee benefits (Note 15) 7,456,698 5,484,088
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 7 and 8) 1,914,190 1,553,458
Professional fees 914,879 73,961
Interest 579,427 626,589
Utilities 367,456 510,332
Taxes and licenses 344,180 651,086
Rent (Note 21) 230,774 104,789
Insurance 159,238 176,963
Outside services 155,053 230,961
Supplies 145,462 79,530
Advertising expense 52,053 51,571
Management fee (Note 18) – 7,285,897
Other operating expenses 505,947 81,228

115,095,884 99,890,936

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX (47,224,501) (65,309,030)

PROVISION FOR FINAL TAX (Note 17) 9,657 35,997

NET LOSS (P=47,234,158) (P=65,345,027)

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

PHILIPPINE DEALING & EXCHANGE CORP.
(A WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.)

Statement of Income
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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Common 
Stock 

(Note 11) 

Deposit for 
Future Stock 
Subscription 

(Note 11) Deficit 
Total

Equity
Balance at January 1, 2007, 
 as previously reported P=150,000,000 P=– (P=115,101,791) P=34,898,209 
Prior period adjustments (Note 22) –  (455,441) (455,441)
Balance at January 1, 2007, as restated 150,000,000 – (115,557,232) 34,442,768 
Subscription of common stock (Note 11) – 27,000,000 – 27,000,000
Net loss for the year – – (47,234,158)  (47,234,158)
Balance at December 31, 2007 P=150,000,000 P=27,000,000 (P=162,791,390) P=14,208,610

Balance at January 1, 2006 P=100,000,000 P=– (P=50,212,205) P=49,787,795
Additional issuance of common stock 
 (Note 11) 50,000,000 

–
– 50,000,000

Net loss for the year  – – (65,345,027) (65,345,027)
Balance at December 31, 2006, as restated P=150,000,000 P=– (P=115,557,232) P=34,442,768 

    
See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

PHILIPPINE DEALING & EXCHANGE CORP.
(A WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.)

Statement of Changes in Equity
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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                       Years Ended December 31 

2007 

2006
(As restated -

Note 22)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
Loss before income tax (P=47,224,501) (P=65,309,030)
Adjustments for: 
 Interest income (104,671) (179,985)
 Unrealized foreign currency exchange gain (2,379,141) (1,440,101)
 Depreciation and amortization 38,283,332 31,068,768
Operating loss before working capital changes  (11,424,981) (35,860,348)
 Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
  Decrease (increase) in: 
   Trade and other receivables (2,182,150) (3,444,597)
   Other current assets (8,693,438) 4,199,332
   Due from related parties (3,107,105)  (3,894,306)
   Other non-current assets (401,812) 887,054
  Increase (decrease) in:: 
   Accrued expenses and other payables (6,731,359) 3,392,024
   Deferred income (21,400,976) 67,470,474
   Retirement benefit obligation 1,821,166 870,129
   Due to related parties  26,460,028 –
Cash generated from (used) operations (25,660,627) 33,619,762
Cash paid for income taxes (9,657) (35,997)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (25,670,284) 33,583,765

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 106,183 151,187
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment (Note 7) – 80,636
Capitalized payments of software and system development  costs (Note 8) (11,574,797) (12,924,946)
Acquisitions of property and equipment (Note 7) (4,986,025) (5,588,005)
Net cash used in investing activities (16,454,639) (18,281,128)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Deposit for future stock subscription 27,000,000 –

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (15,124,923) 15,302,637
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 17,772,580 2,469,943
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END  OF YEAR P=2,647,657 P=17,772,580

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

PHILIPPINE DEALING & EXCHANGE CORP.
(A WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.)

Statement of Cash Flows
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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1. Corporate Information

Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. (the Company), a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. (the Parent 
Company), is a domestic corporation incorporated in the Philippines 
on June 17, 2003.  It started commercial operation in April 2005. 

The registered office of the Company, which is also the principal 
place of business, is located at the 37th Floor, The Enterprise Center, 
6766 Ayala Avenue, Makati City. 

The Company is organized to primarily engage in the business of 
providing and maintaining an automated platform and infrastructure 
for the issuance, trading, dealing, brokering and exchange of fixed-
income securities, monetary instruments and their derivatives 
including but not limited to bonds, notes, debentures, bills, 
commercial papers, participations, trusts, asset-backed securities, 
and quasi-debt securities, as well as currencies, forwards or other 
derivatives. 

The creation of a centralized electronic marketplace for trading fixed-
income securities has always been at the core of the Company’s 
efforts. With close to three (3) years in operations, the Company has 
incurred operating losses mainly due to the delay in the 
implementation and use of the trading system.  

From the initial launch of its Inter-Dealer Market, the Company has 
widened its market offerings to include the enrolling and listing of 
corporate issues and the Professional and Public Markets in their use 
of the trading systems - bilateral and multilateral. The Company’s 
products and markets are now in full implementation to meet the 
regulatory mandate as a Self-Regulatory Organization (SRO) and as 
an operator of an over-the-counter (OTC) market as defined under 
the OTC Rules, with clearing authority for all trades conducted on 
these platforms. With the launch of its Public Market last February 
2008, the Company expects to increase its number of participants 
and to capture the trades of the investing public.  

To complement the spot market, the Company has developed its 
liquidity enhancement programs such as Securities Lending (SLT) 
and Repurchase (Repo) Agreements. The Philippine Securities and 
Exchange Commission (SEC) approved the Repo Program Rules in 
September 2007, while the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) issued 
no-objection letters covering the SLT and Repo Programs in July 
2007 and January 2008, respectively, thereby allowing its regulated 
entities to participate in both programs.    

Being an integral part of the PDS Group of Companies whose vision 
is to establish a fixed-income capital market infrastructure, the Parent 
Company is financially committed to support the Company’s 
operations as seen in its additional investment in the Company.  The 
P=27.0 million conversion of advances to deposit for future stock 
subscription in 2007 represents the first tranche of the planned P=50.0 
million additional investment in PDEx. The second tranche of the 
additional investment amounting to P=23.0 million was completed in 
February 2008. 

The Parent Company recently increased its authorized capital to 
 P=750 million for strategic tie-ups that widened its strategic thrusts 
beyond local borders.  The Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) 
increased its shareholdings in the Parent Company, with a 
commitment to maintain a 20% stake.  The Parent Company likewise 
received an investment from Singapore Exchange Ltd. (SGX) with a 
commitment to maintain a 20% equity stake.   

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 
December 31, 2007 were authorized for issue by the Audit Committee 
on April 22, 2008. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a 
historical cost basis.  The Company’s financial statements are 
presented in Philippine pesos, the Company’s functional and 
presentation currency. 

Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in 
compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS).  
PFRS includes statements named PFRS and Philippine Accounting 
Standards (PAS), including interpretations issued by the Financial 
Reporting Standards Council (FRSC). 

Changes in Accounting Policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the 
previous financial year, except for the adoption of the following 
amended PAS and new PFRS starting January 1, 2007: 

 PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, requires 
disclosures that enable users of the financial statements to 
evaluate the significance of the Company’s financial statements 
and the nature and extent of risks arising from those financial 
instruments.  It requires the disclosure of qualitative and 
quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from 
financial instruments, including specified minimum disclosures 
about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, as well as 
sensitivity analysis to market risk.  It replaces PAS 30, 
Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar 
Financial Institutions, and the disclosure requirements in PAS 
32, Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation.  It is 
applicable to all entities that report under PFRS.  The adoption 
of this standard resulted in the inclusion of additional 
disclosures in the financial statements such as market risk 
sensitivity analysis, maturity profile of financial liabilities, and 
credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor 
impaired (see Note 20). 

The FRSC has approved an amendment to the transition 
provisions of PFRS 7 that gives transitional relief with respect to 
the presentation of comparative information for the new risks 
disclosures about the nature and extent of risks arising from 
financial instruments in paragraphs 31 to 42 of PFRS 7.  
Accordingly, an entity that applies PFRS 7 for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2007 need not present 
comparative information unless previously required by PAS 30 
or PAS 32. 

 Amendment to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements,
requires the Company to make new disclosures to enable users 
of the financial statements to evaluate the Company’s 
objectives, policies and processes for managing capital.  These 
new disclosures are shown in Note 20. 

The following Philippine Interpretations from the International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) are 
effective for annual periods beginning January 1, 2007 but did 
not have any impact on the financial statements of the 
Company:  

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 8, Scope of PFRS 2, requires 
PFRS 2, Share-based Payment, to be applied to any 
arrangements in which the entity cannot identify specifically 
some or all of the goods received, in particular where equity 
instruments are issued for consideration which appears to be 
less than fair value.   

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded 
Derivatives, states that the date to assess the existence of an 
embedded derivative is the date an entity first becomes a party 
to the contract, with reassessment only if there is a change to 
the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows.   

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 10, Interim Financial Reporting 
and Impairment, requires that an entity must not reverse an 
impairment loss recognized in the previous interim period in 
respect of goodwill or an investment in either an equity 
instrument or a financial asset carried at cost. 

PHILIPPINE DEALING & EXCHANGE CORP.
(A WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.)

Notes to Financial Statements
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Future Changes in Accounting Policies
The Company did not early adopt the following standards, Philippine 
Interpretations and amendments that have been approved by the 
FRSC but are not yet effective: 

 PFRS 8, Operating Segments, becomes effective for financial 
years beginning on or after January 1, 2009, and will replace 
PAS 14, Segment Reporting.  It adopts a management 
approach to reporting segment information.  PFRS 8 is required 
for adoption only by entities where debt or equity instruments 
are publicly traded, or are in the process of filing with the 
Securities and Exchange Corporation (SEC) for purposes of 
issuing any class of instrument in a public market. The 
Company is not required and will not adopt PFRS 8. 

 Amendment to PAS 1, Amendment on Statement of 
Comprehensive Income (effective for annual periods on or after 
January 1, 2009)

 This requires that statement of changes in equity shall include 
only transactions with owners while all non-owner changes will 
be presented in equity as a single line with details included in a 
separate statement.  Owners are defined as holders of 
instruments classified as equity. 

This amendment also provides for the introduction of a new 
statement of comprehensive income that combines all items of 
income and expense recognized in the statement of income 
together with “Other comprehensive income”.  The revisions 
specify what is  included in other comprehensive income, such 
as gains and losses on AFS financial assets, actuarial gains 
and losses on defined benefit pension plans and changes in the 
asset revaluation reserve.  Entities can choose to present all 
items in one statement, or to present two linked statements, a 
separate statement of income and a statement of 
comprehensive income.  The Company will assess the impact 
of this Amendment on its current manner of reporting all items 
of income and expenses. 

 Revised PAS 23, Borrowing Costs, becomes effective for 
financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2009.  The 
standard has been revised to require capitalization of borrowing 
costs when such costs relate to a qualifying asset.  A qualifying 
asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of 
time to get ready for its intended use or sale.  The Company is 
currently assessing the impact of the interpretation on the 
financial statements. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 11, PFRS 2 - Group and 
Treasury Share Transactions, becomes effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after March 1, 2007.  This requires 
arrangements whereby an employee is granted rights to an 
entity’s equity instruments to be accounted for as an equity-
settled scheme by the entity even if (a) the entity chooses or is 
required to buy those equity instruments (e.g., treasury shares) 
from another party, or (b) the shareholders of the entity provide 
the equity instruments needed.  It also provides guidance on 
how subsidiaries, in their separate financial statements, account 
for such schemes when their employees receive rights to the 
equity instruments of the parent.  The Company currently does 
not have any stock option plan and therefore, does not expect 
this interpretation to have significant impact on its financial 
statements. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 12, Service Concession 
Arrangements, becomes effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2008.  This interpretation, which covers 
contractual arrangements arising from entities providing public-
to-private service concession arrangements, is not relevant to 
the Company. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty 
Programmes, becomes effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after July 1, 2008.  This interpretation requires customer 
loyalty award credits to be accounted for as a separate 
component of the sales transactions in which they are granted 
and therefore part of the fair value of the consideration received 
is allocated to the award credits and deferred over the period 
that the award credits are fulfilled.  The Company expects that 
this Interpretation will have no impact on the financial 
statements as no such schemes currently exist. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 14, PAS 19 - The Limit on a 
Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and 
their Interaction, becomes effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2008.  This interpretation 
provides guidance on how to assess the limit on the amount of 
surplus in a defined benefit scheme that can be recognized as 
an asset under PAS 19, Employee Benefits.  This Interpretation 
is not relevant to the Company. 

 Cash and Cash Equivalents
 For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 

include cash and other cash items with original maturities of three 
months or less from dates of placements that are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value. 

Financial Instruments 
Date of recognition
The Company recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the 
balance sheet when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. In the case of a regular way purchase or sale of 
financial assets, recognition and derecognition, as applicable, is done 
using trade date accounting.  

Initial recognition of financial instruments
Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, which is the 
fair value of the consideration given (in case of an asset) or received 
(in case of a liability).  The initial measurement of financial 
instruments, except for those designated at fair value through profit 
and loss (FVPL), includes transaction cost. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Company classifies its financial 
instruments in the following categories: financial assets and financial 
liabilities at FVPL, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity (HTM) 
investments, available-for-sale (AFS) investments and other financial 
liabilities.  The classification depends on the purpose for which the 
instruments are acquired and whether they are quoted in an active 
market.  Management determines the classification at initial 
recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this 
classification at every reporting date. 

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company does not have 
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL, HTM investments 
and AFS investments. 

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  After 
initial measurement, loans and receivables are carried at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method, less any allowance for 
impairment.  Gains and losses are recognized in the Company’s 
statement of income when the loans and receivables are 
derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization 
process.  Loans and receivables are classified as current assets 
when the Company expects to realize or collect the asset within 
twelve months from balance sheet date.  Otherwise, these are 
classified as non-current asset. 

Classified under this category are the Company’s Trade and other 
receivables and Due from related parties.

Other financial liabilities 
This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held for 
trading or not designated as at FVPL at the inception of the liability.  
These include liabilities arising from operations or borrowings. 

The financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and are 
subsequently carried at amortized cost, taking into account the impact 
of applying the effective interest method of amortization (or accretion) 
for any related premium, discount and any directly attributable 
transaction costs. 

This category includes Accrued expenses and other payables and 
Due to related parties.

Determination of fair value 
The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the 
balance sheet date is based on their quoted market prices or dealer 
price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short 
positions), without any deduction for transactions costs.  When 
current bid and asking prices are not available, the price of the most 
recent transaction is used since it provides evidence of the current fair 
value as long as there has not been a significant change in economic 
circumstances since the time of the transaction. 

For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the 
fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation techniques.  
Valuation techniques include net present value techniques, 
comparison to similar instruments to which market observable prices 
exist, and other relevant valuation models. 

‘Day 1’ profit 
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from 
the fair value from other observable current market transactions in the 
same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables 
include only data from an observable market, the Company 
recognizes the difference between the transaction price and the fair 
value (a ‘Day 1’ profit) in the statement of income unless it qualifies 
for recognition as some other type of asset.  In cases where use is 
made of data which is not observable, the difference between the 
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transaction price and the model value is only recognized in the 
statement of income when the inputs become observable or when the 
instrument is derecognized.  For each transaction, the Company 
determines the appropriate method of recognizing the ‘Day 1’ profit 
amount. 

Embedded derivative  
An embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and 
accounted for as a derivative if all of the following conditions are 
met: a) the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded 
derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and 
risks of the host contract; b) a separate instrument with the same 
terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a 
derivative; and c) the hybrid or combined instrument is not 
recognized at FVPL. Reassessment only occurs if there is a change 
in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows 
that would otherwise be required. 

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial asset 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or 
part of a group of financial assets) is derecognized where: 

1. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 
2. the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the 

asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without 
material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 
arrangement; or 

3. the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows 
from the asset and either 
(a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained the risk and 
rewards of the asset but has transferred the control of the asset.  

 Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows 
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and 
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is 
recognized to the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement in 
the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee 
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of original 
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration that the Company could be required to repay. 

Financial liability 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the 
liability is discharged or cancelled or has expired.  Where an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as 
a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new 
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognized in the statement of income. 

Impairment of Financial Assets 
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is 
objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is 
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to 
be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as 
a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event 
(or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably 
estimated.  Evidence of impairment may include indications that a 
customer or a group of customers is experiencing significant financial 
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the 
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is 
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as 
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 

In relation to Trade and other receivables, a provision for impairment 
losses is made when there is objective evidence (such as the 
probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the 
debtor) that the Company will not be able to collect all of the amounts 
due under the original terms of the invoice.  The carrying amount of 
receivables is reduced through the use of an allowance account.  
Impaired debts are derecognized when they are assessed as 
uncollectible.   

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases 
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized 
impairment loss is reversed.  Any subsequent reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognized in the statement of income, to the 
extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its 
amortized cost at the reversal date. 

Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount 
reported in the balance sheet if, and only if, there is a currently 
enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is 
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.  This is not generally the case with master 
netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are 
presented gross in the balance sheet. 

Property and Equipment
Depreciable properties such as transportation equipment, furniture 
and fixtures, office equipment, leasehold improvements and 
exchange system are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and amortization and any impairment in value. 

The initial cost of property and equipment consists of its purchase 
price, including import duties, taxes and any directly attributable costs 
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its 
intended use. Expenditures incurred after items of property and 
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and 
maintenance are normally charged against operations in the period in 
which the costs are incurred. In situations where it can be clearly 
demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in 
the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of 
an item of property and equipment beyond its originally assessed 
standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as an 
additional cost of property and equipment. 

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives of the respective assets.  Leasehold 
improvements are amortized over the shorter of the terms of the 
covering leases and the estimated useful lives of the improvements. 

The estimated useful lives follow: 

 Useful Lives in
Years

Office equipment 3-5
Leasehold improvements 5
Furniture and fixtures 3-5
Transportation equipment 5
Exchange System 7

The useful lives and the depreciation and amortization method are 
reviewed periodically to ensure that the period and the method of 
depreciation and amortization are consistent with the expected 
pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment. 

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or 
when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of 
income in the year the asset is derecognized. 

Software and System Development Costs
 Software and system development costs include cost of computer 

software and system development costs which are accounted for 
under the cost model.  The cost of the asset is the amount of cash or 
cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other considerations 
given up to acquire an asset at the time of its acquisition or 
production.  

 Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of 
the costs incurred to acquire and install the specific software.  Costs 
associated with maintaining computer software are expensed as 
incurred. 

Costs associated with research activities are expensed in the 
statement of income as they occur.  Costs that are directly 
attributable to the development phase of the new customized 
software for information technology and telecommunications systems 
as well as the exchange system are recognized as intangibles 
provided they meet the following recognition requirements: 

a. demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective product 
for internal use or sale;  

b. the software and system development costs will generate 
probable economic benefits through internal use or sale; 

c. sufficient technical, financial and other resources are available 
for completion; and 

d. the software and system development costs can be reliably 
measured. 

Directly attributable costs include employee costs incurred on 
software and system development along with an appropriate portion 
of relevant overheads.  The costs of internally generated software 
developments are recognized as intangible assets; they are subject to 
the same measurement as externally acquired.  However, until 
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completion of the development project, the asset are subject to 
impairment testing.  Amortization commences upon completion of 
asset. 

 Capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of 7 years.  In addition, software and system 
development costs are subject to impairment testing. 

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is 
an indication that the Company’s software and system development 
cost and property and equipment may be impaired.  When an 
indicator of impairment exists or when an annual impairment testing 
for an asset is required, the Company makes an estimate of 
recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
(or cash-generating unit’s) fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does 
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from 
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable 
amount is assessed as part of the cash generating unit to which it 
belongs. Where the carrying amount of an asset (or cash generating 
unit) exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset (or cash generating 
unit) is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable 
amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset (or cash generating unit).   

An impairment loss is charged to operations in the period in which it 
arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which 
case the impairment loss is charged to the revaluation increment of 
the said asset. 

A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized.  If 
that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its 
recoverable amount.  That increased amount cannot exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in 
prior years.  Such reversal is recognized in the statement of income 
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.  After such a reversal, 
the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the 
asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a 
systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

 Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can be 
reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must 
also be met before revenue is recognized: 

Service 
Service income is recognized when the services are rendered. 

Interest  
Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis computed on 
the outstanding principal balance using the applicable effective 
interest rate. 

Foreign Currency Transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the 
functional currency rate at the date of the transaction. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange at the 
balance sheet date.  All differences are taken to the Company’s 
statement of income.  Non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rate as at the date of initial transaction.  Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency shall be translated 
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was 
determined. 

Leases
 The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease 

is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an 
assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is 
dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.  A reassessment is 
made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies: 

a. There is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or 
extension of the arrangement; 

b. A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that 
term of the renewal or extension was initially included in the 
lease term; 

c. There is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is 
dependent on a specified asset; or 

d. There is a substantial change to the asset. 

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or 
cease from the date when the change in circumstances gave rise to 
the reassessment for scenarios a, c or d above, and at the date of 
renewal or extension period for scenario b. 

Operating lease
Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the 
statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Retirement Benefits
The Company has a noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan. 

The retirement cost of the Company is determined using the 
projected unit credit method.  Under this method, the current service 
cost is the present value of retirement benefits payable in the future 
with respect to services rendered in the current period.  The liability 
recognized in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension 
plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the 
balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets, if any, together 
with adjustments for unrecognized actuarial gains or losses and past 
service costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by 
an independent actuary using the projected unit credit method. The 
present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by 
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rate on 
government bonds that have terms to maturity approximating the 
terms of the related retirement liability. Actuarial gains and losses 
arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions are credited to or charged against income when the net 
cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses at the end of the 
previous period exceeded 10% of the higher of the defined benefit 
obligation and the fair value of plan assets at that date.  These 
excess gains or losses are recognized over the expected average 
remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plan. 

Past-service costs, if any, are recognized immediately in income, 
unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the 
employees remaining in service for a specified period of time (the 
vesting period). In this case, the past-service costs are amortized on 
a straight-line basis over the vesting period. 

The defined benefit asset or liability comprises the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation less past service costs not yet 
recognized and less the fair value of plan assets out of which the 
obligations are to be settled directly.  The value of any asset is 
restricted to the sum of any past service cost not yet recognized and 
the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of 
refunds from the plan or reductions in the future contributions to the 
plan. 

 Income Taxes
Current Tax 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are 
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 
taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the 
amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance sheet date. 

Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method on 
temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes.   

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary 
differences, including asset revaluations. Deferred tax assets are 
recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of 
unused tax credits from the excess of minimum corporate income tax 
(MCIT) over the regular corporate income tax (RCIT), and unused net 
operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences and carry forward of unused tax 
credits from MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each 
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or 
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred 
tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are 
recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future 
taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realized or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 
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 Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognized directly in 
equity is also recognized directly in equity and not in the statement of 
income. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally 
enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and 
the same taxation authority. 

Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when an obligation (legal or constructive) 
is incurred as a result of a past event and where it is probable that an 
outflow of assets embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.   

 Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized but are disclosed in the 
financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits is remote.  Contingent assets are not 
recognized but are disclosed in the financial statements when an 
inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

Subsequent Events
 Any post year-end events that provide additional information about 

the Company’s position at balance sheet date (adjusting event) are 
reflected in the financial statements.  Post year-end events that are 
not adjusting events, if any, are disclosed when material to the 
financial statements. 

3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with PFRS 
requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of resources, liabilities, income and expenses 
and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities.  Future 
events may occur which will cause the assumptions used in arriving 
at the estimates to change.  The effects of any change in estimates 
are reflected in the financial statements as they become reasonably 
determinable. 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on 
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

The following are the critical judgments and key assumptions that 
have a significant risk of material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year: 

Judgment
(a) Recognition of deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the losses can be utilized. Significant 
management judgment is required to determine the amount of 
deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the 
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with 
future tax planning strategies.  

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company did not 
recognize deferred tax asset for all its temporary differences. 

Estimates
(a) Impairment of nonfinancial assets 
  The Company assesses impairment on assets whenever events 

or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
of an asset may not be recoverable. The factors that the 
Company considers important which could trigger an 
impairment review include the following: 

 significant underperformance relative to expected historical 
or projected future operating results; 

 significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired 
assets or the strategy for overall business; and 

 significant negative industry or economic trends. 

  The Company recognizes an impairment loss whenever the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is computed using the value in use 
approach. Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual 
assets. 

 No impairment loss was recognized in 2007 and 2006. 

(b) Estimated useful lives of property and equipment  
The Company estimates the useful lives of its property and 
equipment.  This estimate is reviewed periodically to ensure 
that the period of depreciation and amortization is consistent 
with the expected pattern of economic benefits from the items of 
property and equipment.   

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the carrying value of 
property and equipment amounted to P=12.5 million and  
P=11.7 million, respectively (see Note 7). 

(c)   Estimated useful lives of software and system development 
costs
The Company estimates the useful life of software and system 
development costs based on the period over which the assets 
are expected to be available for use.  The estimated useful lives 
of software and system development costs are reviewed 
periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous 
estimates due to technical or commercial obsolescence and 
legal or other limits on the use of the assets.  In addition, 
estimation of the useful lives of software and system 
development costs is based on collective assessment of 
industry practice, internal technical evaluation and experience 
with similar assets.  It is possible, however that future results of 
operations could be materially affected by changes in estimates 
brought about by changes in factors mentioned above.  The 
amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would 
be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances.  A 
reduction in the estimated useful lives of the software and 
system development costs would increase recorded operating 
expenses and decrease non-current assets. 

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the carrying value of 
software and system development costs amounted to  
P=119.3 million and P=141.9 million, respectively, for the 
Company (see Note 8).

(d) Present value of retirement obligation 
The cost of defined benefit pension plan and other post-
employment benefits is determined using actuarial valuations. 
The actuarial valuation involves making assumptions about 
discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary 
increases, mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to 
the long term nature of these plans, such estimates are subject 
to significant uncertainty.  The assumed discount rates were 
determined using the market yields on Philippine government 
bonds with terms consistent with the expected employee 
benefit payout as of balance sheet dates.  

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the present value of the 
retirement obligation of the Company amounted to P=3.7 million 
and P=4.7 million, respectively (see Note 16). 

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents

This account consists of: 

2007 2006 
Cash on hand and in banks P=2,647,657 P=1,821,514 
Short-term placements – 15,951,066 

P=2,647,657 P=17,772,580 

Cash in banks include regular current and savings deposits with annual interest rates ranging from 0.15% to 0.88% in 2007 and 2006.  Short-term 
placements earned interest rates ranging from 1.00% to 2.00% in 2007 and from 2.50% to 4.00% in 2006. 
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5. Trade and Other Receivables 

This account consists of: 

2007 2006 
Trade receivables P=8,150,473 P=5,765,623 
Advances to officers and employees 416,448 619,148 
Interest receivable – 1,512 

P=8,566,921 P=6,386,283 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are usually due by the 25th day of the following month and do not bear any interest.  All trade receivables are 
subject to credit risk exposure.  However, the Company does not identify specific concentrations of credit risk with regards to trade receivables as the 
amounts recognized consist of large number of receivables from various customers.   

Advances to officers and employees have maturities of three months to one year and bear interest of 1.00% per month. 

6. Other Current Assets 

This account consists of: 

2007 2006 
Input value added tax (VAT) P=6,343,130 P=3,142,436 
Prepayments 5,045,250 491,672 
Creditable taxes 3,202,128 2,352,075 
Creditable VAT 48,042 –
Others 41,071 –

P=14,679,621 P=5,986,183 

Prepayments include prepaid rent of office premises, insurance of transportation equipment, health insurance and maintenance fees. 

7. Property and Equipment 

The composition of and changes in property and equipment follow: 

2007 
Office 

Equipment 
Leasehold 

Improvements 
Furniture 

and Fixtures 
Transportation 

Equipment 
Exchange 

System Total
Cost   
Balance at beginning of year P7,230,018 P362,368 P122,697 P3,233,768 P6,083,561 P17,032,412
Additions 4,935,311 – 50,714 – – 4,986,025
Reclassification (Note 8) 321,116 – – – – 321,116
Balance at end of year 12,486,445 362,368 173,411 3,233,768 6,083,561 22,339,553
Accumulated depreciation  
 and amortization      
Balance at beginning of year, as 
 previously reported 2,406,383  56,251 43,471 478,879 2,129,246 5,114,230
Prior period adjustments (Note 22) 206,678 7,465 2,705 18,686 – 235,534
Balance at beginning of year, as restated 2,613,061 63,716 46,176 497,565 2,129,246 5,349,764
Depreciation and amortization 2,511,494 72,473 48,653 646,753 1,216,712 4,496,085
Balance at end of year 5,124,555 136,189 94,829 1,144,318 3,345,958 9,845,849
Net book value P7,361,890 P226,179 P78,582 P2,089,450 P2,737,603 P12,493,704

2006 

Office 
Equipment 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

Furniture
and

Fixtures 
Transportation 

Equipment 
Exchange 

System Total
Cost      
Balance at beginning of year  P= 4,055,257 P=157,337 P=57,846 P=2,717,727  P=6,083,561 P=13,071,728
Additions 3,174,761 205,031 64,851 2,143,362 – 5,588,005
Disposals – – – (1,627,321) – (1,627,321)
Balance at end of year 7,230,018 362,368 122,697 3,233,768 6,083,561   17,032,412
Accumulated depreciation  
 and amortization      
Balance at beginning of year 941,371 14,708 16,006 1,038,932  912,534  2,923,551
Depreciation and amortization 1,465,012 41,543 27,465 440,920 1,216,712 3,191,652
Adjustments (Note 8) 206,678 7,465 2,705 18,686 – 235,534
Disposals – – – (1,000,973) – (1,000,973)
Balance at end of year 2,613,061 63,716 46,176 497,565 2,129,246 5,349,764
Net book value P=4,616,957 P=298,652 P=76,521 P=2,736,203 P=3,954,315 P=11,682,648
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Total depreciation and amortization are allocated as follows:  

2007 2006
Cost of services P=4,271,279 P=3,255,824
Operating expense 224,806 171,362

P=4,496,085 P=3,427,186

8. Software and System Development Costs

The composition of and changes in the software and system development costs follow: 

 2007 

Computer 
Software 

System
Development 

Costs Total
Cost
Balance at beginning of year, as previously reported P=138,950,211 P=50,957,713 P=189,907,924 
Prior period adjustments (Note 22) (878,059) (30,000) (908,059)
Balance at beginning of year, as restated 138,072,152 50,927,713 188,999,865 
Additions 7,679,803 3,894,994 11,574,797 
Reclassification (Note 7) (2,421,288) 2,100,172 (321,116)
Balance at end of year 143,330,667 56,922,879 200,253,546 
Accumulated Amortization    
Balance at beginning of year 29,269,422 17,835,199 47,104,621 
Amortization 24,436,858 9,350,389 33,787,247 
Balance at end of year 53,706,280 27,185,588 80,891,868 
Net book value P=89,624,387 P=29,737,291 P=119,361,678 

 2006  

Computer 
Software 

System 
Development 

Costs Total 
Cost    
Balance at beginning of year P=128,209,090 P=48,773,888 P=176,982,978 
Additions 10,741,121 2,183,825 12,924,946 
Prior period adjustments (Note 22) (878,059) (30,000) (908,059)
Balance at end of year 138,072,152 50,927,713 188,999,865 
Accumulated Amortization    
Balance at beginning of year 12,146,955 7,316,083 19,463,038 
Amortization 17,122,467 10,519,116 27,641,583 
Balance at end of year 29,269,422 17,835,199 47,104,621 
Net book value P=108,802,730 P=33,092,514 P=141,895,244 

In 2004, the Company entered into a License and Development Agreement (LDA) with a provider for the purchase of a software license and the related 
customization and development of the Company’s fixed income trading system. The cost of the license was capitalized and shown as part of computer 
software while the costs of the ongoing customization and development of the trading system are shown as system development costs.

Total amortization is allocated as follows:  

2007 2006 
Cost of services P=32,097,863 P=26,259,487 
Operating expense 1,689,384 1,382,096 

P=33,787,247 P=27,641,583 

 At the start of 2007, the Company revised the original estimated useful life of software and system development costs from five years to seven years. The 
change was accounted for prospectively and reduced amortization expense in 2007 by P=1.90 million. 

9. Accrued Expenses and Other Payables

This account consists of: 

2007 2006 
Accruals for: 
 Maintenance of computer software P=6,628,496 P=15,417,276 
 Professional fees 3,696,258 195,781 
 Utilities 2,326,659 942,659 
 Software development 1,601,177 6,920,353 
 Vacation leave benefits 1,503,281 1,105,331 
Output VAT  1,771,472 1,067,845  
Withholding tax payable 509,537 1,792,110 
Taxes and licenses 102,559 –
Others 286,447 95,031 

P=18,425,886 P=27,536,386  

10. Deferred Income

This account pertains to the three-year advance payment of maintenance fees from customers which will be amortized and recognized as income over three 
years.  As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the current portion of deferred income amounted to P=28.5 million and P=25.8 million respectively. 
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11. Capital Stock 

This account consists of: 

2007 2006 
Common shares - P=100 par value 
 Authorized -1,500,000 shares 
 Issued and outstanding 

Balance at beginning of the year - 1,500,000 shares  
in 2007 and 1,000,000 in 2006 P=150,000,000 P=100,000,000 

   Issuance of shares - 500,000 shares in 2006 – 50,000,000 
 Balance at the end of the year - 1,500,000 shares in 2007 and 

  2006 P=150,000,000 P=150,000,000 

In August 2006, the Parent Company’s advances were converted as an additional investment to the Company amounting to P=50.0 million capital stock 
divided into 500,000 shares. 

On December 31, 2007, cash advances from the Parent Company amounting to P=27.0 million were converted as Deposit for future stock subscription 
representing the first tranche of the planned P=50.0 million additional investment in the Company. The second tranche of P=23.0 million was completed in 
February 2008. 

The Company is in the process of completing the application requirements for SEC approval of its increase in authorized capital stock from P=150.0 million to 
P=200.0 million. 

12. Service Income

This account consists of income from: 

2007 2006
Transaction fees  P=32,714,090 P=14,260,748
Maintenance fees 32,362,642 18,427,102
Data services 310,839 272,649

P=65,387,571 P=32,960,499

Transaction fees are charged for trades executed under the Company’s Trading System Infrastructure.  Maintenance fees are charged for providing the 
Trading System Infrastructure to the Company’s trading participants.  Service income from data services arises from distribution of real-time market 
information. 

13. Other Income

This account consists of: 

2007 2006
Foreign exchange gain  P=2,379,141 P=1,440,101
Interest income - (Notes 4 and 5) 104,671 179,985
Other income  – 1,321

P=2,483,812 P=1,621,407

14. Cost of Services

This account consists of: 

2007
2006

(As restated)
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 7 and 8) P=36,369,142 P=29,515,311
Salaries and employee benefits (Note 15) 31,309,259 23,008,204 
Repairs and maintenance 18,893,114 19,375,144
Professional fees 6,614,546 1,151,965
Utilities 5,756,807 5,353,443
Rent (Note 21) 923,096 1,872,917
Insurance 636,952 707,851
Outside services 620,212 923,839
Transportation and travel 269,712 310,880
Advertising expense 208,214 206,285
Supplies 116,930 66,367
Others 552,543 488,277

P=102,270,527 P=82,980,483

15.  Salaries and Employee Benefits

This account consists of: 

2007 2006
Salaries and wages  P=34,972,433 P=26,382,809
Retirement benefits (Note 16) 1,821,166 870,129
Leave benefits 572,689 205,064
Social security cost 359,741 293,362
Other  1,039,928 740,928

P=38,765,957 P=28,492,292
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Total salaries and employee benefits are allocated as follows: 

2007 2006 
Cost of services P=31,309,259 P=23,008,204 
Operating expenses 7,456,698 5,484,088 

P=38,765,957 P=28,492,292 

16. Retirement Plan

The Company has an unfunded noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan covering substantially all its officers and regular employees.  Under this 
retirement plan, all covered officers and employees are entitled to cash benefits after satisfying certain age and service requirements. 

The following table shows the actuarial assumptions as of January 1, 2007 and 2006 used in determining the retirement benefit obligation of the Company: 

 Actuarial Assumptions 

Date of Actuarial Valuation Report 

Average 
Remaining 

Working Life
Salary Rate

Increase
Discount

Rate
January 1, 2007 19 5.00% 8.03%
January 1, 2006 20 6.00% 11.90%

Discount rates used to arrive at the present value of the obligation as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 are 8.06% and 8.03% respectively. 

The amount of retirement benefit obligation recognized in the balance sheet is determined as follows: 

2007 2006 
Present value of defined benefit obligation P=3,714,165 P=4,679,583 
Unrecognized actuarial loss (gain)  453,823 (2,332,761)
Retirement benefit obligation P=4,167,988 P=2,346,822 

 The amounts included in Salaries and employee benefits (see Note 15) for the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows: 

2007 2006 
Current service cost P=1,352,155 P=626,039 
Interest cost 375,771 233,403 
Net actuarial loss  93,240 10,687 

P=1,821,166 P=870,129 

 The movements in the retirement liability recognized in the balance sheet follow: 

2007 2006 
Balance at beginning of year P=2,346,822 P=1,476,693 
Retirement expense 1,821,166 870,129 
Balance at end of year P=4,167,988 P=2,346,822 

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows: 

2007 2006 
Balance at beginning of year P=4,679,583 P=1,961,372 
Current service cost 1,352,155 626,039 
Interest cost 375,771 233,403 
Actuarial loss (gain) (2,693,344) 1,858,769 
Balance at end of year P=3,714,165 P=4,679,583 

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the experience adjustments on plan liabilities amounted to P=2,326,751 and P=1,100,449, respectively. 

17. Income Taxes

Republic Act No. 9337, An Act Amending National Internal Revenue Code, provides that the RCIT rate shall be 35% until January 1, 2009. Starting January 
1, 2009, the RCIT rate shall be 30%. 

The regulations also impose the MCIT of 2% on modified gross income and allow a NOLCO.  The NOLCO and the excess of the MCIT over the RCIT may be 
applied against taxable income and the income tax liability, respectively, over a three year period from the year of inception.

The Company’s provision for income tax pertains solely to final taxes paid at the rate of 20% on gross interest income from cash deposits and short-term 
placements. 

 The Company did not recognize deferred tax asset as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 since management does not expect the Company to have taxable 
profit that will be available against which the deferred tax asset can be utilized. The breakdown of unrecognized deferred tax asset is shown below: 

2007 2006 
NOLCO P=51,505,759 P=34,564,097  
Unamortized pre-operating expenses 1,048,623 4,494,099 
Accrued retirement benefits 1,458,796 821,387 
Accrued leave benefits 214,768 386,866 

P=54,227,946 P=40,266,449 

For tax purposes, pre-operating expenses are to be amortized for a period of five years starting from the date of the Company’s commercial operations until 
2009. 
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The Company’s NOLCO can be claimed as deduction from future taxable income within three years and is broken down as follows: 

Year Incurred Amount Used/Expired Balance Expiry Year
2005 P=31,374,806 P=– P=31,374,806 2008
2006 67,379,758 – 67,379,758  2009
2007 48,404,748 – 48,404,748    2010
 P=147,159,312 P=– P=147,159,312 

A reconciliation of the statutory income tax to the effective income tax follow: 

2007 
2006

(As restated)
Statutory income tax (P=16,528,575) (P=22,858,161)
Tax effects of: 
 Unrecognized deferred tax assets 15,423,728 22,957,153
 Nondeductible expense 1,149,523 –
 Income subject to final tax (35,019) (62,995)
Effective income tax P=9,657 P=35,997

18. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other 
party in making financial and operating decisions.  Parties are also considered to be related if they are subjected to common control or common significant 
influence.  Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities.  Transactions between related parties are based on terms similar to those offered to 
nonrelated parties. 

The Company in the ordinary course of business has entered into transactions with its related parties principally consisting of reimbursement of expenses 
and advances for working capital purposes.  The advances are non-interest bearing and are payable on demand.  The transactions and balances of accounts 
with related parties follow:  

   Elements of Transactions 

  Nature of 
Balance Sheet 
Amount 

Statement of Income
Amount 

Related Party Relationship Transaction 2007 2006 2007 2006 
PDSHC Parent Company Due from related parties  P=3,976,662 P=– P=– P=–
  Due to related parties 6,271,123  
  Management fee – – – 7,285,897 
PDTC Affiliate Due to related parties 78,258,690 45,583,340 – –
PSSC Affiliate Due to related parties 55,801 – –
  Due from related parties 869,557 – –

 Management Fee
In 2006, the Parent Company charged the Company management fee of P=7.3 million in line with its supervision of the overall operations of the Company.   

Key Management Personnel Compensation
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:  

2007 2006 
Salaries and wages  P=10,390,209 P=6,155,276 
Retirement benefits 442,306 278,859 
Other long-term benefits 139,089 85,397 

P=10,971,604 P=6,519,532 

19. Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurement 

Shown below are the Company’s assets and liabilities as they appear on the balance sheet, which are divided into financial and nonfinancial items, with the 
financial items being mapped to the categories of financial instruments under PAS 39. 

   2007  

 Cash 
Loans and 

Receivables 

Other
Financial 
Liabilities 

Other 
Nonfinancial 

Items Total
ASSETS     
Cash and cash equivalents P=5,000 P=2,642,657 P=– P=– P=2,647,657
Trade and other receivables – 8,566,921 – – 8,566,921
Due from related parties – 3,976,662 – – 3,976,662
Other current assets – – – 14,679,621 14,679,621
Property and equipment - net – – – 12,493,704 12,493,704
Software and system 
 development costs - net – – – 119,361,678 119,361,678
Other non-current assets – 923,530 – – 923,530

Total Assets P=5,000 P=16,109,770 P=– P=146,535,003 P=162,649,773

LIABILITIES 
Accrued expenses and other 
 payables P=– P=– P=10,556,332 P=7,869,554 P=18,425,886
Deferred income – – – 47,532,798 47,532,798
Due to related parties – – 78,314,491 – 78,314,491
Retirement benefit obligation – – – 4,167,988 4,167,988

Total Liabilities P=– P=– P=88,870,823 P=59,570,340 P=148,441,163
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   2006 

 Cash 
Loans and 

Receivables 

Other 
Financial 
Liabilities 

Other 
Non-financial 

Items Total
ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents P=5,000 P=17,767,580 P=– P=– P=17,772,580
Accrued expenses and other 

payables – 6,386,283 – – 6,386,283
Due from related parties – 869,557 – – 869,557
Other current assets – – – 5,986,183 5,986,183
Property and equipment - net – – – 11,682,648 11,682,648
Software and system 
 development costs - net – – – 141,895,244 141,895,244
Other non-current assets – 521,718 – – 521,718

Total Assets P=5,000 P=25,545,138 P=– P=159,564,075 P=185,114,213
LIABILITIES 
Accrued expenses and other 
 payables P=– P=– P=23,280,288 P=4,256,098 P=27,536,386
Deferred Income – – – 68,933,774 68,933,774
Due to related parties – – 51,854,463 – 51,854,463
Retirement benefit obligation – – – 2,346,822 2,346,822

Total Liabilities P=– P=– P=75,134,751 P=75,536,694 P=150,671,445

Fair values
The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 approximate their fair values due to the short-term 
nature of these instruments. 

20. Financial Risk and Capital Management Policies and Objectives

The Company does not engage in trading activities or take positions 
in equity, foreign exchange and securities other than investment in 
government securities in the course of managing its cash and liquidity 
position and purchase of foreign exchange to service some of its 
foreign-denominated obligations.  The Company’s credit, liquidity, 
market, and foreign currency risks arising from the use of financial 
instruments are thus limited to the above activities.

The following provides the overall risk management principles and 
process that governs the risk management of the PDS Group and the 
Company. 

 Risk Management Structure
The Company’s risk management process hinges on the following 
principles: 

 The Board of Directors (BOD) establishes the Company’s 
risk philosophy and culture, approves the risk policies and 
sets the risk appetite for the group. 

 The Executive Committee (Excom) is accountable to the 
BOD for the risk taken by the businesses. 

 The risk takers of each business initially identifies and 
evaluates market, product or service opportunities, 
subject to further evaluation of the Risk Management 
group and other specific risk function groups, e.g., 
Product Committee, Legal and Compliance, for the 
attendant risks. 

 Management of risks is done in a coordinated manner 
within the group. 

 Risk management is an independent function reporting to 
the Risk Management Committee (RMC) where the 
Company’s Chief Operating Officer (COO) is a member.  

Risk Management Organization
The Company’s risk management organization consists of the 
following: 

1. The BOD is the risk policy maker and approving authority of the 
Company.  The BOD has created and appointed Standing 
Committees with at least one Independent Director to assist in 
performing its functions. These include the RMC and Audit 
Committee. 

The RMC is a group-level committee where the Company’s 
COO is a member.  It sets the policy standards and guidelines 
for the management and assessment of group-wide risk, with 

the ultimate objective of ascertaining that risk exposures of the 
Company fall with in the capital collectively available and 
allocated to the juridical entities.   The chairman of the Risk 
RMC is an Independent Director.  The Chief Risk Officer is a 
member of the Committee. 

The Audit Committee is the oversight of the financial reporting 
process, the internal control process as well as the hiring and 
performance of external auditors.  The Chairman of the Audit 
Committee is an Independent Director. 

2. The risk functions of identifying, evaluating and measuring risks 
and exposures attendant to the products and services provided 
by the Company, as well as recommending limits is performed 
by the Risk Management Unit (RMU).  It also establishes 
standards to monitor and report compliance with limits. 

Complementing the RMU is the Product Committee.  The 
Product Committee reviews existing and propose products to 
ensure that all risk taking personnel have properly identified and 
analyzed the relevant risks.  It recommends to the Excom the 
approval of the proposed product. 

3. Operations Support, Legal and Compliance, Financial Control, 
and Audit groups support our risk management function in risk 
control.  They operate independently of the business units and 
the risk management functions.  The Operations Support group 
performs risk reporting, through generation of risk reports, and 
the control process of risk management.  The Legal and 
Compliance group ensures that all laws and regulations are 
complied with and contracts entered into by the Company are 
enforceable.  The Financial Control group ensures that 
expenses and revenues are within budget and properly 
approved and monitored.  The Audit group shall ensure 
compliance of financial accounting and internal control 
processes with internal and regulatory standards. 

4. The risk takers are the officers of respective business units 
handling the products.  These are the units that identify market 
or product opportunities and sponsors product or service 
developments or proposals. 

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Company will incur a loss because its 
participants fail to discharge their contractual obligations.  The 
Company manages and controls credit risk by actively monitoring the 
size and age of receivables to avoid significant concentrations of 
credit exposure.  In addition, for a significant portion of its services, 
advance payments are required to mitigate credit risk.
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Credit risk exposures 
The table below shows the gross maximum exposure to on-balance and off-balance sheet credit risk exposures of the Company, without considering the 
effects of collateral, credit enhancements and other credit risk mitigation techniques:   

2007
2006

(As restated)
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on hand) P=2,642,657 P=17,767,580
Trade and other receivables 8,566,921 6,386,283
Due from related parties 3,976,662 869,557
Other noncurrent assets 923,530 521,718

P=16,109,770 P=25,545,138

The table below shows the credit quality of the financial assets of the Company:  

  Past due or 
Neither Past Due nor Impaired individually 
High grade Standard grade impaired Total

Cash and cash equivalents  
 (excluding cash on hand) P=2,642,657 P=– P=– P=2,642,657
Trade and other receivables 8,566,921 – – 8,566,921
Due from related parties 3,976,662 – – 3,976,662
Other noncurrent assets 923,530   923,530
Total P=16,109,770 P=– P=– P=16,109,770

The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Company by limiting its counterparties to top-tier corporate institutions including financial institutions 
which are regulated entities under Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas or SEC. 

Cash and cash equivalents and trade receivables are considered as high grade credit as these are placements and deposits with top-tier Philippine banks 
and receivables from the Company’s clients which are primarily composed of Philippine banks most of which are under the auto debit facility arrangement. 
Due from related parties are assessed by management as high grade as these are realized within the normal terms. 

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due.  To mitigate this risk, management prepares a 
forecast of the Company’s cashflows for the year. Constant monitoring and a well-defined billing and collection policy facilitate management of projected 
inflows. 

To minimize market risks that could adversely affect management of liquidity position, and because the Company is not in the business of trading securities, 
it is the management’s policy to invest excess cash and cash equivalents in liquid and non-speculative financial instruments, such as term deposits and 
government securities, with the tenor that matches its schedule. 

All financial liabilities of the Company as of December 31, 2007 are payable on demand. 

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market variables such as interest rates, 
foreign exchange rates and equity prices. Market risk includes interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. The Company has no significant concentration of 
market risk. 

Foreign Currency Risk 
Foreign currency risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from changes in foreign exchange rates.  The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk 
arising from its foreign-currency denominated cash, trade and other receivables and accrued expenses.   

The table below summarizes the Company’s exposure to foreign currency rate risk as of December 31, 2007 and 2006.  Included in the table are the 
Company’s assets and liabilities at carrying amounts categorized by currency.  

2007 2006 
USD PhP Equivalent USD PhP Equivalent 

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents $22,780 P=940,358 $27,464 P=1,346,537 
Trade and other receivables 22,850 943,257 – – 

Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other payables $200,234 P=8,265,673 $456,203 P=22,367,629 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the US dollar (USD)/Philippine Peso (PhP) exchange rate, with all other 
variables held constant, of the Company’s income before income tax due to revaluation of monetary assets and liabilities. There is no impact on equity other 
than those already affecting income before income tax.  

Increase (decrease) in 
USD/PhP exchange rate 

Effect on Income 
Before Income Tax 

2007    P=1.00 
(1.00) 

(P=154,604) 
        154,604 

The decrease in USD/PhP exchange rate means stronger Php against the USD while an increase in USD/PhP rate means weaker PhP against the USD.

The Company’s foreign currency risk exposure arises from the Company’s scheduled repayments of its US dollar-denominated liability arising mainly from 
annual maintenance fees and other future system development - related fees payable to system provider.  

The risk is partially mitigated by the Company’s US dollar denominated revenues coming from the maintenance fees paid by its Trading Participants. The 
residual foreign exchange risk exposure is manageable to the extent that both foreign exchange outflows for payments and inflows from terminal fees are 
relatively pre-determined and fixed for the year. To manage the adverse impact of changes in the foreign exchange rates on the fees, the Company may also 
enter into foreign exchange forward contracts. The Company currently has no outstanding foreign exchange forward contract. 

Capital Management
The Company’s capital management activities seek to ensure that it maintains a healthy capital ratio in order to support its businesses and maximize 
shareholder value by optimizing the level and mix of its capital resources.  Decisions on the allocation of capital resources are performed as part of the 
strategic planning review.  The Company also manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.
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 The Company’s objective is to ensure that there are no known events that may trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to the Company, 
including default or acceleration of an obligation.   

The Company monitors capital using debt-to-equity ratio, which is total liabilities divided by total equity.  The Company’s total liabilities include current and 
non-current liabilities.  Equity comprises all components of equity. 

The debt-to-equity ratios as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows: 

2007 2006 
Total liabilities P=148,441,163 P=150,671,445 
Total equity 14,208,610 34,442,768 
Debt-to-equity ratio 10.45 4.37 

21. Commitments and Contingencies

The following are the significant commitments and contingencies involving the Company: 

Operating Lease Commitments - Company as Lessee
The Parent Company is a lessee under non-cancellable operating leases covering its office and parking space for a period of five years.  Monthly rentals are 
apportioned to the Company and other related parties based on the size of the area occupied. 

The future minimum rentals payable for the Company’s office space and parking space under these operating leases as of December 31 are as follows: 

2007 2006 
Within a year P=742,342 P=1,978,852 
After one year but not more than five years 558,288 3,298,087 

P=1,300,630 P=5,276,939 

Total rentals from these operating leases amounted to P=1.2 million in 2007 and P=2.2 million in 2006, of which P=0.9 million and P=1.9 million was charged to 
Cost of services in 2007 and 2006, respectively.  

Security Deposits 
As a result of operating lease agreements, the Company has paid security deposits amounting to P=0.9 million and P=0.5 million as of December 31, 2007 and 
2006, respectively.  These deposits are presented under Other non-current assets account in the balance sheet. 

Maintenance of the Integrated System 
In accordance with the contract entered into by the Company with a system provider, the Company is committed to pay $335,000 annually for the 
maintenance of its fixed-income trading system. 

Others 
In the normal course of business, the Company makes various commitments and has certain contingent liabilities that are not given recognition in the 
accompanying financial statements.  Management believes that losses, if any, that may arise from these commitments and contingencies will not have any 
material effect on the financial statements. 

22. Prior Period Adjustments

The Company’s reported net loss in 2006 was restated to reflect correction of prior year’s accounting entries as follows: 

Net loss, as previously reported  (P=64,889,586)
Adjustments: 
 To reverse non-capitalizable software and 
  system development costs (P=908,059)  
 To adjust recorded depreciation expense  (235,534)  
 To adjust rent expense using straight line  
  method  

363,440  

 To reverse accrual of expenses 237,840  
 Others 86,872 (455,441)
Net loss, as restated  (P=65,345,027)
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The Board of Directors 
Philippine Depository & Trust Corp. 
37th Floor, The Enterprise Center 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Philippine Depository & Trust Corp. (the Company), a subsidiary of Philippine 
Dealing System Holdings Corp., which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2007, and the statement of income, statement of 
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
notes.  The financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended December 31, 2006, which are presented for comparative 
purposes, were audited by other auditors, whose report dated April 24, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements.  The 
opinion of the other auditors, however, does not cover the restatements of those statements as discussed in Note 26 to the financial 
statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards.  This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Philippine Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Philippine Depository & Trust Corp. as of 
December 31, 2007, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards. 

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO. 

Josephine Adrienne A. Abarca 
Partner 
CPA Certificate No. 92126 
SEC Accreditation No. 0466-A 
Tax Identification No. 163-257-145 
PTR No. 0014603, January 3, 2008, Makati City 

April 22, 2008 

Philippine Depository and Trust Corporation

Independent Auditors’ Report

PHILIPPINE DEPOSITORY & TRUST CORP.

Independent Auditors’ Report
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December 31 

2007 

2006
(As restated -

Note 26)

ASSETS 
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) P=28,252,806 P=22,355,014
Short-term investments (Note 5) 2,435,042 10,207,963
Trade and other receivables (Note 6) 15,267,772 9,239,637
Due from related parties (Note 20) 98,622,427 72,208,936
Other current assets (Note 7) 6,701,977 10,783,507

Total Current Assets 151,280,024 124,795,057
Non-current Assets 
Investment in a subsidiary (Note 8) 500,000 500,000
Property and equipment - net (Note 9) 56,059,395 66,532,050
Software and system development costs (Note 10) 165,252,571 164,709,330
Retirement benefit asset (Note 18) 9,602,196 9,640,665
Other non-current assets (Note 11) 2,604,575 2,377,331
  Total Non-current Assets 234,018,737 243,759,376

P=385,298,761 P=368,554,433

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

LIABILITIES 
Current Liabilities 
Accrued expenses and other payables (Note 12) P=19,651,412 P=12,834,609
Due to a related party (Note 20) 455,950 192,997
  Total Current Liabilities 20,107,362 13,027,606

EQUITY
Capital stock (Note 13) 323,306,400 323,306,400
Additional paid-in capital  1,174,800 1,174,800
Retained earnings  40,710,199 31,045,627
  Total Equity 365,191,399 355,526,827

P=385,298,761 P=368,554,433

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements. 

PHILIPPINE DEPOSITORY & TRUST CORP.
(A SUBSIDIARY OF PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.)

Balance Sheet
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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Years Ended December 31 

2007 

2006 
(As restated -  

Note 26)
SERVICE INCOME (Note 14) P=159,534,443 P=95,828,878 

OTHER INCOME (Note 15) 2,783,918 922,438 
162,318,361 96,751,316 

COSTS AND OPERATING EXPENSES   
Cost of services (Note 16) 116,591,203 66,279,771 
Salaries and employee benefits (Note 17) 8,796,347 6,483,466 
Professional fees 5,928,156 493,377 
Provision for impairment (Notes 6 and 7)  2,853,136 –
Outside services 1,993,410 430,728 
Rent (Note 25) 1,040,956 642,020 
Taxes and licenses  997,267 576,263 
Supplies 716,664 679,819 
Printing and reproduction 671,595 72,053 
Depreciation and amortization (Note 9) 646,982 661,319 
Utilities 665,700 490,913 
Travel expense 262,004 44,405 
Advertising  146,260 31,587 
Repairs and maintenance  59,795 121,787 
Insurance  54,402 52,249 
Bank charges 46,092 47,982 
Management fee (Note 20) – 8,160,204 
Other operating expenses 1,285,378 510,700 

142,755,347 85,778,643 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 19,563,014 10,972,673 

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 19) 9,898,442 3,369,666 

NET INCOME P=9,664,572 P=7,603,007 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

PHILIPPINE DEPOSITORY & TRUST CORP.
(A SUBSIDIARY OF PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.)

Statement of Income
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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Common
Stock 

Additional
Paid in
Capital

Retained 
Earnings 

Total
Equity

Balance at January 1, 2007, 
 as previously reported P=323,306,400 P=1,174,800 P=33,187,715 P=357,668,915
Prior period adjustments (Note 26) – – (2,142,088) (2,142,088)
Balance at January 1, 2007, 
 as restated 323,306,400 1,174,800 31,045,627 355,526,827
Net income for the year – – 9,664,572 9,664,572
Balance at December 31, 2007 P=323,306,400 P=1,174,800 P=40,710,199 P=365,191,399

Balance at January 1, 2006 
 as previously reported P=323,306,400 P=1,174,800 P=24,443,625 P=348,924,825
Prior period adjustments (Note 26) – – (1,001,005)  (1,001,005)
Balance at January 1, 2006,  
 as restated (Note 26) 323,306,400 1,174,800 23,442,620 347,923,820
Net income for the year  – – 7,603,007 7,603,007
Balance at December 31, 2006, as restated P=323,306,400 P=1,174,800 P=31,045,627 P=355,526,827
See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

PHILIPPINE DEPOSITORY & TRUST CORP.
(A SUBSIDIARY OF PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.)

Statement of Changes in Equity
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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Years Ended December 31 

2007 

2006 
(As restated -  

Note 26)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Income before income tax P=19,563,014 P=10,972,673 

Adjustments for: 
 Depreciation and amortization (Note 9) 12,993,384 13,226,374 
 Provision for impairment (Notes 6 and 7) 2,853,136 –
 Interest income  (902,750) (2,588,991)
 Unrealized foreign currency gains (138,227) –
 Gain on sale of assets (118,971) –
Operating income before working capital changes  34,249,586 21,610,056 
 Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
  Decrease (increase) in: 
   Trade and other receivables - net  (6,648,105) (1,590,879)
   Due from related parties (Note 20) (26,413,491) 754,721 
   Other current assets (3,863,322) (1,444,090)
   Retirement benefit asset 38,469 (171,743)
   Short-term investments 7,772,921 (10,207,963)
   Other non-current assets (27,144) 364,235 
  Increase (decrease) in: 
   Accrued expenses and other payables 6,955,030 5,708,460 
   Due to a related party (Note 20) 262,953 87,617 
Cash generated from operations 12,326,897 15,110,414 
Income taxes paid (4,424,951) (2,492,475)
Net cash provided by operating activities 7,901,946 12,617,939 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 940,845 2,078,331 
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment (Note 9) 364,426 592,500 
Acquisitions of property and equipment (Note 9) (2,766,184) (3,154,461)
Capitalized payments of software and system  
 development costs (Note 10) (543,241) (34,652,899)
Net cash used in investing activities (2,004,154) (35,136,529)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 5,897,792 (22,518,590)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 22,355,014 44,873,604 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END  
OF YEAR P=28,252,806 P=22,355,014 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

PHILIPPINE DEPOSITORY & TRUST CORP.
(A SUBSIDIARY OF PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.)

Statement of Cash Flows
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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1. Corporate Information

The Philippine Depository & Trust Corp. (the Company), a 97.72%-
owned subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. 
(PDSHC or the Parent Company), is a domestic corporation 
incorporated in the Philippines on March 31, 1995.  The Company is 
authorized to primarily act as depository, registry, custodian, trustee 
and/or intermediary of its participants of any and all kinds of 
securities, monetary or financial instruments and their derivatives; to 
borrow instruments for relending; to provide a system to immobilize or 
dematerialize instruments; act as quasi-bank, trust company, 
securities depository and clearing agency. 

On October 2, 2004, the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) approved 
the Company’s application to engage in trust and quasi-banking 
activities in connection with its role as depository and custodian of all 
kinds of securities.  Under the existing rules and regulations of the 
BSP, the Company is required to maintain an unimpaired paid-in 
capital of at least P=300,000,000. 

The registered office of the Company, which is also its principal place 
of business, is located at the 37th Floor, The Enterprise Center, 6766 
Ayala Avenue, Makati City. 

The accompanying financial statements were authorized for issue by 
the Company’s Audit Committee on April 22, 2008. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a 
historical cost basis, except for available-for-sale (AFS) investments 
that have been measured at fair value.  The Company’s financial 
statements are presented in Philippine Peso, the Company’s 
functional and presentation currency. 

The Company elected not to prepare consolidated financial 
statements under the exemptions provided by the Philippine 
Accounting Standard (PAS) 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements.  The Parent Company prepares its consolidated financial 
statements in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards (PFRS) and files the same with the Philippine Securities 
and Exchange Commission (SEC). 

Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in 
compliance with PFRS.  PFRS includes statements named PFRS and 
Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS), including interpretations 
issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC). 

Changes in Accounting Policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the 
previous financial year, except for the adoption of the following 
amended PAS and new PFRS starting January 1, 2007:   

 PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, requires 
disclosures that enable users of the financial statements to 
evaluate the significance of the Company’s financial 
instruments and the nature and extent of risks arising from 
those financial instruments.  It requires the disclosure of 
qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks 
arising from financial instruments, including specified minimum 
disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, as 
well as sensitivity analysis to market risk.  It replaces PAS 30, 
Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar 
Financial Institutions, and the disclosure requirements in PAS 
32, Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation.  It is 
applicable to all entities that report under PFRS.  The adoption 
of this standard resulted in the inclusion of additional 
disclosures in the financial statements such as market risk 
sensitivity analysis, maturity profile of financial liabilities and 
credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor 
impaired (see Note 24). 

 The FRSC has approved an amendment to the transition 
provisions of PFRS 7 that gives transitional relief with respect to 
the presentation of comparative information for the new risks 
disclosures about the nature and extent of risks arising from 
financial instruments in paragraphs 31 to 42 of PFRS 7.  
Accordingly, an entity that applies PFRS 7 for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2007 need not present 

comparative information unless previously required by PAS 30 
or PAS 32. 

 Amendment to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements,
requires the Company to make new disclosures to enable users 
of the financial statements to evaluate the Company’s 
objectives, policies and processes for managing capital.  These 
new disclosures are shown in Note 13. 

The following Philippine Interpretations from the International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) are 
effective for annual periods beginning January 1, 2007 but did 
not have any impact on the financial statements of the 
Company:  

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 8, Scope of PFRS 2, requires 
PFRS 2, Share-based Payment, to be applied to any 
arrangements in which the entity cannot identify specifically 
some or all of the goods received, in particular where equity 
instruments are issued for consideration which appears to be 
less than fair value.   

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded 
Derivatives, states that the date to assess the existence of an 
embedded derivative is the date an entity first becomes a party 
to the contract, with reassessment only if there is a change to 
the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows.   

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 10, Interim Financial Reporting 
and Impairment, requires that an entity must not reverse an 
impairment loss recognized in the previous interim period in 
respect of goodwill or an investment in either an equity 
instrument or a financial asset carried at cost. 

Future Changes in Accounting Policies
The Company did not early adopt the following standards, Philippine 
Interpretations and amendments that have been approved by the 
FRSC but are not yet effective: 

 PFRS 8, Operating Segments, becomes effective for financial 
years beginning on or after January 1, 2009, and will replace 
PAS 14, Segment Reporting.  It adopts a management 
approach to reporting segment information.  PFRS 8 is required 
for adoption only by entities where debt or equity instruments 
are publicly traded, or are in the process of filing with the SEC 
for purposes of issuing any class of instrument in a public 
market. The Company is not required and will not adopt  
PFRS 8. 

 Amendment to PAS 23, Borrowing Costs, becomes effective for 
financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2009.  The 
standard has been revised to require capitalization of borrowing 
costs when such costs relate to a qualifying asset.  A qualifying 
asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of 
time to get ready for its intended use or sale.  The Company is 
currently assessing the impact of the interpretation on the 
financial statements. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 11, PFRS 2 - Group and 
Treasury Share Transactions, becomes effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after March 1, 2007.  This requires 
arrangements whereby an employee is granted rights to an 
entity’s equity instruments to be accounted for as an equity-
settled scheme by the entity even if (a) the entity chooses or is 
required to buy those equity instruments (e.g., treasury shares) 
from another party, or (b) the shareholders of the entity provide 
the equity instruments needed.  It also provides guidance on 
how subsidiaries, in their separate financial statements, account 
for such schemes when their employees receive rights to the 
equity instruments of the parent.  The Company currently does 
not have any stock option plan and therefore, does not expect 
this interpretation to have significant impact on its financial 
statements. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 12, Service Concession 
Arrangements, becomes effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2008.  This interpretation, which covers 
contractual arrangements arising from entities providing public-
to-private service concession arrangements, is not relevant to 
the Company. 

PHILIPPINE DEPOSITORY & TRUST CORP.
(A SUBSIDIARY OF PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.)

Notes to Financial Statements
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)



88 PDS Group 2007 Annual Report

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty 
Programmes, becomes effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after July 1, 2008.  This interpretation requires customer 
loyalty award credits to be accounted for as a separate 
component of the sales transactions in which they are granted 
and therefore part of the fair value of the consideration received 
is allocated to the award credits and deferred over the period 
that the award credits are fulfilled.  The Company expects that 
this interpretation will have no impact on its financial statements 
as no such schemes currently exist. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 14, PAS 19 - The Limit on a 
Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and 
their Interaction, becomes effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2008.  This interpretation 
provides guidance on how to assess the limit on the amount of 
surplus in a defined benefit scheme that can be recognized as 
an asset under PAS 19, Employee Benefits.  The Company will 
assess if this interpretation will have an impact on the financial 
statements. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents
 For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 

include cash and other cash items with original maturities of three 
months or less from dates of placements and are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value. 

Financial Instruments 
Date of recognition 
The Company recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the 
balance sheet when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. In the case of a regular way purchase or sale of 
financial assets, recognition and derecognition, as applicable, is done 
using trade date accounting. 

Initial recognition of financial instruments 
Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, which is the 
fair value of the consideration given (in case of an asset) or received 
(in case of a liability).  The initial measurement of financial 
instruments, except for those designated at fair value through profit 
and loss (FVPL), includes transaction cost. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Company classifies its financial 
instruments in the following categories: financial assets and financial 
liabilities at FVPL, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity (HTM) 
investments, AFS investments and other financial liabilities.  The 
classification depends on the purpose for which the instruments are 
acquired and whether they are quoted in an active market.  
Management determines the classification at initial recognition and, 
where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this classification at 
every balance sheet date. 

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company does not have 
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL.   

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  After 
initial measurement, loans and receivables are carried at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method, less any allowance for 
impairment.  Gains and losses are recognized in the Company’s 
statement of income when the loans and receivables are 
derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization 
process.  Loans and receivables are classified as current assets when 
the Company expects to realize or collect the asset within twelve 
months from balance sheet date.  Otherwise, these are classified as 
non-current assets. 

Classified under this category are the Company’s Trade and other 
receivables and Due from related parties.  

HTM investments 
HTM investments are quoted nonderivative financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments and fixed maturities for which the 
Company’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold 
to maturity.  Where the Company sells other than an insignificant 
amount of HTM investments, the entire category would be tainted and 
reclassified as AFS investments.  After initial measurement, these 
investments are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method, less impairment in value.  Amortized cost is 
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest 
rate.  Gains and losses are recognized in the statement of income 
when the HTM investments are derecognized or impaired, as well as 
through the amortization process.  Assets under this category are 
classified as current assets if maturity is within 12 months from 

balance sheet date and as non-current assets if maturity is more than 
a year from balance sheet date.

This category includes the Company’s Short-term investments. 

AFS investments 
AFS investments are nonderivative financial assets that are 
designated in this category or are not classified in any of the other 
categories.  The Company designates assets as AFS investments 
when they have the intention to sell those assets when the need 
arises.  Subsequent to initial recognition, AFS investments are carried 
at fair value in the balance sheet.  Changes in the fair value of such 
assets are reported as revaluation reserve for AFS investments in the 
equity section of the balance sheet until the investment is 
derecognized or the investment is determined to be impaired.  On 
derecognition or impairment, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
reported in equity is transferred to the statement of income.  Interest 
earned on holding AFS investments are recognized in the statement 
of income using the effective interest rate.  Assets under this category 
are classified as current assets if the expected realization of the 
investment is within 12 months from balance sheet date and as non-
current assets if maturity is more than a year from balance sheet 
date. 

This category includes the Company’s investment in listed shares of 
stock shown under Other non-current assets in the balance sheet. 

Other financial liabilities 
This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held for 
trading or not designated as at FVPL at the inception of the liability.  
These include liabilities arising from operations or borrowings. 

The financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and are 
subsequently carried at amortized cost, taking into account the impact 
of applying the effective interest method of amortization (or accretion) 
for any related premium, discount and any directly attributable 
transaction costs. 
This category includes Accrued expenses and other payables and 
Due to a related party. 

Determination of fair value 
The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the 
balance sheet date is based on their quoted market prices or dealer 
price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short 
positions), without any deduction for transactions costs.  When 
current bid and asking prices are not available, the price of the most 
recent transaction is used since it provides evidence of the current fair 
value as long as there has not been a significant change in economic 
circumstances since the time of the transaction. 

For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the 
fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation techniques.  
Valuation techniques include net present value techniques, 
comparison to similar instruments for which market observable prices 
exist, options pricing models, and other relevant valuation models. 

‘Day 1’ profit 
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from 
the fair value of other observable current market transactions in the 
same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables 
include only data from observable market, the Company recognizes 
the difference between the transaction price and fair value (a ‘Day 1’ 
profit) in the statement of income unless it qualifies for recognition as 
some other type of asset.  In cases where use is made of data which 
is not observable, the difference between the transaction price and 
model value is only recognized in the statement of income when the 
inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  
For each transaction, the Company determines the appropriate 
method of recognizing the ‘Day 1’ profit amount. 

Embedded derivative  
An embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and 
accounted for as a derivative if all of the following conditions are met: 
a) the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative 
are not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the 
host contract; b) a separate instrument with the same terms as the 
embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and c) 
the hybrid or combined instrument is not recognized at FVPL.  
Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the 
contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would 
otherwise be required. 



    Empowering The Investor 89

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial asset 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or 
part of a group of financial assets) is derecognized where: 

1. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 
2. the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the 

asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without 
material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 
arrangement; or 

3. the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows 
from the asset and either  
(a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained the risk and 
rewards of the asset but has transferred the control of the asset.  

 Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows 
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and 
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is 
recognized to the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement in 
the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee 
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of original 
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration that the Company could be required to repay. 

Financial liability 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the 
liability is discharged or cancelled or expired.  Where an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as 
a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new 
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognized in the statement of income. 

 Impairment of Financial Assets 
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is 
objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is 
impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed 
to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment 
as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event 
(or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably 
estimated.  Evidence of impairment may include indications that the 
customer or a group of customers is experiencing significant financial 
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the 
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is 
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as 
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with 
defaults. 

HTM investments 
For HTM investments, the Company assesses whether there is 
objective evidence of impairment.  If there is objective evidence that 
an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future 
expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred).  The carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced through use of an allowance account 
and the amount of loss is charged to the statement of income.  
Interest income continues to be recognized based on the original 
effective interest rate of the asset. 

If subsequently, the amount of the estimated impairment loss 
decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognized, any amount formerly charged is credited to the statement 
of income and the allowance account reduced.  The HTM 
investments, together with the associated allowance accounts, are 
written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and 
all collateral has been realized. 

Loans and receivables 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have 
not been incurred). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
through use of an allowance account and the amount of loss is 
charged to the statement of income. Interest income continues to be 
recognized based on the original effective interest rate of the asset.  
Receivables, together with the associated allowance accounts, are 
written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and 
all collateral has been realized.  If, in a subsequent year, the amount 
of the estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously 

recognized impairment loss is reduced by adjusting the allowance 
account.  If a future write-off is later recovered, any amounts formerly 
charged are credited to Provision for impairment losses in the 
statement of income. 

AFS investments 
For AFS investments, the Company assesses at each balance sheet 
date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired. 

In case of equity investments classified as AFS investments, this 
would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the 
investments below its cost.  Where there is evidence of impairment, 
the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the 
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss 
on that financial asset previously recognized in the statement of 
income - is removed from equity and recognized in the statement of 
income.  Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed 
through the statement of income.  Increases in fair value after 
impairment are recognized directly in equity. 

Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount 
reported in the balance sheet if, and only if, there is a currently 
enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is 
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.  This is not generally the case with master 
netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are 
presented gross in the balance sheet. 

Investment in a Subsidiary
These financial statements are prepared as the Company’s separate 
financial statements.   

As allowed under the existing standards, the Company has not 
presented consolidated financial statements because it is a subsidiary 
of PDSHC, which presents consolidated financial statements which 
are filed with the Philippine SEC and are available for public use, and 
its debt or equity securities are not traded in a public market.   

The Company’s investment in a subsidiary are accounted for in these 
separate financial statements at cost, less any impairment loss.  
Impairment loss is provided when there is objective evidence that the 
investment in a subsidiary will not be recovered.  Such impairment 
loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of 
the investment and the present value of the estimated cash flows 
discounted at the current market rate of return for similar financial 
asset.  Impairment loss is not reversed. 

The subsidiary is an entity over which the Company has the power to 
govern the financial reporting policies generally accompanying a 
shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.  The 
Company obtains and exercises control through voting rights.  The 
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently 
exercisable and convertible are considered when assessing whether 
the Company controls another entity.  

Property and Equipment
Depreciable properties such as transportation equipment, furniture 
and fixtures, office equipment, leasehold improvements, and registry, 
depository, custody equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and amortization and any impairment in value. 

The initial cost of property and equipment consists of its purchase 
price, including import duties, taxes and any directly attributable costs 
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its 
intended use. Expenditures incurred after items of property and 
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and 
maintenance are normally charged against operations in the period in 
which the costs are incurred. In situations where it can be clearly 
demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in 
the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of 
an item of property and equipment beyond its originally assessed 
standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as an 
additional cost of property and equipment. 

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives of the respective assets.  Leasehold 
improvements are amortized over the shorter of the terms of the 
covering leases and the estimated useful life of the improvements. 
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The estimated useful lives follow: 
 Useful Lives in

Years
Office equipment 3 - 5
Leasehold improvements 5
Furniture and fixtures 3 - 5
Transportation equipment 5
Registry, depository and custody equipment 3

The useful lives and the depreciation and amortization method are 
reviewed periodically to ensure that the period and the method of 
depreciation and amortization are consistent with the expected 
pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment. 

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or 
when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of 
income in the year the asset is derecognized. 

Software and System Development Costs
 Software and system development costs include cost of computer 

software, product and system development costs which are 
accounted for under the cost model.  The cost of the asset is the 
amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other 
considerations given up to acquire an asset at the time of its 
acquisition or production.  

 Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of 
the costs incurred to acquire and install the specific software.  Costs 
associated with maintaining computer software are expensed as 
incurred. 

Costs associated with research activities are expensed in the 
statement of income as they occur.  Costs that are directly 
attributable to the development phase of the new customized 
software for information technology and telecommunications systems 
are recognized as intangibles provided they meet the following 
recognition requirements:  

a. demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective product 
for internal use or sale;  

b. the software and system development costs will generate 
probable economic benefits through internal use or sale; 

c. sufficient technical, financial and other resources are available 
for completion; and, 

d. the software and system development costs can be reliably 
measured. 

Directly attributable costs include employee costs incurred on 
software and system development along with an appropriate portion 
of relevant overheads.  The costs of internally generated software 
developments are recognized as intangible assets; they are subject to 
the same measurement as externally acquired.  However, until 
completion of the development project, the asset are subject to 
impairment testing.  Amortization commences upon completion of 
asset.   

Capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of 5 years.  In addition, software and system 
development costs are subject to impairment testing. 

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets 
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is 
an indication that the Company’s investment in a subsidiary, software 
and system development costs and property, plant and equipment 
may be impaired.  When an indicator of impairment exists or when an 
annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company 
makes an estimate of recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is 
the higher of an asset’s (or cash-generating unit’s) fair value less 
costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual 
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in 
which case the recoverable amount is assessed as part of the cash 
generating unit to which it belongs. Where the carrying amount of an 
asset (or cash generating unit) exceeds its recoverable amount, the 
asset (or cash generating unit) is considered impaired and is written 
down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or cash 
generating unit).   

An impairment loss is charged to operations in the period in which it 
arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which 
case the impairment loss is charged to the revaluation increment of 
the said asset. 

A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized.  If 
that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its 
recoverable amount.  That increased amount cannot exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in 
prior years.  Such reversal is recognized in the statement of income 
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.  After such a reversal, 
the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the 
asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a 
systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

 Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can be 
reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must 
also be met before revenue is recognized: 

Service  
Service income is recognized when the services are rendered. 

Interest  
Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis computed on 
the outstanding principal balance using the applicable effective 
interest rate.  

Dividend
Dividend income on AFS investments is recognized when the right to 
receive payment is established. 

Functional Currency and Foreign Currency Transactions
For financial reporting purposes, the monetary assets and liabilities of 
the Company are translated in Philippine pesos based on the 
Philippine Dealing System (PDS) closing rate prevailing at end of the 
year and foreign currency-denominated income and expenses, at the 
PDS weighted average rate (PDSWAR) for the year.  Foreign 
exchange differences arising from restatement of foreign currency-
denominated monetary assets and liabilities are credited to or 
charged against operations in the year in which the rates change.  
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a 
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the 
dates of the initial translations.  Non-monetary items measured at fair 
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at 
the date when the fair value was determined. 

Leases
 The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease 

is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an 
assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is 
dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.  A reassessment is 
made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies: 

a. There is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or 
extension of the arrangement; 

b. A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that 
term of the renewal or extension was initially included in the 
lease term; 

c. There is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is 
dependent on a specified asset; or 

d. There is a substantial change to the asset. 

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or 
cease from the date when the change in circumstances gave rise to 
the reassessment for scenarios a, c or d above, and at the date of 
renewal or extension period for scenario b. 

Operating lease
Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the 
statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Retirement Benefits
The Company has a noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan. 

The retirement cost of the Company is determined using the 
projected unit credit method.  Under this method, the current service 
cost is the present value of retirement benefits payable in the future 
with respect to services rendered in the current period.  The liability 
recognized in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension 
plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the 
balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets, together with 
adjustments for unrecognized actuarial gains or losses and past 
service costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by 
an independent actuary using the projected unit credit method. The 
present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by 
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discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rate on 
government bonds that have terms to maturity approximating the 
terms of the related retirement liability. Actuarial gains and losses 
arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions are credited to or charged against income when the net 
cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses at the end of the 
previous period exceed 10% of the higher of the defined benefit 
obligation and the fair value of plan assets at that date.  These 
excess gains or losses are recognized over the expected average 
remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plan. 

Past-service costs, if any, are recognized immediately in income, 
unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the 
employees remaining in service for a specified period of time (the 
vesting period). In this case, the past-service costs are amortized on 
a straight-line basis over the vesting period. 

The defined benefit asset or liability comprises the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation less past service costs not yet 
recognized and less the fair value of plan assets out of which the 
obligations are to be settled directly.  The value of any asset is 
restricted to the sum of any past service cost not yet recognized and 
the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of 
refunds from the plan or reductions in the future contributions to the 
plan. 

 Income Taxes
 Current tax 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are 
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 
taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the 
amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance sheet date. 

 Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method on 
temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes.   

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary 
differences, including asset revaluations. Deferred tax assets are 
recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of 
unused tax credits from the excess of minimum corporate income tax 
(MCIT) over the regular corporate income tax (RCIT), and unused net 
operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences and carry forward of unused tax 
credits from MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized. 

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each 
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or 
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred 
tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are 
recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future 
taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realized or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

 Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognized directly in 
equity is also recognized in equity and not in the statement of income. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally 
enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and 
the same taxation authority. 

Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when an obligation (legal or constructive) 
is incurred as a result of a past event and where it is probable that an 
outflow of assets embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.   

 Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized but are disclosed in the 
financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits is remote.  Contingent assets are not 
recognized but are disclosed in the financial statements when an 
inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

Subsequent Events
 Any post year-end events that provide additional information about 

the Company’s position at balance sheet date (adjusting event) are 
reflected in the financial statements.  Post year-end events that are 
not adjusting events, if any, are disclosed when material to the 
financial statements. 

 Fiduciary Activities
Assets arising from fiduciary activities together with related 
undertakings to return such assets to customers are excluded from 
the financial statements where the Company acts in a fiduciary 
capacity such as nominee, trustee or agent. 

3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with PFRS 
requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of resources, liabilities, income and expenses 
and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities.  Future 
events may occur which will cause the assumptions used in arriving 
at the estimates to change.  The effects of any change in estimates 
are reflected in the financial statements as they become reasonably 
determinable. 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on 
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

The following are the critical judgments and key assumptions that 
have a significant risk of material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year: 

Judgment
Recognition of deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 
which the losses can be utilized.  Significant management judgment 
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable 
profits together with future tax planning strategies. 

The Company’s estimates of future taxable income indicate that 
certain temporary differences will be realized in the future.  
Recognized net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2007 and 
2006 amounted to P=1,169,081 and P=968,981, respectively  
(see Notes 11 and 19). 

 Estimates
(a) Impairment of trade and other  receivables 

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts at 
a level considered adequate to provide for potential 
uncollectible receivables.  The level of allowance is evaluated 
by the Company on the basis of factors that affect the 
collectibility of the accounts.  The review is accomplished using 
a combination of specific and collective assessment.  The 
factors considered in specific impairment assessment are the 
length of the Company’s relationship with customers, 
customers’ current credit status based on known factors, age of 
the accounts and other available information that will indicate 
objective evidence that the customers maybe unable to meet 
their financial obligations.  The collective impairment 
assessment is based on historical loss experience and 
deterioration in the market in which the customers operate.  The 
amounts and timing of recorded provision for doubtful accounts 
for any period would differ if the Company made different 
assumptions or utilized different estimates. 

Trade and other receivables, net of allowance for impairment 
losses, amounted to P=15,267,772 and P=9,239,637 as of 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively (see Note 6). 

(b) Impairment of nonfinancial assets 
  The Company assesses impairment on assets whenever events 

or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
of an asset may not be recoverable. The factors that the 
Company considers important which could trigger an 
impairment review include the following: 

 significant underperformance relative to expected historical 
or projected future operating results; 

 significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired 
assets or the strategy for overall business; and 

 significant negative industry or economic trends. 

  The Company recognizes an impairment loss whenever the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 
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The recoverable amount is computed using the value in use 
approach. Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual 
assets. 

As of December 31, 2007, the carrying value of the property 
and equipment and software and system development costs of 
the Company amounted to P=56,059,395 and P=165,252,571, 
respectively (see Notes 9 and 10).  

As of December 31, 2006, the carrying value of the property 
and equipment and software and system development costs of 
the Company amounted to P=66,532,050 and P=164,709,330, 
respectively (see Notes 9 and 10). 

 No impairment loss was recognized in 2007 and 2006. 

(c) Estimated useful lives of property and equipment  
The Company estimates the useful lives of its property and 
equipment.  This estimate is reviewed periodically to ensure 
that the period of depreciation and amortization is consistent 
with the expected pattern of economic benefits from the items of 
property and equipment.   

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the carrying value of the 
property and equipment of the Company amounted to  
P=56,059,395 and P=66,532,050, respectively (see Note 9).  

(d) Estimated useful lives of software and system development 
costs 
The Company estimates the useful lives of software and system 
development costs based on the period over which the assets 
are expected to be available for use.  The estimated useful lives 
of software and system development costs are reviewed 
periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous 
estimates due to technical or commercial obsolescence and 
legal or other limits on the use of the assets.  In addition, 
estimation of the useful lives of software and system 
development costs is based on collective assessment of 
industry practice, internal technical evaluation and experience 
with similar assets.  It is possible, however that future results of 
operations could be materially affected by changes in estimates 
brought about by changes in factors mentioned above.  The 
amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would 
be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances.  A 
reduction in the estimated useful lives of the software and 
system development costs would increase recorded operating 
expenses and decrease non-current assets. 

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the carrying value of the 
software and system development costs of the Company 
amounted to P=165,252,571 and P=164,709,330, respectively 
(see Note 10). 

(e) Impairment of AFS equity investments 
The Company treats AFS equity investments as impaired when 
there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value below its cost or where other objective evidence of 
impairment exists.  The determination of what is ‘significant’ or 
‘prolonged’ requires judgment.  The Company treats ‘significant’ 
generally as 20% or more and ‘prolonged’ greater than 6 
months.  In addition, the Company evaluates other factors, 
including normal volatility in share price for quoted equities and 
the future cash flows and the discount factors for unquoted 
equities. 

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the carrying value of the 
AFS investments amounted to P=606,900 (see Note 11).  

(f) Present value of retirement obligation 
The cost of defined benefit pension plan and other post 
employment benefits is determined using actuarial valuations.  
The actuarial valuation involves making assumptions about 
discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary 
increases, mortality rates and future pension increases.  Due to 
the long term nature of these plans, such estimates are subject 
to significant uncertainty. 

The assumed discount rates were determined using the market 
yields on Philippine government bonds with terms consistent 
with the expected employee benefit payout as of balance sheet 
dates. Refer to Note 18 for the details of assumption used in the 
calculation. 

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation of the Company amounted to  
 P=8,743,878 and P=8,932,638, as of December 31, 2007 and 
2006, respectively (see Note 18).

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

This account consists of: 

2007
2006

(As restated)
Cash on hand and in banks P=25,750,584 P=3,652,264
Short-term placements 2,502,222 18,702,750

P=28,252,806 P=22,355,014

 Cash in banks include regular current and savings deposits with 
various banks at respective bank deposit rates.   

 Short-term placements are denominated in Philippine pesos and US 
dollars with tenors ranging from 1 to 7 days for both peso and dollar 
placements.  Peso investments earned annual effective interest rates 
ranging from 1.00% to 4.50% in 2007 and from 2.50% to 7.25% in 
2006.  Dollar placements earned annual effective interest rates 
ranging from 1.00% to 1.15% in 2007 and from 1.00% to 1.50% in 
2006.  

Interest earned on cash and cash equivalents amounted to P=852,188 
and P=2,553,301 in 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

5. Short-Term Investments 

This account consists of investments in Philippine peso treasury bills 
that earned effective interest rate per annum of 4.24% in 2007 and 
from 3.45% to 5.51% in 2006.   

6. Trade and Other Receivables 

This account consists of: 

2007
2006

(As restated)
Trade receivables P=15,341,878 P=8,552,616
Advances to officers and 

employees 506,935 567,337
Others 834 119,684

15,849,647 9,239,637
Allowance for 

impairment losses (581,875) –
P=15,267,772 P=9,239,637

Trade receivables are usually due by the 25th day of the following 
month and do not bear any interest.  All trade receivables are subject 
to credit risk exposure.  However, the Company does not identify 
specific concentrations of credit risk with regards to trade receivables 
as the amounts recognized consist of large number of receivables 
from various customers. 

Advances to officers and employees have maturities of three months 
to one year and bear interest of 1.00% per month. 

In 2007, the Company recognized provision for impairment losses on 
trade receivables amounting to P=581,875. 

7. Other Current Assets 

This account consists of: 

2007
2006

(As restated)
Input VAT P=5,177,972 P=5,177,972
Creditable taxes 1,451,721 4,048,288
Prepayments 1,415,592 862,400
Supplies inventory 855,669 629,851
Others 72,284 64,996

8,973,238 10,783,507
Allowance for 

impairment losses (2,271,261) –
P=6,701,977 P=10,783,507
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8. Investment in a Subsidiary

The Company holds 100% interest in PCD Nominee Corporation (PCNC) accounted for under the cost method.  PCNC was incorporated in the Philippines 
on January 23, 1996 and is engaged to hold title to all immobilized or dematerialized securities listed and/or traded in the Philippine Stock Exchange or any 
other registered stock exchanges, and/or traded in any over-the-counter market or markets for and on behalf of participants of the Company. 

 No impairment on this investment was recognized in 2007 and 2006. 

9. Property and Equipment 

The composition of and changes in property and equipment follow:  

2007 

Office 
Equipment 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

Furniture 
and 

Fixtures 
Transportation 

Equipment 

Registry, 
Depository and 

Custody 
Equipment Total

Cost      
Balance at beginning of year, as 

previously reported P=201,411,346 P=22,723,028 P=6,448,837 P=5,641,818 P=37,720,466 P=273,945,495
Prior period adjustments (Note 26) (287,009) (212,368) – – – (499,377)
Reclassifications 5,110,980 – – – (5,110,980) –
Balance at beginning  of year, as 

restated 206,235,317 22,510,660 6,448,837 5,641,818 32,609,486 273,446,118
Additions 2,318,306 61,800 386,078 – – 2,766,184
Disposals – – – (878,182) – (878,182)
Reclassification (198,863) 198,863 – – – –
Balance at end of year 208,354,760 22,771,323 6,834,915 4,763,636 32,609,486 275,334,120
Accumulated 

depreciation and amortization      
Balance at beginning of year, as 

previously reported P=189,875,161 P=8,607,722 P=4,431,014 P=2,174,848 P=– P=205,088,745
Prior period adjustments (Note 26) 1,349,050 484,939 (8,666) – – 1,825,323
Balance at beginning of year,      
    as restated 191,224,211 9,092,661 4,422,348 2,174,848 – 206,914,068
Depreciation and  
    amortization 6,584,034 4,543,964 858,113 1,007,273 – 12,993,384
Disposals – – – (632,727) – (632,727)
Reclassification (82,860) 82,860 – – – –
Balance at end of year 197,725,385 13,719,485 5,280,461 2,549,394  219,274,725
Net book value P=10,629,375 P=9,051,838 P=1,554,454 P=2,214,242 P=32,609,486 P=56,059,395

2006

Office 
Equipment 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

Furniture 
and 

Fixtures 
Transportation 

Equipment 

Registry, 
Depository and 

Custody 
Equipment Total

Cost
Balance at beginning of year, as 

previously reported P=201,079,387 P=22,425,526 P=6,448,837 P=4,919,091 P=37,720,466 P=272,593,307
Prior period adjustments  
 (Note 26) (287,009) (212,368) – – – (499,377)
Reclassifications 5,110,980 – – – (5,110,980) –
Balance at beginning  of year, as 

restated 205,903,358 22,213,158 6,448,837 4,919,091 32,609,486 272,093,930
Adjustments (725,000) – – – – (725,000)
Additions 1,056,959 297,502 – 1,800,000 – 3,154,461
Disposals – – – (1,077,273) – (1,077,273)
Balance at end of year 206,235,317 22,510,660 6,448,837 5,641,818 32,609,486 273,446,118

Accumulated 
depreciation and amortization      

Balance at beginning of year, as 
previously reported 183,564,175 4,003,616 3,656,480 1,692,121 – 192,916,392

Prior period adjustments 
    (Note 26)  503,391 631,957 (4,955) 125,682 – 1,256,075
Balance at beginning of year, as 

restated 184,067,566 4,635,573 3,651,525 1,817,803 – 194,172,467
Depreciation and   
    Amortization 7,156,645 4,457,088 770,823 841,818 – 13,226,374
Disposals – – – (484,773) – (484,773)
Balance at end of year 191,224,211 9,092,661 4,422,348 2,174,848 – 206,914,068
Net book value P=15,011,106 P=13,417,999 P=2,026,489 P=3,466,970 P=32,609,486 P=66,532,050
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Total depreciation and amortization are allocated as follows:  
2007 2006

Cost of services (Note 16) P=12,346,402 P=12,565,055
Operating expense 646,982 661,319

P=12,993,384 P=13,226,374

The prior period adjustments to the cost of property and equipment 
include a P=419,377 reversal of double take up of certain acquisitions 
made on credit in 2005.  The corresponding liability booked was also 
reversed.   

10. Software and System Development Costs 

The composition of and changes in software and system 
development costs follow: 

2007
2006

(As restated)
Balance at beginning of year P=164,709,330 P=130,056,431
Additions 543,241 34,652,899
Balance at end of year P=165,252,571 P=164,709,330

 On September 2, 2004, the Company and its Parent Company 
entered into a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with a system 
provider whereby the latter shall supply, customize and maintain the 
Company’s integrated system.  The Company is still in the process of 
developing and setting up the system to ultimately place it in working 
condition for its intended use.  The capitalized costs include the cost 
of the integrated software and the costs incurred for the development 
and customization of the software to be used in the Company’s 
operations.  This also includes professional fees of consultants 
involved in the undertaking.  The Company expects the system to be 
operational in 2008. 

11. Other Non-Current Assets

This account consists of: 

2007
2006

(As restated)
Deferred tax assets - net (Note 19) P=1,169,081 P=968,981
Security deposits (Note 25) 828,594 765,395
AFS investments 606,900 606,900
Others  – 36,055

P=2,604,575 P=2,377,331

 AFS investments pertain to investment in quoted equity security.  
Impairment loss recognized in 2006 as a prior period adjustment 
amounted to P=321,100 (see Note 26).  There was no change in fair 
value of the investment in 2007. 

12. Accrued Expenses and Other Payables

This account consists of the following accruals and payables: 

2007
2006

(As restated)
Accruals for:  
 Maintenance fees P=4,514,885 P=243,090
 Professional fees 3,890,106 1,356,211
 Rent 1,600,732 499,391
 Leave benefits 1,568,937 935,251
 Software development 4,134,458
 Others  5,250,259 2,104,581
Taxes and licenses payable 1,135,563 706,287
Withholding taxes payable 880,111 1,993,411
Other payables 810,819 861,929

P=19,651,412 P=12,834,609

13. Equity 

Capital Stock
The Company has 4,000,000 shares of authorized capital stock with 
par value of P=100. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company 
has 3,233,064 issued and outstanding shares. 

Capital Management 
Decisions on the allocation of capital resources are performed as part 
of the strategic planning review.  The Company also manages its 
capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 
economic conditions. 

The Company’s objectives are to maintain sufficient capital resources 
to support the Company’s risk appetite and capital requirements, to 
maintain sufficient capital resources to meet the minimum regulatory 
capital requirements and to ensure that there are no known events 
that may trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is 
material to the Company. 

Regulatory Capital
The Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP), under BSP Circular 400 
dated July 31, 2003, has prescribed guidelines in the adoption of the 
risk-based capital adequacy framework for quasi-banks taking into 
consideration Section 34 of the General Banking Law of 2000. 

The Company’s regulatory capital consists of Tier 1 (core) capital, 
which comprises share capital and retained earnings including current 
year profit less required deductions such as deferred income tax and 
unsecured credit accommodations to DOSRI.  The other component 
of regulatory capital is Tier 2 (supplementary) capital, which includes, 
among others, general loan loss provision.  The risk-based capital 
ratio of the Company is expressed as a percentage of qualifying 
capital to risk-weighted assets, which are computed based on BSP 
regulations.   

Regulatory Qualifying Capital
Shown below are the Company’s minimum capital-to-risk assets ratio 
as reported to the BSP as of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 
2006.   

2007 2006
Tier 1 Capital P=363,515,383 P=353,990,509
Tier 2 Capital – –
Gross Qualifying Capital 363,515,383 353,990,509
Less: Required deductions 500,000 500,000
Total qualifying capital P=363,015,383 353,490,509

Risk weighted assets P=379,074,038 P=338,273,025
Risk-based capital 
adequacy ratio 95.76% 104.50%

The Company is required to maintain capital amounting to  
P=300.0 million.

14. Service Income

This account consists of: 

2007
2006

(As restated)
Depository Fee P=153,634,479 P=91,894,942
Registry Fee 4,117,689 2,941,947
Custody Fee 1,782,275 991,989

P=159,534,443 P=95,828,878

Depository fee pertains to fee from holding eligible securities, keeping 
records of ownership and facilitating the movement of these 
securities. 

Registry fee pertains to maintenance fee of the official record of the 
list of registered holders of paperless or uncertificated fixed income or 
equity securities for the issuer of the security.  

Custody fees are charged for safekeeping securities holdings on 
behalf of clients and servicing the client’s transactions.   

15. Other Income

This account consists of: 

2007
2006

(As restated)
Interest (Notes 4 and 5) P=902,750 P=2,588,991
Foreign exchange gain (loss) 790,233 (2,149,780)
Gain on sale of assets 118,971 –
Dividends 39,450 39,450
Others  932,514 443,777

P=2,783,918 P=922,438

Others include revenue from printing stock certificates and 
statements of account. 
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16. Cost of Services

This account consists of: 

2007
2006

(As restated)
Salaries and employee benefits

(Note 17) P=41,183,695 P=30,285,875
Repairs and maintenance (Note 25)  21,940,191 682,074
Depreciation and amortization  
 (Note 9) 12,346,402 12,565,055
Taxes and licenses 11,252,041 7,281,038
Professional fees 7,435,363 660,969 
Utilities 5,787,380 4,315,167
Rent (Note 25) 4,686,206 2,890,262
Certificate handling fee 2,337,050 950,690
Outside services 2,152,270 1,232,754
Insurance 1,819,367 1,808,278
Bank charges 1,350,444 1,397,257
Postage  835,196 285,519
Advertising expense 619,775 –
Printing and reproduction 479,835 481,519
Supplies 326,451 246,599
Others 2,039,537 1,196,715

P=116,591,203 P=66,279,771

17. Salaries and Employee Benefits

This account consists of: 

2007
2006

(As restated)
Salaries and wages  P=44,255,171 P=34,888,813
Leave benefits 988,942 –
Retirement expense (income) 

(Note 18) 1,607,636 (63,577)
Social security costs 841,364 537,584
Others 2,286,929 1,406,521

P=49,980,042 P=36,769,341

Total salaries and employee benefits are allocated as follows:  
2007 2006

Cost of services P=41,183,695 P=30,285,875
Operating expense 8,796,347 6,483,466

P=49,980,042 P=36,769,341

18. Retirement Plan

The Company has a funded noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan covering substantially all its officers and regular employees.  Under this 
retirement plan, all covered officers and employees are entitled to cash benefits after satisfying certain age and service requirements. 

The Company’s annual contribution to the retirement plan consists of a payment covering the current service cost, amortization of the unfunded actuarial 
accrued liability and interest on such unfunded actuarial liability.   

The following table shows the actuarial assumptions as of January 1, 2007 and 2006 used in determining the retirement benefit obligation of the Company: 

Actuarial Assumptions 

Date of Actuarial Valuation Report 

Average
Remaining

Working Life 

Expected
Rate of
Return

on Assets 

Salary 
Increase 

Rate 
Discount 

Rate 

Future 
Pension

Increases 
January 1, 2007 25 7.00% 5.00% 7.86% – 
January 1, 2006 24 6.00% 10.00% 11.90% – 

The overall expected rate of return on plan assets is determined based on the market prices prevailing on that date applicable to the period over which the 
obligation is to be settled. 

The amount of defined retirement asset recognized in the balance sheet is determined as follows: 

2007 2006
Fair value of plan assets P=17,392,726 P=15,328,599
Present value of defined benefit obligation (8,743,878) (8,932,638)

8,648,848 6,395,961
Unrecognized actuarial losses 953,348 3,244,704
Retirement benefit asset P=9,602,196 P=9,640,665

 The amounts included in Salaries and employee benefits (see Note 17) for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows: 

2007 2006
Current service cost P=1,888,436 P=762,026
Interest cost 702,105 555,609
Expected return on plan assets (1,073,002) (1,381,212)
Actuarial loss 90,097 –

P=1,607,636 (P=63,577)

 The actual return on plan assets of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 amounted to P=1,950,541 and  
P=3,122,243, respectively. 

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows: 

2007 2006
Defined benefit obligation at beginning of year P=8,932,638 P=4,668,979
Interest cost 702,105 555,609
Current service cost 1,888,436 762,026
Benefits paid (1,455,581) (1,713,921)
Actuarial loss (gain) (1,323,720) 4,659,945
Defined benefit obligation at end of year P=8,743,878 P=8,932,638
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Changes in the fair value of the plan assets are as follows: 

2007 2006
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year P=15,328,599 P=13,812,111
Contributions paid into the plan 1,569,167 108,167
Expected return 1,073,002 1,381,211
Benefits paid (1,455,581) (1,713,921)
Actuarial gain 877,539 1,741,031
Fair value of plan assets at end of year P=17,392,726 P=15,328,599

 The Company intends to contribute P=2,921,992 to the plan in 2008. 

 The major categories of plan assets are as follows: 

2007 2006
Government & equity securities P=16,175,402 P=13,487,204
Deposit in banks 717,488 724,294
Accrued interest receivable 164,844 138,216
Trust fees payable (48,285) (21,115)
Other investments in bonds 383,277 1,000,000

P=17,392,726 P=15,328,599

 Information on the pension plan as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 follow: 

2007 2006
Fair value of plan assets P=17,392,726 P=15,328,599
Present value of the defined benefit obligation (8,743,878) (8,932,638)
Surplus in plan assets 8,648,848 6,395,961
Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities (666,506) 4,009,965
Experience adjustments arising on plan assets 877,539 1,741,031

19. Income Taxes

Income taxes include corporate income tax, as discussed below, and final taxes paid at the rate of 20% and 7.5% for peso and foreign cash deposits and 
short-term investments, both based on gross interest income.   

Republic Act No. 9337, An Act Amending National Internal Revenue Code, provides that the RCIT rate shall be 35% until January 1, 2009. Starting  
January 1, 2009, the RCIT rate shall be 30%. 

The regulations also impose the MCIT of 2% on modified gross income and allow a NOLCO.  The NOLCO and the excess of the MCIT over the RCIT may be 
applied against taxable income and the income tax liability, respectively, over a three-year period from the year of inception.

 Provision for income tax consists of: 

2007
2006

(As restated)
Current: 
 RCIT P=9,933,006 P=2,828,243
 Final 165,536 510,660
Deferred (200,100) 30,763

P=9,898,442 P=3,369,666

Components of the net deferred tax assets follow: 

2007 
2006

(As restated)
Deferred tax asset on: 
 Retirement cost P=462,268 P=529,258
 Accrued vacation leave benefits 555,883 327,338
 Impairment of AFS investments 112,385 112,385
 Allowance for inventory loss 49,046 –
 Allowance for impairment losses on trade receivables 37,878 –
Deferred tax liability on: 
 Unrealized foreign exchange gain (48,379) –

P=1,169,081 P=968,981

A reconciliation of the statutory income tax to the effective income tax follows: 

2007 
2006 

(As restated)
Statutory income tax P=6,847,055 P=3,840,436
Tax effects of: 
 Nontaxable income (146,537) (489,918)
 Deferred income 18,375 –
 Nondeductible expenses 3,155,413 19,148
 Others 24,136 –
Effective income tax P=9,898,442 P=3,369,666
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20. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other 
party in making financial and operating decisions.  Parties are also considered to be related if they are subjected to common control or common significant 
influence.  Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities.   

The Company in the ordinary course of business has entered into transactions with its related parties principally consisting of reimbursement of expenses 
and advances for working capital purposes.  The advances are non-interest bearing and are payable on demand.  The transactions and balances of accounts 
with related parties follow:  

   Elements of Transactions 

  Nature of 
Balance Sheet 

Amount Statement of Income Amount 
Related Party Relationship Transaction 2007 2006 2007 2006
PDSHC Parent   

Company Due from related parties P=18,595,031 P=24,483,914 P=– P=–
  Management fee – – – 8,160,204
PDEx Affiliate Due from related parties 78,258,690 45,583,340 – –
PSSC Affiliate Due from related parties 1,768,706 2,141,682 – –
PCNC Subsidiary Due to a related party 455,950 192,997 – –
  Operating expenses – 86,960 108,903

Management Fee 
In 2006, the Parent Company charged the Company a management fee inclusive of VAT, of  P=8,160,204 in line with its supervision of overall operations of 
the Company.  For presentation purposes, the related liability arising from this transaction amounting to P=7,067,320 is offset against the Company’s 
advances to the Parent Company.   

Key Management Personnel Compensation
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:  

2007 2006
Salaries and wages  P=10,454,494 P=6,235,714
Retirement benefits 279,335 319,609
Other long-term benefits 171,834 103,496

P=10,905,663 P=6,658,819

21. Securities Under Custody

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the market value of securities under the custody of the Company amounted to P=2,610,228,633 and P=9,775,696,582, 
respectively. 

22. Financial Performance

 The following basic ratios measure the financial performance for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 of the Company:  

2007 2006 

Return on average equity (a/b) 2.61% 2.10% 
a. Net income  9,664,572 7,603,007 
b. Average total equity 370,602,677 361,297,343 

Return on average assets (d/e) 2.43% 2.05% 
d.) Net income 9,664,572 7,603,007 
e.) Average total assets 397,424,729 370,979,794 

Net interest margin on average earning assets (f/g) 4.74% 8.71% 
f.) Net interest income  902,750 2,588,991 
g.) Average interest earning assets 19,030,984 29,708,794 
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23. Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurement

Shown below are the Company’s assets and liabilities as they appear on the balance sheet, which are divided into financial and nonfinancial items, with the 
financial items being mapped to the categories of financial instruments under PAS 39. 

2007

 Cash 
Loans and

Receivables
HTM 

investments
Available

for Sale

Other 
Financial 
Liabilities 

Other 
Non

financial 
Items Total

ASSETS  
Cash and cash equivalents P=10,000 P=28,242,806 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=28,252,806
Short-term investments – – 2,435,042 – – – 2,435,042
Trade and other receivables – 15,267,772 – – – – 15,267,772
Due from related parties – 98,622,427 – – – – 98,622,427
Other current assets – – – – – 6,701,977 6,701,977
Investment in a subsidiary – – – – – 500,000 500,000
Property and equipment – – – – – 56,059,395 56,059,395
Software and system 
 development costs – – – – –

165,252,571 165,252,571

Retirement benefit assets – – – – – 9,602,196 9,602,196
Other non-current assets – 828,594 – 606,900 – 1,169,081 2,604,575

Total Assets P=10,000 P=142,961,599 P=2,435,042 P=606,900 P=– P=239,285,220 P=385,298,761

LIABILITIES  
Accrued expenses and other
 payables P=– P=– P=– P=– P=17,635,738 P=2,015,674 P=19,651,412
Due to a related party – – – – 455,950  455,950

Total Liabilities P=– P=– P=– P=– P=18,091,688 P=2,015,674 P=20,107,362

2006

 Cash 
Loans and

Receivables
HTM 

investments
Available
For Sale

Other
Financial
Liabilities

Other
Non

financial
Items Total

ASSETS  
Cash and cash equivalents P= 10,000 P=22,345,014 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=22,355,014
Short-term investments – – 10,207,963 – – – 10,207,963
Trade and other  receivables – 9,239,637 – – – – 9,239,637
Due from related parties – 72,208,936 – – – – 72,208,936
Other current assets – – – – – 10,783,507 10,783,507
Investment in a subsidiary – – – – – 500,000 500,000
Property and equipment – – – – – 66,532,050 66,532,050
Software and system  
 development costs 

– – – – –
164,709,330 164,709,330

Retirement benefit assets – – – – – 9,640,665 9,640,665
Other non-current assets – 765,395 606,900 1,005,036 2,377,331

Total Assets P=10,000 P=104,558,982 P=10,207,963 P=606,900 P=– P=253,170,588 P=368,554,433

LIABILITIES  
Accrued expenses and other 
 payables P=– P=– P=– P=– P=10,134,911 P=2,699,698 P=12,834,609
Due to a related party – – – – 192,997 – 192,997

Total Liabilities P=– P=– P=– P=– P=10,327,908 P=2,699,698 P=13,027,606
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Fair Values
The carrying values and fair values of financial instruments are as follows: 

2007 2006 
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

Financial assets: 
 Loans and receivables: 
  Cash and cash equivalents P=28,252,806 P=28,252,806 P=22,355,014 P=22,355,014
  Trade and other receivables: 
   Trade  15,267,772 15,267,772 8,552,616 8,552,616
   Advances to officers and  
            employees 506,935 506,935 567,337 567,337
   Others 834 834 119,684 119,684
  Deposits 828,594 828,594 765,395 765,395
  Due from related parties 98,622,427 98,622,427 72,208,936 72,208,936
 143,479,368 143,479,368 104,568,982 104,568,982

 Short-term investments (classified  
  as HTM investments) 2,435,042 2,422,885 10,207,963 10,421,429

 AFS investments (shown under  
  Other non-current assets) 606,900 606,900 606,900 606,900

P=145,692,716 P=145,680,559 P=114,618,450 P=114,831,916

Financial liabilities:    
Other financial liabilities:   

  Accrued expenses and other  
   payables (excluding taxes,  
   SSS, Philhealth and HDMF  
   payables and deferred income) 17,577,933 17,577,933 10,214,144 10,214,144
  Due to a related party 455,950 455,950 192,997 192,997

P=18,033,883 P=18,033,883 P=10,407,141 P=10,407,141

The methods and assumptions used by the Company in estimating the fair value of the financial instruments are: 

Cash and cash equivalents, Trade and other receivables, Due from/to related parties/party, Accrued expenses and other payables - Carrying amounts 
approximate fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these instruments. 

Short-term investments and AFS investments - Fair values are based on quoted prices published in markets. 

24. Financial Risk Management Policies and Objectives

The Company does not engage in trading activities or take positions in equity, foreign exchange and securities other than investment in government 
securities in the course of managing its cash and liquidity position and purchase of foreign exchange to service some of its foreign-currency denominated 
obligations.  The Company’s market, liquidity and credit risks arising from the use of financial instruments are thus limited to the above activities.

The following provides the overall risk management principles and process that governs the risk management of the PDS Group and the Company. 

 Risk Management Structure
The Company’s risk management process hinges on the following principles: 

 The Board of Directors (BOD) establishes the Company’s risk philosophy and culture, approves the risk policies and sets the risk appetite for the 
Company. 

 The Executive Committee (Excom) is accountable to the BOD for the risk taken by the business. 

 The risk takers of each business initially identify and evaluate market, product or service opportunities, subject to further evaluation of the Risk 
Management group and other specific risk function groups, e.g., Product Committee, Legal and Compliance, for the attendant risks.

 Management of risks is done in a coordinated manner within the group. 

 Risk management is an independent function reporting to the Risk Management Committee (RMC) where the Company’s Chief Operating Officer 
(COO) is a member. 

Risk Management Organization
The Company’s risk management organization consists of the following: 

1. The BOD is the risk policy maker and approving authority of the Company.  The BOD has created and appointed Standing Committees with at least 
one Independent Director to assist in performing its functions. These include the RMC, Audit Committee and Trust Committee. 

The RMC is a group-level committee where the Company’s COO is a member.  It sets the policy standards and guidelines for the management and 
assessment of group-wide risk, with the ultimate objective of ascertaining that risk exposures of the Company fall within the capital collectively available 
and allocated to the juridical entities.  The chairman of the RMC is an Independent Director.  The Chief Risk Officer is a member of the Committee. 

The Audit Committee is the oversight of the financial reporting process, the internal control process as well as the hiring and performance of external 
auditors.  The Chairman of the Audit Committee is an Independent Director. 

The Trust Committee formulates the general policies and guidelines on the management of trust and other fiduciary accounts.  It reviews and approves 
the acceptance and closing of trust and other fiduciary accounts and adopts measures to ensure the independence of the Company’s trust function. 

2. The risk functions of identifying, evaluating and measuring risks and exposures attendant to the products and services provided by the Company, as 
well as recommending limits is performed by the Risk Management Unit (RMU).  It also establishes standards to monitor and report compliance with 
limits. 
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Complementing the RMU is the Product Committee.  The Product Committee reviews existing and proposed products to ensure that all risk taking 
personnel have properly identified and analyzed the relevant risks.  It recommends to the Excom the approval of the proposed product. 

3. The Operations Support, Legal and Compliance, Financial Control, and Audit groups support the Company’s risk management function in risk control.  
They operate independently of the business units and the risk management functions.  The Operations Support group performs risk reporting, through 
generation of risk reports, and the control process of risk management.  The Legal and Compliance group ensures that all laws and regulations are 
complied with and contracts entered into by the Company are enforceable.  The Financial Control group ensures that expenses and revenues are 
within budget and properly approved and monitored. The Audit group shall ensure compliance of financial accounting and internal control processes 
with internal and regulatory standards. 

4. The risk takers are the officers of respective business units handling the products.  These are the units that identify market or product opportunities and 
sponsor product or service developments or proposals. 

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Company will incur a loss because its counterparties fail to discharge their contractual obligations.  The Company’s 
counterparties include its banks, the Bureau of Treasury (BTr) of the Philippines as issuer of government securities, related parties and the Company’s 
Depository, Custody and Registry clients.   

The Company manages and controls its credit exposure to its clients by actively monitoring the size and age of its receivables.  Per Rule 2 of the November 
1997 PCD Rules, each client is required to submit a Participation Agreement in addition to the constitutive documents before it is admitted as a client.  

In addition, the Company’s clients are availing of the auto-debit facility.  The auto-debit facility is an arrangement whereby the Participants authorize the 
Company to debit their designated cash account for the payment of fees based on invoices sent by the Company on the 5th day of the following month.   

Credit risk exposures 
The table below shows the gross maximum exposure to on- and off-balance sheet credit risk exposures of the Company, without considering the effects of 
collateral, credit enhancements and other credit risk mitigation techniques:  

2007 2006 
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on hand) P=28,242,806 P=22,345,014 
Short-term investments 2,435,042 10,207,963 
Trade and other receivables - net 15,267,772 9,239,637 
Due from related parties 98,622,427 72,208,936 
Deposits (shown under Other non-current assets) 828,594 765,395 
AFS investments (shown under Other  
 non-current assets) 606,900 606,900 
Total credit risk exposure P=146,003,541 P=115,373,845 

The credit quality of the Company’s financial assets is as follows: 
   

   Past due or  
 Neither past due nor impaired individually  
 High grade Standard grade impaired Total 
Cash and cash equivalents  
 (excluding cash on hand) P=28,242,806 P=  P=  P=28,242,806 
Short-term investments 2,435,042  2,435,042 
Trade and other receivables 14,685,897  581,875 15,267,772 
Due from related parties 98,622,427  98,622,427 
Deposits (shown under Other non-
 current assets) 828,594 – – 828,594 
AFS investments (shown under  
 Other non-current assets) 606,900  606,900 
Total P=145,421,666 P=  P=581,875 P=146,003,541 

The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Company by limiting its counterparties to top-tier corporate institutions including financial institutions 
which are regulated entities under Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) or Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).   

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments are considered as high grade credit as these are placements and deposits with top-tier Philippine 
banks and investment in government securities issued by the Bureau of Treasury (BTr) of the Republic of the Philippines.  Trade and other receivables are 
considered as high grade credit as these are receivables from corporate clients that are subject to the Company’s rules that provide adequate remedies to 
the Company’s credit exposures.  Due from related parties were assessed by management as high grade as these are realized within the normal terms, while 
AFS investments are investments in Philippine Long Distance Telephone Co. (PLDT) shares. 

Receivables or investments in institutions that are not top-tier corporations are considered standard grade. 

As of December 31, 2007, the Company has no past due but not impaired financial assets. 

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to meet its payment obligations as they fall due.  To mitigate this risk, management prepares a 
forecast of the business cash flows for the year.  Constant monitoring and a well-defined billing and collection policy facilitate management of projected 
inflows. 

To minimize market risks that could adversely affect management of liquidity position and because the Company is not in the business of trading securities, it 
is the management’s policy to invest excess cash and cash equivalents in liquid and non-speculative financial instruments, such as term deposits and 
government securities, with tenors that match its funding schedule.   

All financial liabilities of the Company as of December 31, 2007 are payable on demand.   

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market variables such as interest rates, 
foreign exchange rates and equity prices. Market risk includes interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. The Company has no significant concentration of 
market risk. 
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Interest Rate Risk  
Interest rate risk arises on interest-bearing financial instruments 
recognized in the balance sheet.  As of December 31, 2007 and 
2006, the Company has no interest bearing borrowings; hence, the 
Company is not sensitive to interest rate changes. 

Foreign Currency Risk 
Foreign currency risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from 
changes in foreign exchange rates.  The Company is exposed to 
foreign currency risk arising from its foreign-currency denominated 
cash and accrued expenses.   

The risk is manageable to the extent that the fees are pre-determined 
both in terms of amount and flows. To manage the adverse impact of 
changes in the foreign currency rates on the fees, the Company may 
also enter into foreign exchange forward contracts. The Company 
currently has no outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts. 

The Company's cash in banks and accrued expenses, which are 
denominated in US dollars amounted to $23,576 and $107,092 as of 
December 31, 2007 and $7,514 and $151,650 as of December 31, 
2006, respectively. 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably 
possible change in the US dollar (USD)/Philippine Peso (PhP) 
exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the 
Company’s income before income tax due to revaluation of monetary 
assets and liabilities. There is no impact on equity other than those 
already affecting income before income tax.  

Increase (Decrease) in 
USD/PhP exchange rate 

Effect on Income
Before Income Tax

2007 P=1.00 (P=83,516)
  (1.00) 83,516

The decrease in USD/PhP exchange rate means stronger PhP 
against the USD while an increase in USD/PhP rate means weaker 
PhP against the USD.  

Equity Price Risk 
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities decrease as 
the result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the value of 
individual stocks. 

The Company’s investment in listed shares of stock showed no 
significant movement in 2006 and 2007.  The Company assessed 
that changes in the fair value in the next reporting period will have an 
immaterial effect on the Company’s equity.   

25. Commitments and Contingencies

The following are the significant commitments and contingencies 
involving the Company: 

Operating Lease Commitments – Company as Lessee
The Parent Company is a lessee under non-cancellable operating 
leases covering its office and parking space for a period of five years.  
Monthly rentals are apportioned to the Company and other related 
parties based on the size of the area occupied. 

The future minimum rentals payable for the Company’s office space 
under these operating leases as of December 31 are as follows:  

2007 2006
Within a year P=6,135,008 P=3,197,292
After one year but not more than 

five years 4,166,078 5,328,820
P=10,301,086 P=8,526,112

Total rentals from these operating leases amounted to P=5,727,162 in 
2007 and P=3,532,282 in 2006, of which P=4,686,206 and P=2,890,262 
was charged to Cost of services in 2007 and 2006, respectively.  

Security Deposits 
In connection with the above lease agreements, the Company paid 
security deposits amounting to  P=828,594 and P=765,395 as of 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, and are presented under 
Other non-current assets account in the balance sheet. 

Maintenance of the Integrated System 
In accordance with the Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) entered 
by the Company on September 2, 2004 (see Note 10), the Company 
is committed to pay $330,000 in 2007 and $320,000 annually 
thereafter for the maintenance of the Company’s integrated system. 

Others 
In the normal course of business, the Company makes various 
commitments and has certain contingent liabilities that are not given 
recognition in the accompanying financial statements.  Management 
believes that losses, if any, that may arise from these commitments 
and contingencies will not have any material effect on the financial 
statements. 

26. Prior Period Adjustments 

The Company’s reported net income in 2006 was restated to reflect 
correction of prior year’s accounting entries as follows: 

Net income, as previously reported  P=8,744,090 
Adjustments: 
 To adjust service income   (P=981,592)
 To accrue percentage tax and 
  certificate handling fee (677,135)
 To record depreciation of  
  server and network  (569,248)
 To record permanent decline 
  in investment in quoted 
  equity security (321,100)
 To reverse accrual of   
  expenses  300,543
 To adjust rent expense using  
  straight-line method 266,045
 Others (48,652)
 Tax benefit of adjustments 890,056 (1,141,083)
Net income, as restated  P=7,603,007

The Company’s reported retained earnings as of December 31, 2005 
was restated to reflect correction of prior year’s accounting entries as 
follows:   

Retained earnings at December 
 31, 2005, as previously 

reported P=24,443,625
Adjustments: 
 To record depreciation of  
  server and network  (P=1,256,075)
 To record expenses of   
  PCNC in 2004 and  
  2005 

(105,380)

 To reverse non-capitalizable  
  leasehold    
  improvements 

(80,000)

 To adjust rent expense using 
  straight line method 440,450 (1,001,005)
Retained Earnings at  
 December  31, 2005, as 
 restated  P=23,442,620
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The Board of Directors 
PCD Nominee Corporation 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of PCD Nominee Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of Philippine Depository & 
Trust Corp., which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2007, and the statement of income, statement of changes in equity and 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.  The financial 
statements of the Company as at and for the year ended December 31, 2006, which are presented for comparative purposes, were audited by 
other auditors whose report dated April 24, 2007, expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements.  The opinion of the other auditors, 
however, does not cover the restatements of those statements as discussed in Note 13 to the financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards.  This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Philippine Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of PCD Nominee Corporation as of 
December 31, 2007, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards. 

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO. 

Josephine Adrienne A. Abarca 
Partner 
CPA Certificate No. 92126 
SEC Accreditation No. 0466-A 
Tax Identification No. 163-257-145 
PTR No. 0014603, January 3, 2008, Makati City 

July 30, 2008 

PCD NOMINEE CORPORATION

Independent Auditors’ Report

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO. 
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  December 31

2007 

2006
(As restated –

 Note 13)

ASSETS 

Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) P=654,973  P=637,975
Receivables (Notes 5 and 8) 341,335   279,302

Total Assets P=996,308  P=917,277

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

Current Liabilities 
Accounts payable (Note 6) P=129,466 P=75,123

Equity
Capital stock, P=100 par value 

Authorized - 20,000 shares 
Issued and outstanding - 5,000 shares 500,000 500,000

Retained earnings 366,842 342,154
Total Equity 866,842 842,154
Total Liabilities and Equity P=996,308 P=917,277

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

PCD NOMINEE CORPORATION
(A WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF PHILIPPINE DEPOSITORY & TRUST CORP.)

Balance Sheet
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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Years Ended December 31

2007 

2006 
(As restated - 

Note 13)

INCOME 
Interest (Note 4) P=30,860 P=22,955

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 7) 6,172 4,591 

NET INCOME P=24,688 P=18,364

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

PCD NOMINEE CORPORATION
(A WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF PHILIPPINE DEPOSITORY & TRUST CORP.)

Balance Sheet
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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Capital
Stock 

Retained 
Earnings 

Total
Equity

Balance at January 1, 2007, as previously reported P=500,000 P=1,624,898 P=2,124,898
Prior period adjustments (Note 13) – (1,282,744) (1,282,744)
Balance at January 1, 2007, as restated 500,000 342,154 842,154
Net income for the year – 24,688 24,688
Balance at December 31, 2007 P=500,000 P=366,842 P=866,842

Balance at January 1, 2006, as previously reported P=500,000 P=1,164,515 P=1,664,515
Prior period adjustments (Note 13) – (840,725) (840,725)
Balance at January 1, 2006, as restated 500,000 323,790 823,790
Net income for the year – 18,364 18,364
Balance at December 31, 2006 P=500,000 P=342,154 P=842,154

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

PCD NOMINEE CORPORATION
(A WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF PHILIPPINE DEPOSITORY & TRUST CORP.)

Statement of Changes in Equity
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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Years Ended December 31

2007 
2006 

(As restated - Note 13)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
Income before income tax P=30,860 P=22,955 
Adjustments for interest income (Note 4) (30,860) (22,955)
Operating loss before working capital changes  – –
Increase in accounts payable 54,343 (7,855)
Cash generated from (used in) operations 54,343  (7,855)
Cash paid for income taxes  (6,172) (4,591)
Net cash provided (used)  from operating activities 48,171  (12,446)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 30,256 21,298 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Increase in advances to Parent Company (61,429) (22,662)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 16,998 (13,810)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 637,975  651,785 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR P=654,973  P=637,975 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

PCD NOMINEE CORPORATION
(A WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF PHILIPPINE DEPOSITORY & TRUST CORP.)

Statement of Cash Flows
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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1. Corporate Information

The PCD Nominee Corporation (the Company), a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Philippine Depository & Trust Corp. (the 
Parent Company), is a domestic corporation incorporated in 
the Philippines on January 23, 1996.  The Company’s 
ultimate parent company is Philippine Dealing System 
Holdings Corp. 

The Company is engaged to hold legal title to all immobilized 
and dematerialized securities listed and/or traded on the 
Philippine Stock Exchange or any other registered stock 
exchange or fixed income exchanges, and/or traded in any 
over-the-counter market or markets for and on behalf of the 
trading participants of the Parent Company; including the 
right to receive dividends for and on behalf of the beneficial 
owners of the securities. 

The Parent Company is authorized to primarily act as the 
depository, registry, custodian, trustee and/or intermediary of 
its participants of any and all kinds of securities, monetary or 
financial instruments and their derivatives; to borrow 
instruments for relending; to provide a system to immobilize 
or dematerialize instruments; act as quasi-bank, trust 
company, securities depository and clearing agency.    

 The registered office of the Company and the Parent 
Company, which is also their principal place of business, is 
located at the 37th Floor, The Enterprise Center, 6766 Ayala 
Avenue, Makati City. 

 The accompanying financial statements were authorized for 
issue by the Audit Committee on July 30, 2008. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared 
on a historical cost basis.  The financial statements are 
presented in Philippine Peso, the Company’s functional and 
presentation currency. 

Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of the Company have been 
prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards (PFRS).  PFRS includes statements named PFRS 
and Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS), including 
interpretations issued by the Financial Reporting Standards 
Council (FRSC). 

Changes in Accounting Policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of 
the previous financial year, except for adoption of the 
following amended PAS and new PFRS starting January 1, 
2007: 

 PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, requires 
disclosures that enable users of the financial 
statements to evaluate the significance of the 
Company’s financial statements and the nature and 
extent of risks arising from those financial instruments.  
It requires the disclosure of qualitative and quantitative 
information about exposure to risks arising from 
financial instruments, including specified minimum 
disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market 
risk, as well as sensitivity analysis to market risk.  It 
replaces PAS 30, Disclosures in the Financial 
Statements of Banks and Similar Financial Institutions,
and the disclosure requirements in PAS 32, Financial 
Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation.  It is 
applicable to all entities that report under PFRS.   

The Company adopted the amendment to the transition 
provisions of PFRS 7, as approved by the FRSC, which 

gives transitional relief with respect to the presentation 
of comparative information for the new risks disclosures 
about the nature and extent of risks arising from 
financial instruments in paragraphs 31 to 42 of PFRS 7.  
Accordingly, an entity that applies PFRS 7 for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2007 need not 
present comparative information unless previously 
required by PAS 30 or PAS 32. 

 Amendment to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial 
Statements, requires the Company to make new 
disclosures to enable users of the financial statements 
to evaluate the Company’s objectives, policies and 
processes for managing capital.  These new 
disclosures are shown in Note 10. 

The following Philippine Interpretations from the International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) are 
effective for annual periods beginning January 1, 2007 but 
did not have any impact on the financial statements of the 
Company:  

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 8, Scope of PFRS 2,
requires PFRS 2, Share-based Payment, to be applied 
to any arrangements in which the entity cannot identify 
specifically some or all of the goods received, in 
particular where equity instruments are issued for 
consideration which appears to be less than fair value.   

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 9, Reassessment of 
Embedded Derivatives, states that the date to assess 
the existence of an embedded derivative is the date an 
entity first becomes a party to the contract, with 
reassessment only if there is a change to the contract 
that significantly modifies the cash flows.   

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 10, Interim Financial 
Reporting and Impairment, requires that an entity must 
not reverse an impairment loss recognized in the 
previous interim period in respect of goodwill or an 
investment in either an equity instrument or a financial 
asset carried at cost. 

Future Changes in Accounting Policies
The Company did not early adopt the following standards, 
Philippine Interpretations and amendments that have been 
approved by the FRSC but are not yet effective: 

 PFRS 8, Operating Segments, becomes effective for 
financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2009, 
and will replace PAS 14, Segment Reporting.  It adopts 
a management approach to reporting segment 
information.  PFRS 8 is required for adoption only by 
entities where debt or equity instruments are publicly 
traded, or are in the process of filing with the SEC for 
purposes of issuing any class of instrument in a public 
market. The Company is not required and will not adopt 
PFRS 8. 

 Amendment to PAS 23, Borrowing Costs, becomes 
effective for financial years beginning on or after 
January 1, 2009.  The standard has been revised to 
require capitalization of borrowing costs when such 
costs relate to a qualifying asset.  A qualifying asset is 
an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of 
time to get ready for its intended use or sale.  This 
amendment has no significant impact on the financial 
statements. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 11, PFRS 2 - Group and 
Treasury Share Transactions, becomes effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after March 1, 2007.  
This requires arrangements whereby an employee is 
granted rights to an entity’s equity instruments to be 
accounted for as an equity-settled scheme by the entity 

PCD NOMINEE CORPORATION
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even if (a) the entity chooses or is required to buy those 
equity instruments (e.g., treasury shares) from another 
party, or (b) the shareholders of the entity provide the 
equity instruments needed.  It also provides guidance 
on how subsidiaries, in their separate financial 
statements, account for such schemes when their 
employees receive rights to the equity instruments of 
the parent.  The Company currently does not have any 
stock option plan and therefore, does not expect this 
interpretation to have significant impact on its financial 
statements.    

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 12, Service Concession 
Arrangements, becomes effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2008.  This 
interpretation, which covers contractual arrangements 
arising from entities providing public-to-private service 
concession arrangements, is not relevant to the 
Company. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty 
Programmes, becomes effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after July 1, 2008.  This interpretation 
requires customer loyalty award credits to be accounted 
for as a separate component of the sales transactions 
in which they are granted and therefore part of the fair 
value of the consideration received is allocated to the 
award credits and deferred over the period that the 
award credits are fulfilled.  The Company expects that 
this interpretation will have no impact on the financial 
statements as no such scheme exists. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 14, PAS 19 - The Limit 
on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding 
Requirements and their Interaction, becomes effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2008.  This interpretation provides guidance on how to 
assess the limit on the amount of surplus in a defined 
benefit scheme that can be recognized as an asset 
under PAS 19, Employee Benefits.  The interpretation is 
not relevant to the Company. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents
 For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash 

equivalents include cash and other cash items with original 
maturities of three months or less from dates of placements 
and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 

Financial instruments
Date of recognition 
The Company recognizes a financial asset or a financial 
liability in the balance sheet when it becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. In the case of a 
regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition 
and derecognition, as applicable, is done using trade date 
accounting.  

Initial recognition of financial instruments 
Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, 
which is the fair value of the consideration given (in case of 
an asset) or received (in case of a liability).  The initial 
measurement of financial instruments, except for those 
designated at fair value through profit and loss (FVPL), 
includes transaction cost. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Company classifies its 
financial instruments in the following categories: financial 
assets and financial liabilities at FVPL, loans and 
receivables, held-to-maturity (HTM) investments, available 
for sale (AFS) financial assets and other financial liabilities.  
The classification depends on the purpose for which the 
instruments are acquired and whether they are quoted in an 
active market.  Management determines the classification at 
initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-
evaluates this classification at every reporting date. 

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company has no 
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL, HTM 
investments and AFS investments.   

Loans and receivable 
Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market.  After initial measurement, loans and 
receivables are carried at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method, less any allowance for impairment.  Gains 
and losses are recognized in the Company’s income 
statement when the loans and receivables are derecognized 
or impaired, as well as through the amortization process.  
Loans and receivables are classified as current assets when 
the Company expects to realize or collect the asset within 
twelve months from balance sheet date.  Otherwise, these 
are classified as noncurrent assets. 

Classified under this category are the Company’s cash and 
cash equivalents and receivables. 

Other Financial Liabilities 
This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held 
for trading or not designated as at FVPL at the inception of 
the liability.  These include liabilities arising from operations 
or borrowings. 

The financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value 
and are subsequently carried at amortized cost, taking into 
account the impact of applying the effective interest method 
of amortization (or accretion) for any related premium, 
discount and any directly attributable transaction costs. 

This category includes accounts payable.   

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial asset 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial 
asset or part of a group of financial assets) is derecognized 
where: 

1. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired; or 

2. the Company retains the right to receive cash flows 
from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay 
them in full without material delay to a third party under 
a “pass-through” arrangement; or 

3. the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash 
flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or 
(b) has neither transferred nor retained the risk and 
rewards of the asset but has transferred the control of 
the asset.  

 Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive 
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor 
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to 
the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement in the 
asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a 
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the 
lower of original carrying amount of the asset and the 
maximum amount of consideration that the Company could 
be required to repay. 

Financial liability 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under 
the liability is discharged or cancelled or expired.  Where an 
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the 
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of 
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the 
difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized 
in the statement of income. 

 Impairment of Financial Assets 
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether 
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset or a group of 
financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there 
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or 
more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of 
the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or 
events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of 
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the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can 
be reliably estimated.  Evidence of impairment may include 
indications that the customer or a group of customers is 
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or 
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability 
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganization and where observable data indicate that there 
is measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, 
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that 
correlate with defaults. 

Loans and receivables 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has 
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows (excluding 
future credit losses that have not been incurred).  The 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through use of an 
allowance account and the amount of loss is charged to the 
statement of income. Interest income continues to be 
recognized based on the original effective interest rate of the 
asset.  Receivables, together with the associated allowance 
accounts, are written off when there is no realistic prospect 
of future recovery and all collateral has been realized.  If, in a 
subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment 
loss decreases because of an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognized, the previously recognized 
impairment loss is reduced by adjusting the allowance 
account.  If a future write-off is later recovered, any amounts 
formerly charged are credited to the Provision for impairment 
losses in the statement of income. 

Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net 
amount reported in the balance sheet if, and only if, there is 
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or 
to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
This is not generally the case with master netting 
agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are 
presented gross in the balance sheet. 

 Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that 
the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the 
revenue can be reliably measured.   

Interest  
Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis 
computed on the outstanding principal balance using the 
applicable effective interest rate.  

 Income Taxes
Current tax 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior 
periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax 
rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those 
that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance 
sheet date. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability 
method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.  

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable 
temporary differences, including asset revaluations. Deferred 
tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary 
differences, carryforward of unused tax credits from the 
excess of minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the 
regular corporate income tax (RCIT), and unused net 
operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences and carry forward 
of unused tax credits from MCIT and unused NOLCO can be 
utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at 
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 

available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 
utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed 
at each balance sheet date and are recognized to the extent 
that it has become probable that future taxable profit will 
allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is 
realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax 
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date. 

 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a 
legally enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to 
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when an obligation (legal or 
constructive) is incurred as a result of a past event and 
where it is probable that an outflow of assets embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.   

 Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized but are disclosed in 
the financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits is remote.  
Contingent assets are not recognized but are disclosed in 
the financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits 
is probable. 

Subsequent Events
 Any post year-end events that provide additional information 

about the Company’s position at balance sheet date 
(adjusting event) are reflected in the financial statements.  
Post year-end events that are not adjusting events, if any, 
are disclosed when material to the financial statements. 

3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance 
with PFRS requires the Company to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of resources, 
liabilities, income and expenses and disclosure of contingent 
assets and contingent liabilities.  Future events may occur 
which will cause the assumptions used in arriving at the 
estimates to change.  The effects of any change in estimates 
are reflected in the financial statements as they become 
reasonably determinable. 

Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are 
based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. 

The following are the critical judgments and key assumptions 
that have a significant risk of material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year: 

(a) Impairment of financial assets 
 The Company assesses at each balance sheet date 

whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset may be impaired.  If such evidence exists, any 
impairment loss is recognized in the statement of 
income. 

 As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, receivables 
amounted to P=191,877 and P=155,926, respectively (see 
Note 5).  No allowance for impairment losses has been 
recognized. 

(b) Recognition of deferred tax assets 
 Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax 

losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the losses can be 
utilized.  Significant management judgment is required 
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can 
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be recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of 
future taxable profits together with future tax planning 
strategies. 

 As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company has 
no deferred tax assets recognized  
(see note 7).

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

This account consists of: 

2007

2006
(As restated - 

Note 13)
Cash in bank P=51,775 P=49,786
Short-term 
placements 

603,198 588,189

P=654,973 P=637,975

 Cash in bank consists of savings deposits.  Short-term 
placements are denominated in Philippine pesos and earn 
annual effective interest rates ranging from 2.50% to 4.75% 
in 2007 and 3.25% to 7.70% in 2006. Interest income earned 
from cash and cash equivalents amounted to P=30,860 and  
P=22,955 in 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

5. Receivables

This account consists of: 

2007 

2006 
(As restated - 

Note 13)
Advances to Parent 
Company  (Note 8) P=339,073 P=277,644
Interest receivable 2,262 1,658

P=341,335 P=279,302

6. Accounts Payable

This account arises from the use of fund of the Trading 
Participants for the payment of professional fees chargeable 
to the Parent Company and other expenses such as taxes 
and licenses and insurance.   

7. Income Taxes

Income taxes include final taxes paid at the rate of 20% on 
gross interest income from cash deposits and short-term 
placements. 

Republic Act No. 9337, An Act Amending National Internal 
Revenue Code, provides that RCIT rate shall be 35% until 
January 1, 2009. Starting January 1, 2009, the RCIT rate 
shall be 30%. 

The regulations also impose the MCIT of 2% on modified 
gross income and allow a NOLCO.  The NOLCO and the 
excess of the MCIT over the RCIT may be applied against 
taxable income and the income tax liability, respectively, over 
a three year period from the year of inception. 

A reconciliation of the statutory income tax to the effective 
income tax follows: 

2007 
2006

(As Restated -
Note 13)

Statutory income tax P=10,801 P=8,034
Tax effects of: 
 Income subjected to 

final tax 
(4,629) (3,443)

Effective income tax P=6,172 P=4,591

8. Related Party Transactions 

In the ordinary course of business, the Company transacts 
with its Parent Company for reimbursements of expenses 
and of fees paid to transfer agents for securities 
cancellations. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the 
amount due from the Parent Company is P=339,073 and   
P=277,644, respectively. 

9. Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurement 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets and 
liabilities approximate their fair values due to the short-term 
nature of these financial instruments. 

10. Financial Risk Management Policies and Objectives 

Financial Risk
The main risks arising from the Company’s financial 
instruments are credit risk and liquidity risk.  The Company is 
not exposed to foreign exchange risk as it does not have 
foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities.  
Its exposure to interest rate risk is also minimal as it does not 
have interest bearing liabilities.  Its interest rate exposure is 
limited to its interest bearing cash deposits and short-term 
placements. 

The Company’s risk management is coordinated with its 
Parent Company, in close cooperation with the Board of 
Directors, and focuses on actively securing the Company’s 
short to medium-term cash flows by minimizing the exposure 
to financial markets.  The Company does not actively engage 
in trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor 
does it write options. 

Credit Risk
Credit risk exposures 
The table below shows the Company’s gross maximum 
exposure to credit risk.   

2007 2006
Cash and cash 
equivalents  P=654,973 P=637,975
Receivables 341,335 279,302

P=996,308 P=917,277

Cash and cash equivalents are considered low risk 
exposures as these are deposited or placed with reputable 
banks in the Philippines.  The receivables are also assessed 
as low risk as these pertain to accrued interest receivable 
from short-term placements and advances to Parent 
Company.  

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to 
meet its payment obligations as they fall due. To mitigate this 
risk, management prepares forecast of the business cash 
flows for the year. Constant monitoring and a well defined 
billing and collection policy facilitate management of 
projected inflows.  

To minimize market risks that could adversely affect 
management liquidity position, and because the Company is 
not in the business of trading securities, it is management’s 
policy to invest excess cash and cash equivalents in liquid 
and non-speculative financial instruments, such as term 
deposits and government securities, with tenors that match 
its funding schedule. 

Accounts payable of the Company as of December 31, 2007 
and 2006 are payable on demand. 
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Capital Management
The Company manages its capital structure and makes 
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.  
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may 
obtain additional advances from stockholder, return capital to 
shareholder or issue new shares.  No changes were made in 
the objectives, policies or processes during the year ended 
December 31, 2007 and 2006. 

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company’s capital 
is composed of common shares, amounting to P=500,000. 

11. Securities Held in Trust and Other Off-Balance Sheet 
Items 

The following is the summary of off-balance sheet items: 

2007 2006
Cash  P=23,224,879 P=4,838,422
Due to trading participants 20,135,462 3,091,754
Accounts payable - 
 Interest income (net 
 of final tax) 2,491,877 1,469,653 
Accounts payable - 
 Certificate handling 
 fees 460,698 207,518
Accounts payable - Others 136,842 70,497
            
ASSET    
Cash arise from cash dividends received from the issuer of 
stock to be distributed to Trading Participants, value of stock 
rights, and advance payments for conversion of shares to 
certificates.    

 LIABILITIES
Due to trading participants represents cash dividends for 
distribution to Trading Participants.  

Accounts payable - Interest income (net of final tax) 
represents interest after expenses arising from bank 
accounts maintained on behalf of the Trading Participants. 

Accounts payable - Certificate handling fees represents 
amount due to transfer agents for the issuance and 
cancellation of stock certificates.   

Accounts payable - Others represents cash dividends on 
fractional shares.  

SECURITIES HELD IN TRUST ON BEHALF OF TRADING 
PARTICIPANTS AND/OR BENEFICIAL OWNERS
As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the market value of 
securities transferred to and held on behalf of Trading 
Participants and/or beneficial owners by the Company 
amounted to P=1.44 trillion and P=990.38 billion, respectively. 

12. Commitments and Contingencies 

In the normal course of business, the Company makes 
various commitments and has certain contingent liabilities 
that are not given recognition in the accompanying financial 
statements. Management believes that losses, if any, that 
may arise from these commitments and contingencies will 
not have any material effect on the financial statements. 

13. Prior Period Adjustments 

The Company was incorporated for the purpose of holding legal title to the securities held for and on behalf of the Trading Participants of 
its Parent Company and/or beneficial owners (PCD Rules, Depository Services - Rule 3, Section 3.1.2).  Therefore, the securities held by 
the Company are recognized as off-balance sheet items and are presented as part of the disclosures made in the notes to the financial 
statements.  Dividends, interest and other related transactions affecting these securities are now taken-up as off-balance sheet items. 

Accordingly, the dividends, interest, payables and other expenses associated to the said securities which were recognized in the books of 
the Company in previous periods have been adjusted as off-book items. 

Further, operating expenses which are rightful costs of the Parent Company were recorded as expenses of the Company in previous
years.  Adjustments were also made to transfer the expenses to the Parent Company.  The tables and related notes below provide the 
reconciliation of the balance sheet as of December 31, 2006 and statement of income for 2006 as previously reported and as restated: 

 Item As Reported Adjustment As Restated
ASSETS 
Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents a P=5,477,397 (P=4,839,422) P=637,975 
Receivables and other current assets b 58,556 220,746 279,302 

Total Current Assets P=5,535,953  (P=4,618,676) P=917,277 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
Current Liabilities 
Trade and other payables c P=3,389,769 (P=3,314,646) P=75,123 
Advances to Parent Company b 21,286 (21,286) – 

 3,411,055 (3,335,932) 75,123 

Equity
Capital stock, P=100 par value  

Authorized - 20,000 shares  
Issued and outstanding - 5,000 shares  500,000 – 500,000 

Retained earnings     
Beginning balance d 1,164,515 (840,725) 323,790 
Net income  460,383 (442,019) 18,364 
Ending balance  1,624,898 (1,282,744) 342,154 

Total Equity  2,124,898 (1,282,744) 842,154 
Total Liabilities and Equity  P=5,535,953 (P=4,618,676) P=917,277 
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a. The adjustments on cash and cash equivalents follow: 

Reversal of: 
Dividends received from issuers for distribution  (P=3,091,754) 
Interest income, gross of final tax amounting to  P=128,774 (1,543,120) 
Payable to transfer agents for the cancellation fees  (207,518) 
Stock rights payable and dividend for fractional shares  (70,497) 

Recognition of accounts payable arising from the use of Trading Participants’ fund 75,123 
Others (1,656) 

(P=4,839,422) 

b. The adjustments on receivables and other current assets follow: 

Recognition of advances to Parent Company for expenses net of liabilities to 
Parent Company amounting to P=21,286  P=277,644 

Reversal of advanced cancellation fees  (54,192) 
Others (2,706) 

P=220,746 

c. The adjustments on trade and other payables follow: 

Reversal of: 
Dividends received from issuers for distribution (P=3,091,754) 
Payable to transfer agents for cancellation fees  (207,518) 
Stock rights payable and dividend for fractional shares  (70,497) 
Accrued professional fees (20,000) 

Recognition of accounts payable arising from the use of Trading Participants’ fund 75,123 
(P=3,314,646) 

d.  The adjustments on beginning retained earnings follow:   

Reversal of: 
Interest income from dividends distributable to Trading Participants,  

net of final tax (P=1,215,300) 
Expenses recognized on prior years 385,530 

Others (10,955) 
(P=840,725) 

Reconciliation of the 2006 statement of income follows: 

 Item As Reported Adjustment As Restated 

OTHER INCOME  
Interest e P=643,868 (P=620,913) P=22,955 
EXPENSES  
Professional fees f 24,552 (24,552) – 
Taxes and licenses f 18,589 (18,589) –

Bank charges  f 10,064 (10,064) –

Miscellaneous f 1,506 (1,506) –

 54,711 (54,711) – 
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX  589,157 (566,202) 22,955 
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX e 128,774 124,183  4,591 
NET INCOME  P=460,383 (P=442,019) P=18,364 

e.  The adjustments on interest income follow:   

Reversal of interest income attributable to Trading Participants’ money gross of 
final tax amounting to P=128,774   (P=625,504) 

Gross up of interest income  4,591 
(P=620,913) 

f.  Reversal of expenses for the account of the Parent Company
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The Board of Directors 
Philippine Securities Settlement Corp. 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Philippine Securities Settlement Corp. (the Company), a wholly owned subsidiary 
of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp., which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2007, and the statement of income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory notes.  The financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006, which are presented for 
comparative purposes, were audited by other auditors whose report dated April 24, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on those
statements.  The opinion of the other auditors, however, does not cover the restatements of those statements as discussed in Note 21 to the 
financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards.  This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Philippine Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Philippine Securities Settlement Corp. as 
of December 31, 2007, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards. 

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO. 

Josephine Adrienne A. Abarca 
Partner 
CPA Certificate No. 92126 
SEC Accreditation No. 0466-A 
Tax Identification No. 163-257-145 
PTR No. 0014603, January 3, 2008, Makati City 

April 22, 2008 

PHILIPPINE SECURITIES SETTLEMENT CORP.

Independent Auditors’ Report
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December 31 

2007

2006 
(As restated - 

Note 21)

ASSETS 

Current Assets 
Cash on hand and in banks (Note 4) P=5,785,424 P=310,032
Trade and other receivables (Note 5) 5,189,835 4,459,230
Due from a related party (Note 17) 55,801 –
Other current assets (Note 6) 4,974,977  5,205,178
  Total Current Assets 16,006,037 9,974,440
Non-current Assets 
Property and equipment - net (Note 7) 4,714,743 8,432,194
Software development costs - net (Note 8) 3,373,301  4,017,640 
Deferred tax assets (Note 16) 2,742,011 2,642,858
Other non-current assets (Note 20) 681,116  618,224
  Total Non-current Assets 11,511,171 15,710,916

P=27,517,208 P=25,685,356

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

LIABILITIES 

Current Liabilities 
Accrued expenses and other payables (Note 9)  P=6,067,373  P=6,585,313
Due to related parties (Note 17) 8,937,017   10,299,400
  Total Current Liabilities 15,004,390 16,884,713
Non-current Liability
Retirement benefit obligation (Note 15) 4,201,280 3,529,191

19,205,670 20,413,904

EQUITY
Capital stock  (Note 10) 3,125,000 3,125,000
Retained earnings  5,186,538 2,146,452
  Total Equity 8,311,538 5,271,452

P=27,517,208 P=25,685,356

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

PHILIPPINE SECURITIES SETTLEMENT CORP.
(A WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.)

Balance Sheet
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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Years Ended December 31

2007

2006
(As restated - 

Note 21)

SERVICE INCOME (Note 11) P=52,373,148 P=49,912,562

OTHER INCOME (Note 12)  102,992 32,297
52,476,140 49,944,859

COSTS AND OPERATING EXPENSES 
Cost of services (Note 13) 43,125,890 37,952,108
Taxes and licenses 753,549 409,516
Professional fees 750,226 249,999 
Utilities 688,505 753,887 
Rent (Note 20) 602,145 554,955 
Salaries and employee benefits (Notes 14 and 17) 581,552 300,060
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 7 and 8) 229,507 166,374
Outside services 158,752 138,437
Insurance 149,385 180,061 
Management fee (Note 17) – 7,285,897
Other operating expenses 590,279 268,824

47,629,790 48,260,118

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 4,846,350 1,684,741

PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM) INCOME TAX (Note 16) 1,806,264 (132,537)

NET INCOME P=3,040,086 P=1,817,278

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

PHILIPPINE SECURITIES SETTLEMENT CORP.
(A WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.)

Statement of Income
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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Capital Stock 
(Note 10)

Retained 
Earnings 

Total 
Equity 

Balance at January 1, 2007, as previously reported P=3,125,000 P=1,225,955 P=4,350,955 
Prior period adjustments (Note 21) – 920,497 920,497 
Balance at January 1, 2007, as restated 3,125,000 2,146,452 5,271,452 
Net income for the year – 3,040,086 3,040,086 
Balance at December 31, 2007 P=3,125,000 P=5,186,538 P=8,311,538 

Balance at January 1, 2006, as previously reported P=3,125,000 P=529,840 P=3,654,840 
Prior period adjustments (Note 21) – (200,666) (200,666) 
Balance at January 1, 2006, as restated 3,125,000 329,174 3,454,174 
Net income for the year – 1,817,278 1,817,278 
Balance at December 31, 2006, as restated P=3,125,000 P=2,146,452 P=5,271,452 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

PHILIPPINE SECURITIES SETTLEMENT CORP.
(A WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.)

Statement of Changes in Equity
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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Years Ended December 31 

2007 
2006

(As restated -
Note 21)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Income before income tax P=4,846,350 P=1,684,741 
Adjustments for: 
 Depreciation and amortization (Notes 7 and 8) 5,274,893 3,823,862 
 Interest income (26,019) (18,444)
Operating income before working capital changes  10,095,224 5,490,159 
 Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
  Decrease (increase) in: 
  Trade and other receivables  (730,605) 252,698 
  Due from a related party  (55,801) 1,621,679 
  Other current assets  (1,672,604) (4,966,137)
  Other non-current assets (62,892) –
  Increase (decrease) in: 
  Accrued expenses and other payables  (517,940) (1,293,021)
  Retirement benefit obligation  672,089 628,236 
  Due to related parties  (1,362,383) 2,863,710 
Cash generated from operations 6,365,088 4,597,324 
Cash paid for income taxes (2,612) (3,689)
Net cash provided by operating activities 6,362,476 4,593,635 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions of property and equipment (Note 7) (723,103) (736,386)
Additions to software development costs (Note 8) (190,000) (4,171,697)
Interest received 26,019 14,755 
Net cash used in investing activities (887,084) (4,893,328)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH ON HAND AND IN BANKS 5,475,392 (299,693)

CASH ON HAND AND IN BANKS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 310,032 609,725 

CASH ON HAND AND IN BANKS AT END OF YEAR P=5,785,424 P=310,032 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

PHILIPPINE SECURITIES SETTLEMENT CORP.
(A WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.)

Statement of Cash Flows
(With Comparative Figures for 2006)
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1. Corporate Information

Philippine Securities Settlement Corp. (the Company), a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. (the 
Parent Company), is a domestic corporation incorporated in the 
Philippines on February 18, 2004.  The Company started commercial 
operations on January 1, 2005. 

The Company operates as a central clearing and settlement 
institution that provides and performs clearance, settlement and 
related services for trades and other transactions in or involving 
securities, monetary or financial instruments and their derivatives, 
whether certificated or scripless, immobilized or dematerialized, 
including but not limited to those traded in or through any existing 
duly licensed and/ or organized exchanges or markets and other 
similar exchanges or market; and in pursuance of the foregoing 
purposes, develops, manages, and executes rules, principles, 
standards, technologies, systems and market conventions according 
to global best practices and regulates its participants through its 
power to impose fees and penalties.   

The registered office of the Company, which is also its principal place 
of business, is located at 37th Floor, The Enterprise Center, 6766 
Ayala Avenue, Makati City. 

The accompanying financial statements were authorized for issue by 
the Company’s Audit Committee on April 22, 2008. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a 
historical cost basis.  The Company’s financial statements are 
presented in Philippine pesos, the Company’s functional and 
presentation currency. 

Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in 
compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS).  
PFRS includes statements named PFRS and Philippine Accounting 
Standards (PAS), including interpretations issued by the Financial 
Reporting Standards Council (FRSC). 

Changes in Accounting Policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the 
previous financial year, except for adoption of the following amended 
PAS and new PFRS starting January 1, 2007: 

 PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, requires 
disclosures that enable users of the financial statements to 
evaluate the significance of the Company’s financial statements 
and the nature and extent of risks arising from those financial 
instruments.  It requires the disclosure of qualitative and 
quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from 
financial instruments, including specified minimum disclosures 
about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, as well as 
sensitivity analysis to market risk.  It replaces PAS 30, 
Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar 
Financial Institutions, and the disclosure requirements in  
PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation.  It 
is applicable to all entities that report under PFRS.  The 
adoption of this standard resulted in the inclusion of additional 
disclosures in the financial statements such as maturity profile 
of financial liabilities, gross maximum exposure to credit risk, 
and credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due 
nor impaired (see Note 19). 

The FRSC has approved an amendment to the transition 
provisions of PFRS 7 that gives transitional relief with respect to 
the presentation of comparative information for the new risks 
disclosures about the nature and extent of risks arising from 
financial instruments in paragraphs 31 to 42 of PFRS 7.  
Accordingly, an entity that applies PFRS 7 for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2007 need not present 
comparative information unless previously required by PAS 30 
or PAS 32. 

 Amendment to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements,
requires the Company to make new disclosures to enable users 
of the financial statements to evaluate the Company’s 

objectives, policies and processes for managing capital.  These 
new disclosures are shown in Note 19. 

 The following Philippine Interpretations from the International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) are effective 
for annual periods beginning January 1, 2007 but did not have any 
impact on the financial statements of the Company:  

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 8, Scope of PFRS 2, requires 
PFRS 2, Share-based Payment, to be applied to any 
arrangements in which the entity cannot identify specifically 
some or all of the goods received, in particular where equity 
instruments are issued for consideration which appears to be 
less than fair value.   

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded 
Derivatives, states that the date to assess the existence of an 
embedded derivative is the date an entity first becomes a party 
to the contract, with reassessment only if there is a change to 
the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows.   

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 10, Interim Financial Reporting 
and Impairment, requires that an entity must not reverse an 
impairment loss recognized in the previous interim period in 
respect of goodwill or an investment in either an equity 
instrument or a financial asset carried at cost. 

Future Changes in Accounting Policies
The Company did not early adopt the following standards, Philippine 
Interpretations and amendments that have been approved by the 
FRSC but are not yet effective: 

 PFRS 8, Operating Segments, becomes effective for financial 
years beginning on or after January 1, 2009, and will replace 
PAS 14, Segment Reporting.  It adopts a management 
approach to reporting segment information.  PFRS 8 is required 
for adoption only by entities where debt or equity instruments 
are publicly traded, or are in the process of filing with the SEC 
for purposes of issuing any class of instrument in a public 
market. The Company is not required and will not adopt PFRS 
8. 

 Amendment to PAS 23, Borrowing Costs, becomes effective for 
financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2009.  The 
standard has been revised to require capitalization of borrowing 
costs when such costs relate to a qualifying asset.  A qualifying 
asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of 
time to get ready for its intended use or sale.  The Company is 
currently assessing the impact of the interpretation on the 
financial statements. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 11, PFRS 2 - Group and 
Treasury Share Transactions, becomes effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after March 1, 2007.  This requires 
arrangements whereby an employee is granted rights to an 
entity’s equity instruments to be accounted for as an equity-
settled scheme by the entity even if (a) the entity chooses or is 
required to buy those equity instruments (e.g., treasury shares) 
from another party, or (b) the shareholders of the entity provide 
the equity instruments needed.  It also provides guidance on 
how subsidiaries, in their separate financial statements, account 
for such schemes when their employees receive rights to the 
equity instruments of the parent.  The Company currently does 
not have any stock option plan and therefore, does not expect 
this interpretation to have significant impact on its financial 
statements. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 12, Service Concession 
Arrangements, becomes effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2008.  This interpretation, which covers 
contractual arrangements arising from entities providing public-
to-private service concession arrangements, is not relevant to 
the Company. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty 
Programmes, becomes effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after July 1, 2008.  This interpretation requires customer 
loyalty award credits to be accounted for as a separate 
component of the sales transactions in which they are granted 
and therefore part of the fair value of the consideration received 
is allocated to the award credits and deferred over the period 
that the award credits are fulfilled.  The Company expects that 

PHILIPPINE SECURITIES SETTLEMENT CORP.
(A WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF PHILIPPINE DEALING SYSTEM HOLDINGS CORP.)

Notes to Financial Statements
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this interpretation will have no impact on its financial statements 
as no such schemes currently exist. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 14, PAS 19 - The Limit on a 
Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and 
their Interaction, becomes effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2008.  This interpretation 
provides guidance on how to assess the limit on the amount of 
surplus in a defined benefit scheme that can be recognized as 
an asset under PAS 19, Employee Benefits.  This interpretation 
is not relevant to the Company. 

Cash on Hand and in Banks
 For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash includes cash on hand 

and in banks.  

Financial Instruments 
Date of recognition
The Company recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the 
balance sheet when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. In the case of a regular way purchase or sale of 
financial assets, recognition and derecognition, as applicable, is done 
using trade date accounting.  

Initial recognition of financial instruments
Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, which is the 
fair value of the consideration given (in case of an asset) or received 
(in case of a liability).  The initial measurement of financial 
instruments, except for those designated at fair value through profit 
and loss (FVPL), includes transaction cost. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Company classifies its financial 
instruments in the following categories: financial assets and financial 
liabilities at FVPL, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity (HTM) 
investments, available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets and other 
financial liabilities.  The classification depends on the purpose for 
which the instruments are acquired and whether they are quoted in 
an active market.  Management determines the classification at initial 
recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this 
classification at every balance sheet date. 

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company does not have 
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL, HTM investments 
and AFS investments. 

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  After 
initial measurement, loans and receivables are carried at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method, less any allowance for 
impairment.  Gains and losses are recognized in the Company’s 
statement of income when the loans and receivables are 
derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization 
process.  Loans and receivables are classified as current assets 
when the Company expects to realize or collect the asset within 
twelve months from balance sheet date.  Otherwise, these are 
classified as noncurrent assets. 

Classified under this category are the Company’s Trade and other 
receivables and Due from related parties.

Other financial liabilities 
This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held for 
trading or not designated as at FVPL at the inception of the liability.  
These include liabilities arising from operations or borrowings. 

The financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and are 
subsequently carried at amortized cost, taking into account the impact 
of applying the effective interest method of amortization (or accretion) 
for any related premium, discount and any directly attributable 
transaction costs. 

This category includes Accrued expenses and other payables and 
Due to a related party.

Determination of fair value 
The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the 
balance sheet date is based on their quoted market prices or dealer 
price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short 
positions), without any deduction for transactions costs.  When 
current bid and asking prices are not available, the price of the most 
recent transaction is used since it provides evidence of the current fair 
value as long as there has not been a significant change in economic 
circumstances since the time of the transaction. 

For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the 
fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation techniques.  
Valuation techniques include net present value techniques, 

comparison to similar instruments for which market observable prices 
exist and other relevant valuation models. 

‘Day 1’ profit 
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from 
the fair value of other observable current market transactions in the 
same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables 
include only data from observable market, the Company recognizes 
the difference between the transaction price and fair value (a ‘Day 1’ 
profit) in the statement of income unless it qualifies for recognition as 
some other type of asset.  In cases where use is made of data which 
is not observable, the difference between the transaction price and 
model value is only recognized in the statement of income when the 
inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  
For each transaction, the Company determines the appropriate 
method of recognizing the ‘Day 1’ profit amount. 

Embedded derivative  
An embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and 
accounted for as a derivative if all of the following conditions are met: 
a) the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative 
are not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the 
host contract; b) a separate instrument with the same terms as the 
embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and c) 
the hybrid or combined instrument is not recognized at FVPL. 
Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the 
contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would 
otherwise be required. 

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial asset 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or 
part of a group of financial assets) is derecognized where: 

1. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 
2. the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the 

asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without 
material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 
arrangement; or 

3. the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows 
from the asset and either 
(a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained the risk and 
rewards of the asset but has transferred the control of the asset.  

 Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows 
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and 
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is 
recognized to the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement in 
the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee 
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of original 
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration that the Company could be required to repay. 

Financial liability 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the 
liability is discharged or cancelled or expired.  Where an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as 
a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new 
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognized in the statement of income. 

Impairment of Financial Assets 
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is 
objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is 
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to 
be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment 
as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event 
(or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably 
estimated.  Evidence of impairment may include indications that a 
customer or a group of customers is experiencing significant financial 
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the 
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is 
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as 
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with 
defaults. 

In relation to trade and other receivables, a provision for impairment 
is made when there is objective evidence (such as the probability of 
insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor) that the 
Company will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the 
original terms of the invoice.  The carrying amount of receivables is 
reduced through the use of an allowance account.  Impaired debts 
are derecognized when they are assessed as uncollectible.  
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If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases 
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized 
impairment loss is reversed.  Any subsequent reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognized in the statement of income, to the 
extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its 
amortized cost at the reversal date. 

Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount 
reported in the balance sheet if, and only if, there is a currently 
enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is 
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.  This is not generally the case with master 
netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are 
presented gross in the balance sheet. 

Property and Equipment
Depreciable properties such as transportation equipment, furniture 
and fixtures, office equipment, and leasehold improvements are 
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization and 
any impairment in value. 

The initial cost of property and equipment consists of its purchase 
price, including import duties, taxes and any directly attributable costs 
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its 
intended use. Expenditures incurred after items of property and 
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and 
maintenance are normally charged against operations in the period in 
which the costs are incurred. In situations where it can be clearly 
demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in 
the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of 
an item of property and equipment beyond its originally assessed 
standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as an 
additional cost of property and equipment. 

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives of the respective assets.  Leasehold 
improvements are amortized over the shorter of the terms of the 
covering leases and the estimated useful lives of the improvements. 

The estimated useful lives follow: 

 Useful Lives in
Years

Office equipment 3-5
Leasehold improvements 5
Telecommunications equipment 3
Transportation equipment 5

The useful lives and the depreciation and amortization method are 
reviewed periodically to ensure that the period and the method of 
depreciation and amortization are consistent with the expected 
pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment. 

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or 
when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of 
income in the year the asset is derecognized. 

Software Development Costs
Software development costs include costs of internally generated 
software used in the Company’s operations which are accounted for 
under the cost model.  

Costs associated with research activities are expensed in the 
statement of income as they occur.  Costs that are directly 
attributable to the development phase of the new customized 
software for information technology and telecommunications systems 
are recognized as intangibles provided they meet the following 
recognition requirements:  

(a) demonstration of technological feasibility of the prospective 
product for internal use or sale; 

(b) the intangible asset will generate probable economic benefits 
through internal use or sale; 

(c) sufficient technical, financial and other resources are available 
for completion; and 

(d) the intangible asset can be reliably measured. 

Directly attributable costs include employee costs incurred on 
software development along with an appropriate portion of relevant 
overheads.  The costs of internally generated software developments 
are recognized as intangible assets; they are subject to the same 
measurement as externally acquired.  However, until completion of 
the development project, the asset are subject to impairment testing.  
Amortization commences upon completion of asset. 

 Capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of 5 years.  In addition, software development 
costs are subject to impairment testing. 

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets 
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is 
an indication that the Company’s software development costs and 
property, plant and equipment may be impaired.  When an indicator 
of impairment exists or when an annual impairment testing for an 
asset is required, the Company makes an estimate of recoverable 
amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s (or cash-
generating unit’s) fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and 
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from 
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable 
amount is assessed as part of the cash generating unit to which it 
belongs. Where the carrying amount of an asset (or cash generating 
unit) exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset (or cash generating 
unit) is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable 
amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset (or cash generating unit).   

An impairment loss is charged to operations in the period in which it 
arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which 
case the impairment loss is charged to the revaluation increment of 
the said asset. 

A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized.  If 
that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its 
recoverable amount.  That increased amount cannot exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in 
prior years.  Such reversal is recognized in the statement of income 
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.  After such a reversal, 
the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the 
asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a 
systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

 Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can be 
reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must 
also be met before revenue is recognized: 

Service  
Service income is recognized when the services are rendered. 

Interest  
Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis computed on 
the outstanding principal balance using the applicable effective 
interest rate.  

Functional Currency and Foreign Currency Transactions
For financial reporting purposes, the monetary assets and liabilities of 
the Company are translated in Philippine pesos based on the 
Philippine Dealing System (PDS) closing rate prevailing at end of the 
year and foreign currency-denominated income and expenses, at the 
PDS weighted average rate (PDSWAR) for the year.  Foreign 
exchange differences arising from restatement of foreign currency-
denominated monetary assets and liabilities are credited to or 
charged against operations in the year in which the rates change.  
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a 
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the 
dates of the initial translations.  Non-monetary items measured at fair 
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at 
the date when the fair value was determined. 

Leases
 The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease 

is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an 
assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is 
dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.  A reassessment is 
made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies: 

a. There is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or 
extension of the arrangement; 

b. A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that 
term of the renewal or extension was initially included in the 
lease term; 

c. There is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is 
dependent on a specified asset; or 

d. There is a substantial change to the asset. 
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Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or 
cease from the date when the change in circumstances gave rise to 
the reassessment for scenarios a, c or d above, and at the date of 
renewal or extension period for scenario b. 

Operating lease
Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the 
statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Retirement Benefits
The Company has a noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan. 

The retirement cost of the Company is determined using the 
projected unit credit method.  Under this method, the current service 
cost is the present value of retirement benefits payable in the future 
with respect to services rendered in the current period.  The liability 
recognized in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension 
plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the 
balance sheet date less the fair value of the plan assets, if any, 
together with adjustments for unrecognized actuarial gains or losses 
and past service costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated 
annually by an independent actuary using the projected unit credit 
method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is 
determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using 
interest rate on government bonds that have terms to maturity 
approximating the terms of the related retirement liability. Actuarial 
gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in 
actuarial assumptions are credited to or charged against income 
when the net cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses at 
the end of the previous period exceeded 10% of the higher of the 
defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets at that 
date.  These excess gains or losses are recognized over the 
expected average remaining working lives of the employees 
participating in the plan. 

Past-service costs, if any, are recognized immediately in income, 
unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the 
employees remaining in service for a specified period of time (the 
vesting period). In this case, the past-service costs are amortized on 
a straight-line basis over the vesting period. 

 Income Taxes
Current Tax 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are 
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 
taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the 
amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance sheet date. 

Deferred Tax 
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method on 
temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes.  

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary 
differences, including asset revaluations. Deferred tax assets are 
recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of 
unused tax credits from the excess of minimum corporate income tax 
(MCIT) over the regular corporate income tax (RCIT), and unused net 
operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences and carry forward of unused tax 
credits from MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each 
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or 
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred 
tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are 
recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future 
taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realized or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

 Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognized directly in 
equity is also recognized in equity and not in the statement of income. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally 
enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and 
the same taxation authority. 

Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when an obligation (legal or constructive) 
is incurred as a result of a past event and where it is probable that an 
outflow of assets embodying economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.   

Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognized but are disclosed in the 
financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits is remote.  Contingent assets are not 
recognized but are disclosed in the financial statements when an 
inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

Subsequent Events
 Any post year-end events that provide additional information about 

the Company’s position at balance sheet date (adjusting event) are 
reflected in the financial statements.  Post year-end events that are 
not adjusting events, if any, are disclosed when material to the 
financial statements. 

3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with PFRS 
requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of resources, liabilities, income and expenses 
and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities.  Future 
events may occur which will cause the assumptions used in arriving 
at the estimates to change.  The effects of any change in estimates 
are reflected in the financial statements as they become reasonably 
determinable. 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on 
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

The following are the critical judgments and key assumptions that 
have a significant risk of material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year:

Judgment
(a) Recognition of deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the losses can be utilized.  Significant 
management judgment is required to determine the amount of 
deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the 
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with 
future tax planning strategies. 

The Company’s estimates of future taxable income indicate that 
certain temporary differences will be realized in the future. 
Recognized deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2007 and 
2006 amounted to P=2,742,011 and P=2,642,858, respectively  
(see Note 16). 

 Estimates
(a) Impairment of trade and other receivables 

The Company reviews its trade and other receivables at each 
reporting date to assess whether provision for credit losses 
should be recorded in the statement of income.  In particular, 
judgment by management is required in the estimation of the 
amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the 
level of allowance required.   

Such estimates are based on assumptions about a number of 
factors such as length of the Company’s relationship with 
customers, current credit status of customers based on third 
party credit reports and known market forces, average age of 
accounts, collection and historical loss experience.  The actual 
results may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance 
for impairment loss.   

No impairment loss was recognized in 2007 and 2006. 

(b) Impairment of nonfinancial assets 
  The Company assesses impairment on assets whenever events 

or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
of an asset may not be recoverable. The factors that the 
Company considers important which could trigger an 
impairment review include the following: 
 significant underperformance relative to expected 

historical or projected future operating results; 
 significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired 

assets or the strategy for overall business; and 
 significant negative industry or economic trends. 

The Company recognizes an impairment loss whenever the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s net selling 
price or value in use. The net selling price is the amount 
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obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length 
transaction while value in use is the present value of estimated 
future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use of 
an asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life. 
Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual assets. 

As of December 31, 2007, the carrying value of property and 
equipment and software development costs amounted to  
P=4,714,743 and P=3,373,301, respectively.  As of  
December 31, 2006, the carrying value of property and 
equipment and software development costs amounted to  
P=8,432,194 and P=4,017,640, respectively (see Notes 7 and 8).  
No impairment loss was recognized in 2007 and 2006. 

(c) Estimated useful lives of property and equipment and software 
development costs 
The Company estimates the useful lives of its property and 
equipment and software development costs. This estimate is 
reviewed periodically to ensure that the period of depreciation 
and amortization are consistent with the expected pattern of 
economic benefits from the items of property and equipment 
and software development costs. 

As of December 31, 2007, the carrying value of property and 
equipment and software development costs amounted to  
P=4,714,743 and P=3,373,301, respectively.  As of December 31, 
2006, the carrying value of property and equipment and 
software development costs amounted to P=8,432,194 and  
P=4,017,640, respectively (see Notes 7 and 8). 

(d) Present value of retirement obligation 
The cost of defined benefit pension plan and other post 
employment benefits is determined using actuarial valuations.  
The actuarial valuation involves making assumptions about 
discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary 
increases, mortality rates and future pension increases.  Due to 
the long term nature of this plan, such estimates are subject to 
significant uncertainty. 

The assumed discount rates were determined using the market 
yields on Philippine government bonds with terms consistent 
with the expected employee benefit payout as of balance sheet 
dates. Refer to Note 15 for the details of assumptions used in 
the calculation. 

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation of the Company amounted to   
P=6,894,295 and P=3,667,600, as of December 31, 2007 and 
2006, respectively (see Note 15).

4. Cash on Hand and in Banks 

Cash in banks amounting to P=5,780,424 and P=310,032 as of 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, include regular current 
and savings deposits with annual interest rates ranging from 0.15% to 
0.875% in 2007 and 2006. 

5. Trade and Other Receivables 

This account consists of: 

2007 2006
Trade receivables P=4,869,576 P=4,324,236
Advances to officers and employees 320,259 134,994

P=5,189,835 P=4,459,230

Trade receivables arise from service fees charged to customers for the use of the Company’s infrastructure on Philippine Domestic Dollar Transfer System 
(PDDTS) and Payment vs. Payment (PvP).  

Trade receivables are usually due by the 25th day of the following month and do not bear any interest. All trade receivables are subject to credit risk 
exposure. However, the Company does not identify specific concentrations of credit risk with regards to trade receivables as the amounts recognized consist 
of large number of receivables from various customers.  

Advances to officers and employees have maturities of three months to one year and bear interest of 1.00% per month. 

6. Other Current Assets 

This account consists of: 

2007 
2006

(As restated)
Creditable taxes P=2,426,060 P=3,348,880
Input VAT 1,547,823 1,394,274
Prepayments 940,917 462,024
Creditable VAT 40,534 –
Supplies inventory 19,643 –

P=4,974,977 P=5,205,178

7. Property and Equipment 

The composition of and changes in property and equipment follow: 

2007  
Office 

Equipment 
Leasehold 

Improvements 
Furniture 

& Fixtures 
Transportation 

Equipment Total
Cost
Balance at beginning of year, as previously 
 reported P=10,085,653 P=2,624,250 P=– P=3,454,545 P=16,164,448
Prior period adjustment  (632,706) – – – (632,706)
Balance at beginning of year, as restated 9,452,947 2,624,250 – 3,454,545 15,531,742
Additions 686,157 – 36,946 – 723,103
Balance at end of year 10,139,104 2,624,250 36,946 3,454,545 16,254,845
Accumulated depreciation  and  amortization     
Balance at beginning of year, as previously 
 reported 5,145,677 1,005,962 – 1,560,600 7,712,239
Prior period adjustment (457,126) (155,565) – – (612,691)
Balance at beginning of year, as restated 4,688,551 850,397 – 1,560,600 7,099,548
Depreciation and amortization 3,151,684 592,833 5,128 690,909 4,440,554
Balance at end of year 7,840,235 1,443,230 5,128 2,251,509 11,540,102
Net book value  P=2,298,869 P=1,181,020 P=31,818 P=1,203,036 P=4,714,743
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   2006  

Office 
Equipment 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

Furniture 
and

Fixtures 
Transportation 

Equipment Total
Cost
Balance at beginning of year, as previously 
 reported P=9,352,481 P=2,621,036 P=– P=3,454,545 P=15,428,062
Prior period adjustment (632,706) – – – (632,706)
Balance at beginning of year, as restated 8,719,775 2,621,036 – 3,454,545 14,795,356
Additions 733,172 3,214 – – 736,386
Balance at end of year, as restated 9,452,947 2,624,250 – 3,454,545 15,531,742
Accumulated depreciation and  amortization 
Balance at beginning of year, as  previously 
 reported 2,129,127 473,105 – 869,691 3,471,923
Prior period adjustment (Note 21) 1,557 (43,737) – – (42,180)
Balance at beginning of year, as restated 2,130,684 429,368 – 869,691 3,429,743
Depreciation and amortization 2,557,867 421,029 – 690,909 3,669,805
Balance at end of year, as restated 4,688,551 850,397 – 1,560,600 7,099,548
Net book value P=4,764,396 P=1,773,853 P=– P=1,893,945 P=8,432,194

The prior period adjustment to the cost of office equipment pertains to correction of double recording of purchase of telecommunication equipment on credit.  
The corresponding liability booked was also reversed. 

Total depreciation and amortization are allocated as follows:  

2007 2006
Cost of services P=4,245,169 P=3,508,334
Operating expense 195,385 161,471

P=4,440,554 P=3,669,805

8. Software Development Costs

This account includes capitalized costs incurred for the development 
of the gateway system and electronic Delivery versus Payment 
(eDvP) system used in the Company’s operations. 

A rollforward analysis of this account follows: 

2007
2006

(As restated)
Cost 
Balance at beginning of year P=4,171,697 P=
Additions 190,000 4,171,697
Balance at end of year 4,361,697 4,171,697
Accumulated amortization 
Balance at beginning of year 154,057
Amortization 834,339 154,057
Balance at end of year 988,396 154,057
Net Book Value P=3,373,301 P=4,017,640

Total amortization is allocated as follows:  

2007 2006
Cost of services P=800,217 P=149,154
Operating expense 34,122 4,903

P=834,339 P=154,057

9. Accrued Expenses and Other Payables

This account consists of: 

2007
2006

(As restated)
Accruals for: 

Vacation leave benefits P=1,061,690 P=228,810
Professional fees 662,138 527,620
Rent 305,158 287,947
Utilities 163,299 326,414
Taxes 101,424 23,530
Outside services  21,967 33,796
Maintenance – 204,628

Retention payable 1,354,142 1,354,142
Output VAT 1,329,281 1,152,847
Withholding tax payable 620,867 2,169,781
Others 447,407 275,798

P=6,067,373 P=6,585,313

10. Capital Stock

This account consists of: 

2007 2006
Common shares - P=100 par value 
 Authorized - 500,000 shares 
 Subscribed and outstanding -   

 125,000 shares P=12,500,000 P=12,500,000
 Subscriptions receivable -  

 93,750 shares (9,375,000) (9,375,000)
 P=3,125,000 P=3,125,000

11. Service Income

This account consists of: 

2007 2006
Transaction fees P=48,917,845 P=46,914,380
Telecommunications  1,908,932 1,898,182
Others 1,546,371 1,100,000

P=52,373,148 P=49,912,562

Transaction fees are charged for the settlement services of the 
Company, mainly the facilities for domestic USD fund transfers 
(Philippine Domestic Dollar Transfer Services or PDDTS) and USD-
PhP settlement (Payment versus Payment or PvP). 

12. Other Income

This account consists of: 

2007 2006
Interest (Notes 4 and 5) P=26,019 P=18,444
Others 76,973 13,853

P=102,992 P=32,297

 Other income consists of foreign exchange gain and gain on sale of 
the Company’s excess supplies. 
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13. Cost of Services

This account consists of: 

2007 
2006

(As restated)
Salaries and employee 

benefits (Note 14) P=15,913,970 P=8,203,355
Repairs and maintenance 9,011,194 13,859,705
Utilities 7,666,934 7,892,924
Depreciation and amortization  

(Notes 7 and 8) 5,045,386 3,657,488
Rent (Note 20) 2,033,488 1,874,121
Professional fees 1,311,554 437,050
Outside services 635,002 553,746
Insurance 597,538 720,242
Supplies 583,250 467,605
Meetings and conferences 164,175 50,881
Others 163,399 234,991

P=43,125,890 P=37,952,108

14. Salaries and Employee Benefits

This account consists of: 

2007 2006
Salaries and wages P=14,210,062 P=7,279,778
Leave benefits 841,356 146,292
Retirement benefits (Note 15) 672,089 628,236
Social security costs  178,162 107,595
Others 593,853 341,514

P=16,495,522 P=8,503,415

Total salaries and employee benefits are allocated as follows:  

2007 2006
Cost of services P=15,913,970 P=8,203,355
Operating expense 581,552 300,060

P=16,495,522 P=8,503,415

15. Retirement Plan

The Company has an unfunded noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan covering substantially all its officers and regular employees.  Under this 
retirement plan, all covered officers and employees are entitled to cash benefits after satisfying certain age and service requirements. 

The following table shows the actuarial assumptions as of January 1, 2007 and 2006 used in determining the retirement benefit obligation of the Company: 

Actuarial Assumptions 

Date of Actuarial Valuation Report 

Average 
Remaining 

Working Life 
Salary Rate 

Increase 
Discount 

Rate 
Future Pension 

Increases 
January 1, 2007 22 5% 8.13% –
January 1, 2006 20 6% 11.90% –

Discount rates used to arrive at the present value of the obligation as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 are 7.87% and 8.13%, respectively. 

The amount of retirement benefit obligation recognized in the balance sheet is determined as follows: 

2007 2006
Present value of defined benefit obligation P=6,894,295 P=3,667,600
Unrecognized actuarial gains (2,693,015) (138,409)
Retirement benefit obligation P=4,201,280 P=3,529,191

 The amounts included in Salaries and employee benefits (see Note 14) for the years ended  
December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows: 

2007 2006
Current service cost P=373,913 P=224,609
Interest cost 298,176 399,239
Net actuarial losses recognized during the year – 4,388

P=672,089 P=628,236

 The movements in the retirement benefit obligation recognized in the balance sheet follows: 

2007 2006
Balance at beginning of year P=3,529,191 P=2,900,955
Retirement expense 672,089 628,236
Balance at end of year P=4,201,280 P=3,529,191

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows: 

2007 2006
Defined benefit obligation at beginning of year P=3,667,600 P=3,354,947
Interest cost 298,176 399,239
Current service cost 373,913 224,609
Actuarial loss (gain) 2,554,606 (311,195)
Defined benefit obligation at end of year P=6,894,295 P=3,667,600

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the experience adjustments on plan liabilities amounted to P=2,639,738 and (P=373,161), respectively. 

16. Income Taxes

Income taxes include corporate income tax, as discussed below, and final taxes paid at the rate of 20% on gross interest income from cash deposits. 

Republic Act No. 9337, An Act Amending National Internal Revenue Code, provides that the RCIT rate shall be 35.00% until  
January 1, 2009. Starting January 1, 2009, the RCIT rate shall be 30.00%. 

The regulations also impose the MCIT of 2.00% on modified gross income and allow a NOLCO.  The NOLCO and the excess of the MCIT over the RCIT may 
be applied against taxable income and the income tax liability, respectively, over a three-year period from the year of inception. 
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Provision for income tax consists of: 

2007
2006

(As restated)
Current: 

RCIT  P=1,902,805 P=433,781
Final 2,612 3,689

Deferred (99,153) (570,007)
P=1,806,264 (P=132,537)

Components of the deferred tax assets follow: 

2007
2006

(As restated)
Tax effects of: 
 Retirement cost P=1,470,448 P= 1,235,217
 Pre-operating expenses 845,802 1,268,703
 Accrued vacation leave benefits 425,761 131,286
 NOLCO – 7,652

P=2,742,011 P=2,642,858

For tax purposes, pre-operating expenses are to be amortized for a period of five years starting from the date of the Company’s commercial operations until 
2009. 

A reconciliation of the statutory income tax to the effective income tax follows: 

2007 
2006

(As restated)
Statutory income tax P=1,696,222 P=589,659
Tax effects of: 
 Income subjected to final tax (1,958) (374)
 Unrecognized deferred tax assets – (721,822)
 Others 112,000 –
Effective income tax P=1,806,264 (P=132,537)

17. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other 
party in making financial and operating decisions.  Parties are also considered to be related if they are subjected to common control or common significant 
influence.  Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities.   

The Company, in the ordinary course of business, has entered into transactions with related parties principally consisting of reimbursement of expenses and 
advances for working capital purposes. The advances are non-interest bearing and are payable on demand. The transactions and balances of accounts with 
related parties follow: 

   Elements of Transactions 

Nature of Transaction 

Balance Sheet 
Amount 

Statement of Income Amount 

Related Party Relationship 2007 2006 2007 2006
PDSHC  Parent Company Due to related parties P=7,168,311 P=7,288,161 P=– P=–
  Management fee – – – 7,285,897
PDTC Affiliate Due to related parties 1,768,706 2,141,682 – –
PDEx Affiliate Due from a related party 55,801 – – –
  Due to related parties – 869,557 – –

Management Fee 
In 2006, the Parent Company charged the Company a management fee of P=7,285,897 in line with its supervision of the overall operations of the Company.   

Key Management Personnel Compensation
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows: 

2007 2006
Salaries and wages P=7,974,867 P=4,189,010
Retirement benefits 311,330 211,680
Other long-term benefits 389,739 37,080

P=8,675,936 P=4,437,770
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18. Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurement

Shown below are the Company’s assets and liabilities as they appear on the balance sheet, which are divided into financial and nonfinancial items, with the 
financial items being mapped to the categories of financial instruments under PAS 39. 

2007

 Cash 
Loans and

Receivables

Other
Financial

Liabilities

Other 
Non

Financial
Instruments Total

ASSETS 
Cash on hand and in banks P=5,000 P=5,780,424 P=– P=– P=5,785,424
Trade and other receivables – 5,189,835 – – 5,189,835
Due from a related party – 55,801 – – 55,801
Other current assets – – – 4,974,977 4,974,977
Property and equipment – – – 4,714,743 4,714,743
Software development costs – – – 3,373,301 3,373,301
Deferred tax assets – – –   2,742,011 2,742,011
Other non-current assets – 681,116 – – 681,116

Total Assets P=5,000 P=11,707,176 P=– P=15,805,032 P=27,517,208

LIABILITIES 
Accrued expenses and other payables P=– P=– P=3,797,225 P=2,270,148 P=6,067,373
Due to related parties – – 8,937,017 – 8,937,017
Retirement benefit obligation – – – 4,201,280 4,201,280

Total Liabilities P=– P=– P=12,734,242 P=6,471,428 P=19,205,670

2006

Loans and 
Receivables 

Other
Financial
Liabilities

Non
Financial

Instruments Total 
ASSETS 
Cash on hand and in banks P=310,032 P=– P=– P=310,032 
Trade and other receivables 4,459,230 – – 4,459,230 
Other current assets – – 5,205,178 5,205,178 
Property and equipment – – 8,432,194 8,432,194 
Software development costs – – 4,017,640 4,017,640 
Deferred tax assets – – 2,642,858 2,642,858 
Other non-current assets 618,224 – – 618,224 

Total Assets P=5,387,486 – P=20,297,870 P=25,685,356 

LIABILITIES 
Accrued expenses and other payables P=– P=3,262,685 P=3,322,628 P=6,585,313 
Due to related parties – 3,529,191 – 3,529,191 
Retirement benefit obligation – – 10,299,400 10,299,400 

Total Liabilities P=– P=6,791,876 P=13,622,028 P=20,413,904 

Fair Values
The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 approximate their fair values due to the short-term 
nature of these instruments. 

19. Financial Risk and Capital Management Policies and Objectives

Financial Risk
The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk.  The Company’s exposure to interest 
rate risk is minimal as it does not have interest bearing liabilities.  Its interest rate exposure is limited to its interest bearing cash deposits. 

The Company’s risk management is coordinated with its Parent Company, in close cooperation with the Board of Directors, and focuses on actively securing 
the Company’s short-to medium-term cash flows. 

Credit Risk 
Credit risk is the risk that the Company will incur a loss because its participants fail to discharge their contractual obligations.  The Company manages and 
controls credit risk by actively monitoring the size and age of its receivables to avoid significant concentrations in credit exposures. Each client is required to 
submit a Participation Agreement in addition to the constitutive documents before it is admitted as a client. 

In addition, the Company’s clients are availing of the auto-debit facility.  The auto-debit facility is an arrangement whereby the participants authorize the 
Company to automatically debit their designated cash account for the payment of fees based on invoices sent by the Company on the 5th day of the following 
month.  

The table below shows the Company’s gross maximum exposure to credit risk: 

2007 2006 
Cash in banks P=5,780,424 P=310,032 
Trade and other receivables 5,189,835 4,459,230 
Due from a related party 55,801 –

11,026,060 4,769,262 

Cash in banks and trade receivables are considered as high grade assets as these are placements and deposits with top-tier Philippine banks and 
receivables from the Company’s clients which are primarily composed of Philippine banks most of which are under the auto-debit facility arrangement. Due 
from a related party is assessed by management as high grade as this is realized within the normal terms. 

Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to meet its payment obligations as they fall due.  To mitigate this risk, management prepares a 
forecast of the business cash flows for the year.  Constant monitoring and a well-defined billing and collection policy facilitate management of projected 
inflows.  
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To minimize market risks that could adversely affect management of liquidity position, and because the Company is not in the business of trading securities, 
it is management's policy to invest excess cash and cash equivalents in liquid and non-speculative financial instruments, such as term deposits and 
government securities, with tenors that match its funding schedule.  

All financial liabilities of the Company as of December 31, 2007 are payable on demand. 

Foreign Currency Risk 
 The Company’s foreign currency risk exposure arises from the US dollar-denominated monthly maintenance fees paid for the maintenance of the Company’s 

system. The risk is manageable to the extent that the fees are pre-determined both in terms of amount and flows. To manage the adverse impact of changes 
in the foreign currency rates on the fees, the Company may also enter into foreign exchange forward contracts.  As of December 31, 2007, the Company has 
no outstanding payable to the provider. 

Capital Management
The Company’s capital management activities seek to ensure that it maintains a healthy capital ratio in order to support its businesses and maximize 
shareholder value by optimizing the level and mix of its capital resources.  Decisions on the allocation of capital resources are performed as part of the 
strategic planning review.  The Company also manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Company’s objective is to ensure that there are no known events that may trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to the Company, 
including default or acceleration of an obligation.   

The Company monitors capital using debt-to-equity ratio, which is total liabilities divided by total equity.  The Company’s total liabilities include current and 
non-current liabilities.  Equity comprises all components of equity. 

The debt-to-equity ratios as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows: 

2007 2006
Total liabilities P=19,205,670 P=20,413,904 
Total equity 8,311,538 5,271,452 
Debt-to-equity ratio 2.31 3.87 

20. Commitments and Contingencies

The following are the significant commitments and contingencies involving the Company: 

Operating Lease Commitments – Company as Lessee
The Parent Company is a lessee under non-cancellable operating leases covering office and parking spaces for a period of five years.  Monthly rentals are 
apportioned to the Company and other related parties based on the size of the area occupied. 

The future minimum rentals payable for the Company’s office space under these operating leases as of December 31 are as follows:

2007 2006
Within a year P=1,141,233 P=2,314,867
After one year but not more than five years 773,500 6,219,149

P=1,914,733 P=8,534,016

Total rentals from these operating leases amounted to P=2,635,633 in 2007 and P=2,429,076 in 2006, of which  
P=2,033,488 and P=1,874,121 was charged to Cost of services in 2007 and 2006, respectively.  

Rental Deposits 
In connection with the above lease agreements, the Company paid rental deposits amounting to P=681,116 and P=618,224 as of December 31, 2007 and 
2006, respectively, and are presented under Other non-current assets in the balance sheet. 

Others 
In the normal course of business, the Company makes various commitments and has certain contingent liabilities that are not given recognition in the 
accompanying financial statements.  Management believes that losses, if any, that may arise from these commitments and contingencies will not have any 
material effect on the financial statements. 

21. Prior Period Adjustments

The Company’s reported net income in 2006 was restated to reflect correction of prior year’s accounting entries as follows: 

Net income, as previously reported  P=696,115
Adjustments: 

To reverse overstatement of depreciation of property and equipment P=1,049,027 
To adjust rent expense using straight-line 
 method 66,231 
To adjust accrual of expenses 439,686 
To recognize additional provision for income 
 taxes (433,781) 1,121,163

Net income, as restated  P=1,817,278

The Company’s reported retained earnings as of December 31, 2005 was restated to reflect correction of prior year’s accounting entries as follows:   

Retained earnings, as previously reported  P=529,840 
Adjustments: 

To adjust rent expense using straight-line method (P=242,846)  
To reverse overstatement of depreciation of property and equipment 42,180 (200,666)

Retained earnings, as restated  P=329,174 
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For Customer Information:

To facilitate customer inquiries you can email your questions at pdsinquiries@pds.com.ph.

To know more about PDS Group, visit our website at www.pdex.com.ph. 




